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The financial year 2024/2025 was a truly 
transformative year in the history of Mizuho EMEA, 
with the predominant theme of a unified Corporate 
and Investment Banking (“CIB”) franchise driving 
unprecedented integration across European 
jurisdictions and businesses. This multi-faceted 
integration was achieved under the leadership 
of Suneel Bakhshi (President and CEO, Mizuho 
International plc, and CIB Head, EMEA) and Fumiro 
Suzuki (CEO for EMEA), who led in partnership 
to deliver our strategy, while facilitating cultural 
cohesion across the respective franchises. 

During the year we executed a significant 
reorganisation in Europe resulting in the 
creation of a European universal bank called 
Mizuho Bank Europe N.V., effective 5 April 2025, 
through the merger of Mizuho Bank Europe 
N.V. and Mizuho Securities Europe GmbH. This 
reorganisation resulted in a consolidation of 
the European operating footprint from 11 to 4 
offices to optimise client coverage and increase 
cross-border penetration. The organisational 
integration not only strengthened the operating 
model to reflect a true CIB structure but has also 
provided the foundations for a more sustainable 
and profitable regional franchise. Mizuho EMEA 
Corporate Services Ltd., the new London based 
entity consolidating support functions across the 
Bank and Securities entities, has led to improved 
operating efficiency and a unified culture. 

Leveraging the CIB approach, our Banking division 
collaborated seamlessly with coverage teams 
to deliver client-focused financing, risk, and 
advisory solutions. This approach not only drove 
healthy revenue generation for the division but 
also enhanced the return on risk-weighted assets 
across Mizuho’s EMEA footprint.

Group Chair’s Statement

Maureen Erasmus 
Chair and Independent Non-Executive Director

Strategic Report

The Directors of Mizuho 
International plc (the “Company”) 
present the strategic report for the 
year ended 31 March 2025 for the 
Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries – Mizuho Securities 
Europe GmbH and Mizuho EMEA 
Corporate Services Limited 
(together the “Group”).

Throughout FY24/25, the Markets division 
operated in a complex and often volatile macro-
economic environment. The ongoing geopolitical 
tensions contributed to elevated price volatility 
and intermittent risk aversion. Central banks 
across developed markets maintained a cautious 
approach to monetary easing, resulting in a 
repricing of rate expectations and fluctuating 
yields, which challenged positioning and 
risk appetite. In parallel, the Markets division 
contended with consequential election outcomes, 
including the US presidential election, elections 
in the UK and Germany, parliamentary shifts 
in France, and leadership transitions in several 
key emerging markets. These developments 
amplified policy uncertainty—particularly around 
fiscal spending, regulatory direction, and trade 
relations—affecting investor sentiment and cross-
border capital flows. Against this backdrop, our 
Markets division remained focused on active risk 
management and, combined with disciplined 
capital deployment, enabled the business to 
navigate this period of heightened uncertainty 
whilst continuing to support our clients and the 
broader CIB franchise.

Several leadership changes, both executive and 
non-executive, have been undertaken in EMEA. 
Suneel Bakhshi has been appointed to Deputy 
President of Mizuho Financial Group. As part of 
the expatriate leadership rotation on the non-
executive side, Fumiro Suzuki has returned to 
Tokyo and Hiroki Kurakagi has succeeded him 
in the role of EMEA CEO as of 1 April 2025. 
Mr. Kurakagi transitions from our large US CIB 
franchise and will be invaluable to enhance 
cross-regional cohesion. Yutaka Wakabayashi (as 
representative of our parent shareholder) stands 
down after serving on the MHI Board for 4 years 
and effective 1 April 2025, has been succeeded 
by Atsushi Shibuwaka, who has extensive 
experience in the region, most recently having 
led the European integration initiative. We would 
like to thank Mr. Suzuki and Mr. Wakabayashi for 
their contributions to the MHI Board. I would also 
like to acknowledge the significant contribution of 
Suneel Bakhshi, who over the past 6 years has led 
the transition of a narrow Securities franchise to 
a broader CIB business – his leadership style has 
been invaluable to achieve cultural cohesion. 

The foundations of the CIB European franchise  
are well established, and it is incumbent for the 
new leadership to take the regional growth to the 
next phase.

Strategic Report Group Chair’s Statement
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1.  Overview of the Group
The Company is a 100% subsidiary of Mizuho 
Securities Co. Ltd (“MHSC”), which in turn is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Mizuho Financial 
Group (“MHFG”). The Company is authorised 
by the Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) 
and regulated by the PRA and the Financial 
Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and is a member of 
the London Stock Exchange and LCH Limited. 
Mizuho Securities Europe GmbH (“MHEU”) 
is licensed by Germany‘s Bundesanstalt für 
Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (“BaFin”). In April 
2025, MHEU merged with Mizuho Bank Europe 
N.V. (“MBE”), a Dutch entity based in Amsterdam. 
Following the merger, MHEU has returned 
its license to BaFin. Mizuho EMEA Corporate 
Services limited (“MECS”) is a private limited 
company incorporated in England and Wales. 
MECS provides various corporate support services 
to the Group and to Mizuho Bank, London branch. 
The Company additionally has a branch in Dubai, 
which is authorised and regulated by the Dubai 
Financial Services Authority (“DFSA”).

The Group provides a wide range of investment 
banking and securities trading products and 
solutions in the EMEA region in line with MHFG’s 
strategy, and facilitates cross-regional and pan-
global access to financial products and markets 
for its client base.

Mizuho Financial Group is a global financial 
services leader with offices in nearly 40 countries, 
over 52,000 employees, and assets of more than 
£1.4 trillion. MHFG provides integrated solutions 
in retail banking, corporate finance, investment 
banking, asset management, capital markets, and 
sales and trading to its clients.

1.1.  Business Lines and Clients

The Group has one main class of business with 
two underlying business divisions, being the 
Banking Division and the Markets Division:

•	 The Banking Division arranges and underwrites 
new debt issuances for major corporate, 
Financial Institution Group and Financial 
Sponsor clients of Mizuho. It also underwrites 
international equity offerings and convertible 
bonds for Japanese and EMEA corporations, 
provides M&A services to Japanese firms 
targeting EMEA assets, and offers advisory 
services to EMEA clients, with a particular focus 
on energy, infrastructure and Sovereign Wealth 
Fund clients. The acquisition of Greenhill by 
Mizuho Financial Group in 2023, has created 
new opportunities for the Group to partner with 
Greenhill and enhance its service offering; and 

•	 The Markets Division offers a comprehensive 
range of services including sales, trading 
and financing of fixed income securities and 
derivatives for global institutional investors,  
and the sourcing of European-originated 
products for Mizuho’s Japanese clients. The 
division also delivers pan-Asian equity sales, 
research, corporate access and execution 
services for EMEA clients, covering cash 
products, convertible bonds and equity 
derivative products.

2.  Business Strategy and Results

2.1.  Business Strategy

The leadership team remains focused on 
the continued build-out and execution of the 
CIB business model, building on the strong 
foundations established over the past two years. 
The Group plays a central role within the broader 
Mizuho Financial Group, facilitating capital 
flows between Japan and international markets, 
delivering global products and supporting the 
sustainable transition. The Group aims to achieve 
stable profits, enhance returns and improve 
the quality of revenues by fostering deeper, 
differentiated client relationships and prioritising 
allocation of resources towards higher value 
products and solutions.

A key pillar of the strategy is delivery of a 
cohesive product offering across Banking,  
Markets and other Mizuho entities globally,  
and the creation of a single Mizuho EMEA  
identity to serve our clients across franchises 
and entities under a single brand. This approach 
is designed to strengthen our positioning in 
the region and accelerate our ability to support 
clients’ growth strategies. 

Throughout the year a number of initiatives  
were implemented in support of the Group’s 
strategic objectives. For further information  
on these efforts, please refer to Section 3 – 
Strategic Priorities.

2.2.  Business Results

The Group remained profitable during the year, 
supported by healthy revenue generation within 
the Banking division and a positive contribution 
from shared services activities. Markets division 
revenues were lower than the prior year, reflecting 
external market conditions and defensive risk 
positioning as outlined in the summary below.

  2025 2024

  £ millions £ millions

Income from operations 373.4 244.1

 

Administrative expenses & depreciation (367.5) (230.0)

Provision for liabilities (0.1) 0.9

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 5.8 15.0

Tax credit / (charge) on profit on ordinary activities 1.4 (1.5)

Profit for the year 7.2 13.5

2.3.  31 March 2025 Results Summary

Within the Banking division, leveraging synergies from the CIB model and Mizuho’s global franchise 
capabilities, led to an overall upturn in performance. Increased supply in the primary markets also helped 
our Debt Capital Markets franchise, enabling the Group to strengthen its wallet share and improve its 
league table positioning amongst its EMEA competitors. The 2023 acquisition of Greenhill has significantly 
increased Mizuho Financial Group’s advisory capability in EMEA and has led to the creation of ancillary 
business opportunities for the Group. 

Throughout FY24/25, the Markets division operated in an environment characterised by geopolitical 
tensions, policy uncertainty, and macro-economic volatility. Ongoing military conflicts in EMEA, alongside 
major elections in the US, UK, Germany, and other key markets, contributed to price fluctuations, elevated 
risk aversion, policy uncertainty and shifting interest rate expectations. While these conditions led to 
lower revenues compared to the prior year, the division upheld a disciplined approach to risk and capital 
management, allowing it to navigate uncertainty effectively while continuing to support clients and the 
broader CIB franchise. Internal performance metrics—tracking the quality of sales and the breadth of client 
cross-selling—demonstrated improvement, underscoring the positive impact of the CIB model on business 
performance. Corporate derivatives revenues were notably strong, supported by increased activity in 
Sponsored and Project Finance transactions, as well as enhanced trading capabilities. In addition, the 
division continued to expand its Financing business, marked by the establishment of a dedicated CIB 
Structured Financing Group.

The Group also benefited from the recharge of corporate services related costs by MECS to Mizuho Bank, 
London branch, which commenced from this year. The increase in both income and expenses for the Group 
reflects the expanded corporate services activity delivered through MECS.

Despite the backdrop of key strategic change initiatives and associated additional spending, there was 
a continued focus on cost management. The Group continues to maintain vigilant cost control whilst 
navigating through an evolving business environment.

Strategic Report Strategic Report 
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1.	 �Leverage Ratio defined as: Common Equity Tier 1 Capital / Total Exposure Measure
2.	 �Liquidity Coverage Ratio defined as: Liquidity Buffer / Net Liquidity Outflows over a 30 day stress period
3.	 �CET1 Ratio defined as: Common Equity Tier 1 Capital / Total Risk Exposure Amount
4.	 Net Stable Funding Ratio defined as: Available Stable Funding / Required Stable Funding

2.4.  Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

The Group has put in place several initiatives (refer Section 3) to grow revenues and develop cost 
efficiencies going forward. The Group is committed to ensuring that it complies with all relevant  
regulatory requirements at all times and monitors this continuously as part of its prudent capital 
management framework. To effectively assess its core business performance, the Group has  
established the following KPIs:

Inclusion and Diversity Indicators

Mizuho has 5 inclusion 
networks. These comprise  
of Ability, Cultural Diversity, 
Family, Gender Diversity and  
Pride networks.

Our networks ran 30 
events over the last 
12 months.

Mizuho is represented  
by 57 nationalities.  
(Data according to passports). Income from operations

£373.4 m
2024: £244.1 million

+52.9%

Leverage Ratio 1

4.2%
2024: 4.1%

Operating expenses

£367.6 m
2024: £229.1 million

+60.5%

Liquidity Coverage Ratio 2

268.7%
2024: 224.2%

Cost to Income Ratio

98%
2024: 94%

CET1 Ratio 3

20.0%
2024: 22.8%

Net Stable Funding Ratio 4

122.5%
2024: 128.7%

Mizuho Values Awards –  
20 employees awarded.

Strategic Report Strategic Report 
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3.  Strategic Priorities
The Group remains focused on enhancing the 
CIB strategy and footprint, both in terms of its 
business model and operating capabilities. This 
involves deepening client relationships and 
servicing clients across the entire value chain, 
complementing the product perimeter, as well 
as increasing the efficient and effective use 
of the organisational setup. This will facilitate 
optimisation of resources to build more strategic 
partnerships with our clients and benefit from 
providing higher-margin products and services, 
whilst continuing to maintain a strong focus on 
risk control and governance.

3.1.  CIB Strategy and Client Focus

The foundation of the CIB strategy has been set 
via the integration of the Group and Mizuho Bank, 
London branch under the CIB model, involving 
an alignment of the business segments under 
one leadership and a single, defined CIB strategy. 
The strategy is built on the Group’s long-term 
trusted client relationships and focuses on the 
provision of financing, risk and advisory solutions 
across the entire value chain. Emphasis lies on 
leveraging Banking and Markets synergies and 
thereby providing a seamless product offering and 
client experience. The build-out of complementary 
financing and ancillary businesses represents 
an important cornerstone for the enhanced 
CIB model. As part of the wider Mizuho Group 
strategy, the Group also plays a central role in the 
distribution of global products.

A number of integration initiatives have facilitated 
the enhanced service provision to support our 
clients’ growth strategies.

3.2.  Build-out of the Shared Services Entity model

The establishment of the shared services entity, 
MECS, consolidated the corporate functions for 
the Group and Mizuho Bank, London Branch. 
This initiative was driven by the need to further 
integrate cultures and create an entity-agnostic 
model for servicing the region’s clients. Going 
forward, the focus will be on enhancing the 
service model and further integrating processes, 
including those of the EU universal bank, enabling 
an optimised organisational setup and more 
efficient resource allocation.

3.3.  Optimisation of the target operating model for the 
Universal Bank in the EU

The new universal bank in the EU was 
successfully established in April 2025, resulting in 
a streamlined and unified organisational structure 
across the continent.

Looking ahead, the focus will be on the continued 
enhancement of the operating model in the 
region, with the objective of further strengthening 
the Group’s client service offering in EMEA. Key 
initiatives will include alignment of infrastructure 
and technology platforms across the Group and 
Mizuho Bank entities in the region supporting 
a more integrated delivery of Mizuho Financial 
Group’s strategy.

4.  Principal Risks and Uncertainties
As an international investment banking and 
securities markets business, the Group is 
affected by a range of risk factors. The Group’s 
risk management framework comprises risk 
identification, quantification, control and risk 
monitoring and reporting processes designed to 
achieve effective management in line with the 
Group’s risk appetite statement through a top-
down delegation of authority.

4.1.  Uncertain geopolitical and macro-economic outlook 

Global geopolitical risk remains elevated, with 
ongoing conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East 
continuing to contribute to market volatility, 
disrupt trade flows, and impact asset valuations. 
In parallel, a renewed focus on trade policies has 
raised the prospect of trade disputes and supply 
chain disruptions. These developments pose 
risks to capital and trade flows and heighten the 
potential for global fragmentation.

While inflationary pressures have moderated 
across most major economies, inflation trends 
have been uneven and unpredictable. This 
volatility continues to challenge central banks in 
determining the appropriate path for monetary 
policy. The global economic outlook remains 
uncertain, and businesses must remain agile and 
responsive to evolving geopolitical and macro-
economic conditions.

Strategic Report Strategic Report 
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4.4.  Business Transition Risk

In FY24/25, MECS successfully commenced 
operations, providing corporate function services 
to the Group and to Mizuho Bank. In April 2025, 
the Company also sold its investment in MHEU 
following which MHEU was successfully merged 
with MBE to create a Universal Bank in the EU. 
As the CIB integration continues in the region, 
the Group is now aligning its technology stack to 
enable more standardised business connectivity 
and facilitate faster straight-through-processing 
of transactions. These planned changes, to 
be implemented over the coming years, carry 
associated transition and operational risks. The 
Group has established appropriate governance 
structures to proactively monitor and manage 
these changes.

4.5.  Regulatory risk

The volume and pace of regulatory change 
across the global financial services industry 
remains significant, continuing to shape the 
Group’s business activities and operating 
environment. Political developments are a key 
driver of regulatory direction, with newly installed 
administrations in the UK and US, expected 
to influence the broader regulatory landscape. 
Diverging regional approaches to financial 
regulation—particularly in areas such as capital 
requirements and Environmental, Social & 
Governance (“ESG”) disclosure—present  
ongoing challenges for cross-border alignment 
and compliance.

Sanctions regimes have continued to evolve, 
particularly in response to the ongoing conflicts 
in Ukraine and the Middle East. These measures 
increase both the complexity and cost of 
compliance, reinforcing the need for robust 
systems and controls to manage reputational  
and operational risks. 

In September 2024, the PRA published the  
“near final” rules on Basel 3.1, although 
implementation of these has now been  
delayed until 1 January 2027.

Evolving cyber security expectations from the 
regulators, including recent regulatory guidance 
emphasising the importance of operational 
resilience in the face of cyber threats, require 
ongoing investment in data protection and cyber 
resilience measures. The increasing adoption of 
Artificial Intelligence (“AI”) across various spheres 
of business activity also introduces new risks that 
require appropriate monitoring. The FCA, PRA and 
the Bank of England recently published papers 
outlining their strategic approaches to regulating 
AI within the financial services sector.

In this environment, the Group continues to 
deploy a comprehensive set of tools to monitor 
and assess the impact of these risks on its 
operations. Risk mitigation remains a core 
priority, with an emphasis on active inventory 
management and the strategic use of hedging 
instruments to manage downside exposure.  
The Group remains committed to maintaining  
a resilient risk framework and supporting  
clients with stability and confidence during 
periods of uncertainty.

4.2.  Climate and Sustainability 

The global transition towards a sustainable 
and low-carbon economy, driven by the 
increasing impact of climate change and broader 
sustainability challenges, presents both risks and 
evolving opportunities for the Group. In the face 
of constantly changing stakeholder and regulatory 
expectations, identifying and managing these 
factors remains a critical priority for the Group 
and requires a proactive and integrated risk 
management approach. 

The Group continues to make progress in 
managing climate-related risks and opportunities 
as part of a broader range of sustainability 
initiatives. This is done under appropriate Board 
oversight and through integration of climate 
risk within the Group’s overall risk management 
framework. More details on this are available in 
Section 5.

4.3.  IT and Cyber Risk

In today’s interconnected and data driven 
environment, businesses, including the Group, 
operate in an increasingly hostile cyber risk 
environment. The increasing sophistication 
and frequency of cyber threats require constant 
vigilance and proactive management. Risk 
control mechanisms such as security monitoring 
and incident response, security testing, access 
segregation, vulnerability management and 
network security are fundamental focus areas that 
help protect the Group’s assets and infrastructure 
and enable it to continue operating in a seamless 
manner and mitigate cyber security-related risk.

Finally, as highlighted in the Climate and 
Sustainability section above, the regulatory 
landscape for climate-related disclosures and risk 
management continues to rapidly advance. The 
PRA and FCA have significant expectations on 
firms to embed climate considerations into their 
governance and risk management frameworks. 
Greenwashing is another closely scrutinised area 
with the FCA introducing the Anti-Greenwashing 
rule which came into effect from 31 May 2024, and 
applies to all FCA authorised firms.

In response to these principal and other risks, 
the Group is committed to maintaining a 
strong culture of compliance with regulatory 
requirements, and proactive management of 
its risks. The Group maintains an open and 
constructive dialogue with its regulators to 
understand and manage their expectations. 
Comprehensive risk management policies and 
procedures are in place to ensure adherence  
to all applicable regulations, and these are 
reviewed and updated regularly to reflect changes 
in the regulatory landscape. Staff are regularly 
trained on relevant regulatory requirements to 
ensure adherence to regulations. More details 
about the Group’s principal risks and its risk 
management framework can be found in the  
Risk Review section.

5.  Environmental, Social & 
Governance (“ESG”) Update

5.1.  Introduction 

MHFG has committed to align its business with 
the aims of the Paris Agreement and to become 
net zero by 2050. To this end, MHFG has in place a 
JPY100tr (GBP 517.7bn) sustainable finance target 
(FY2019-2030), and sustainability remains one of 
the central pillars of MHFG’s strategic direction, 
supported by actions taken over the course of 
FY24/25. Among these, MHFG has: 

•	 Pledged to provide JPY 2tr (GBP 10.35bn)  
in funding for production and supply of 
hydrogen and related technologies by 2030;

•	 Issued a EUR 500m Green Bond in  
continuation of the programme of  
Sustainable Finance Issuance;

•	 Set medium-term financed emissions targets for 
Steel and Real Estate sectors, and expanded Oil 
and Gas sector targets;

•	 Initiated a trial on the disclosure of facilitated 
emissions for Electric Power, Oil and Gas, and 
Coal sectors;

Strategic Report Strategic Report 
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•	 Published the first Climate and Nature-related 
Report (previously Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures Report);

•	 Expanded the scope of the Environmental 
and Social Management Policy for Financing 
and Investment Activity, with enhanced due 
diligence introduced for sectors with high 
nature-related risks (Woody Biomass Power 
Generation, Metallurgic Mining, and Fisheries 
and Aquaculture); 

•	 Formed a strategic partnership with Pollination 
Group, with the aim of supporting our clients’ 
climate and nature transition strategies; 

•	 Been an active participant in the Loan Markets 
Association’s Transition Loan Task Force, 
working to create new guidance for the issuance 
of transition loans;

•	 Been selected to join the International Capital 
Market Association Advisory Council of the 
Executive Committee for the Green Bond 
Principles, the Social Bond Principles, the 
Sustainability Bond Guidelines and the 
Sustainability-Linked Bond Principles for the 
second consecutive year;

•	 Entered into a collaborative agreement with 
the London Stock Exchange Group to support 
growth in the carbon credit market;

•	 Made an investment in Zap Energy, a US 
company developing nuclear fusion power and 
related technology.

Sustainability is embedded within MHFG’s 
strategic planning, risk management and business 
priorities, and features centrally within its 
Corporate Philosophy and Purpose, both of which 
apply to Mizuho entities globally and as such 
also inform how the Group operates in EMEA. 
The Corporate Philosophy and Purpose clearly 
emphasise the importance of sustainability for the 
progress and longevity of both our organisation 
and society. As a result, our business teams are 
further empowered to support our clients in their 
respective business transformations, while work 
continues on driving sustainable change within 
our own operations.

With ‘Sustainability and Innovation’ being one 
of the pillars of MHFG’s current medium-term 
business plan, steady progress continues to be 
made towards MHFG’s JPY100tr by FY2030 (GBP 
517.7bn) sustainable finance target. To support 
its clients on their respective transition paths, 
MHFG follows an engagement-based approach 
through constructive dialogue. The transformation 
of businesses and entire industries presents a 
range of transition finance opportunities, which 
MHFG companies including the Group continue to 
actively pursue.

Developments within the Group

In line with MHFG’s positioning on sustainability, 
a broad range of sustainability initiatives have 
been implemented at the Group in FY24/25 
through effective cross-functional collaboration. 
An overarching sustainability strategy has been 
developed that aligns with MHFG’s strategic 
direction, the regional context in EMEA, and local 
regulatory expectations. The Group’s approach 
to climate-related risks and opportunities rests 
on embedding their management within existing 
governance processes, considering how climate-
related risks impact other risk areas, and how 
opportunities contribute to the broader  
business strategy. 

The governance of sustainability matters has 
also evolved within the Group, now formally 
integrated into Board-level committee governance 
through the MHI Board Risk and Sustainability 
Committee (previously the MHI Board Risk 
Committee). The Group’s Board of Directors and 
Executive Committee receive regular updates 
on climate risk, sustainable finance, regulatory 
developments, and other sustainability-related 
matters of importance, allowing them to make 
informed decisions in relation to the identification, 
assessment and management of climate-related 
risks and opportunities. The Senior Management 
Function responsibility for the financial risks 
arising from climate change rests with the Group’s 
CEO. The Risk Management function assesses the 
transition risk profile of the Group’s exposures, 
presenting these to the Risk Management 
Committee for consideration. Meanwhile, the 
Group recognises climate change presents both 
risks and commercial opportunities that are 
considered in the Mizuho EMEA Business Strategy 
and presented to the Executive Committee. 

The Group has conducted a major employee 
sustainability upskilling programme in FY24/25 
covering climate change, sustainable finance, 
climate risk management and other pertinent 
topics. Leadership teams from Mizuho EMEA, 
including the Group, have also taken part in 
customised sustainable finance learning and 
development activities. In total, more than 400 
employees have completed either Foundational or 
Intermediate level sustainability upskilling, as at 
the end of the year, strengthening their ability to 
manage climate-related risks and opportunities for 
the Group. Going forward, sustainability upskilling 
will continue in a more focused and tailored 
manner. Among other enablers of the delivery of 
the sustainability strategy, on an operational level, 
ESG Data and IT workstreams were established 
in FY24/25 to streamline and centralise relevant 
supporting activities.

2006

•	 �Signed up to the United 
Nations Environmental 
Programme Finance 
Initiative (UNEP FI)

2019

•	 �Signatory to the United 
Nations Principles for 
Responsible Banking 
(UN PRB)

•	 �Set Sustainable Finance 
target of JPY 25tr by 
FY30 (JPY 12tr of which is 
Environmental)

•	 �Established MHI 
Environmental and  
Climate Risk Policy

2021

•	 �First Japanese Bank 
to join the Partnership 
for Carbon Accounting 
Financials (PCAF)

•	 �Quadrupled Sustainable Finance target to JPY 100tr 
(JPY 50tr of which is Environmental and Climate  
Change-related)

•	 �Set medium-term financed emissions targets for the 
Automotive sector and Maritime Transport 

•	 �Sustainability Risk Management Office and Basic Policy 
on Climate-related Risk Management established 

•	 �Strengthened the Social and Environmental Risk 
verification process

•	 �Registered as an Early Adopter of the TNFD

•	 MHI obtained EcoVadis rating

2024

•	 �Set medium-term financed emissions targets for Steel and 
Real Estate, expanded scope of Oil & Gas sector targets

•	 �Disclosed facilitated emissions for Power, Oil & Gas and Coal

•	 �New target to provide JPY 2tr in funding for production and 
supply of hydrogen and related technologies by 2030

•	 �Expanded enhanced due diligence under the Environmental 
and Social Management Policy For Financing and Investment 
to cover three new sectors

•	 �Publication of Climate and Nature-related Report (previously 
TCFD Report)

2022

•	 �Appointed a Group Chief 
Sustainability Officer  
(Group CSuO)

•	 �Endorsed the Principles of the 
Taskforce on Nature-related 
Financial Disclosures (TNFD) 
and joined the TNFD Forum

•	 �First Japanese financial 
institution to publish a 
Human Rights Report

•	 �Sustainable Business 
Promotion Department and 
Sustainability Planning 
Department established

•	 �MHI joined Sustainable 
Trading, a non-profit  
industry association

•	 �Set target to be carbon 
neutral for Scope 1 and 2 
GHG emissions by FY30

•	 �Developed a framework 
to assess the credibility 
and transparency of client 
transition strategies

•	 �Disclosed financed emissions 
for 19 sectors and set 
medium-term financed 
emissions targets for Electric 
Power, Oil and Gas, and 
Thermal Coal Mining

2018

•	 �First major Japanese 
bank to report as 
per the Taskforce 
on Climate-
related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) 
Recommendations

•	 �Established MHI 
Policy on Specific 
Industrial Sectors

•	 �First Japanese bank to adopt 
the Equator Principles

Sustainability Timeline •	 MHFG initiatives

•	 MHI initiatives
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In FY24/25, the Group underwent external 
sustainability reassessment with EcoVadis, 
covering four thematic areas – Environment, 
Labour and Human Rights, Ethics, and 
Sustainable Procurement – gaining a Committed 
badge. The Group also gained ISO14001 
recertification, with plans to set new Scope 
1 and 2, as well as Scope 3 business travel 
reduction targets. In cross-regional collaboration, 
employees from the Group, alongside other 
Mizuho EMEA entities, participated in the Mizuho 
Sustainability Transformation Project, contributing 
to the Environmental employee-led working 
group to develop initiatives to reduce MHFG’s 
operational carbon footprint.

5.2.  Sustainable Finance

The Group’s sustainability strategy is aligned  
with MHFG’s strategic planning, and as such 
is based on engagement and supporting 
our clients in their respective transitions, 
while acknowledging regional and sectoral 
idiosyncrasies. In line with our CIB business 
model, we continue to provide sustainable  
finance solutions to our clients in the EMEA 
region across Debt and Loan Capital Markets. 

The Group remains a trusted partner to clients 
across EMEA, working on a wide range of 
Sustainable Finance transactions over the course 
of FY24/25. Mizuho’s activities in EMEA, including 
the Group’s sustainable finance business, 
contribute to MHFG’s sustainable finance  
target of JPY100tr between FY2019 and FY2030. 
This year’s notable bond deal highlights for the  
Group include:

•	 Active Bookrunner for a dual-tranche USD1.25bn 
5-year and USD750m 10-year Sustainability-
Linked Bond transaction for an Italian utility 
company, which is one of the market leaders in 
this product. The transaction represented the 
5th active Sustainability-Linked Bond mandate 
for Mizuho from the issuer.

•	 Active Bookrunner for a EUR700m 12-year and 
GBP600m 30-year Green Bond transaction from 
a Japanese transportation Company, with the 
GBP tranche representing the issuer’s first GBP 
Green Bond.

•	 Active Bookrunner for a EUR850m Social Bond 
transaction for a German real estate company, 
with proceeds directed towards affordable and 
low-barrier housing in line with their framework. 
The client is a frequent issuer of social bonds 
and one of the largest European corporate 
issuers of the product.

5.3.  Strategic Climate Risk

Both MHFG and the Group remain focused on 
strategic management of climate-related risks 
and opportunities. To support this focus, MHFG 
has set targets for reducing financed emissions 
from carbon-intensive sectors, covering Electric 
Power, Oil and Gas, Coal Mining (Thermal Coal), 
Automotive, Maritime Transport, Steel and Real 
Estate sectors (with the latter two added in 
FY24/25). MHFG has now completed initial Scope 
3 financed emissions target setting by sector as 
intended. For the purposes of controlling risks 
in carbon-related sectors, MHFG maintains and 
follows a system of identification and monitoring 
of high-risk areas through evaluation of clients’ 
sectors and their respective transition strategies 
as well as responses to transition risks. 

The Group adopts a proportionate approach to 
climate-related risks, in line with our business 
model and the scale and complexity of our 
activities. Risk management practices have been 
enhanced further over the course of FY24/25 – in 
keeping with evolving market practice, growing 
sophistication of climate and carbon-related 
methodologies, and better ESG data availability. 

A review of the qualitative ESG risk materiality 
assessment was conducted by the Group in 
FY24/25, as part of the Mizuho EMEA ESG risk 
materiality assessment, covering the full spectrum 
of ESG risks (including climate change-related), 
different timeframes, as well as all traditional 
risk types. In light of the Group’s business model 
and portfolio, most ESG risks emerged as having 
negligible or limited materiality for the Group. 
Among these, all climate-related risks across 
transition and physical risk are perceived to have 
a greater (yet still limited) impact on a long-term 
timeframe than in the short and medium term.

Emanating from the medium-term MHFG 
sustainable finance targets, there are local 
annual targets in place for sustainability-related 
opportunities in EMEA (for instance, climate-
related opportunities in the renewable energy 
sector). Climate-related risk exposures are subject 
to monitoring and remain low in the context of the 
Group’s portfolio (please refer to the Risk Review 
Section for more detail), with development of 
climate-related risk metrics in progress. The 
Group also has targets in place associated with 
sustainability upskilling and capability building, 
regarded as important enablers of change.
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5.4.  Our People & Culture

The success and reputation of the Group is 
driven by the commitment, engagement and 
integrity of our people. We recognise that people 
are our most important asset, and as such 
employee wellbeing and embedding an inclusive 
culture where everyone can thrive and be their 
authentic selves, is at the heart of all we do. This 
is supported by the Group’s values of Integrity, 
Passion, Agility, Creativity and Empathy, which  
are embedded in the performance evaluation  
and reward structure.

Our People strategy is delivered through a 
number of key levers: talent attraction and 
assessment, learning and development, a  
reward strategy incentivising the delivery of 
our growth strategy and meeting changing 
regulations, and a culture of inclusivity, diversity 
and equity. In line with MHFG’s corporate 
philosophy, we aim to operate responsibly  
whilst enabling our people to flourish.

The Group defines its culture based on the 
core value from Mizuho Financial Group as 
“be a catalyst for change” and the following 
arrangements and initiatives support this culture. 

5.4.1.  Top – Down Approach

Senior commitment to Inclusion & Diversity

The Board and Executive Committee remain fully 
committed to the Group’s inclusion and diversity 
agenda and receive regular updates on our 
progress including in relation to gender. Executive 
Committee members continue to have objectives 
set by the Board which hold them accountable for 
achievements towards internal targets. Our head 
office in Tokyo also has its own targets in relation 
to gender balance.

Women in Finance Charter

We are proud of our status as one of the founding 
signatories of the Women in Finance Charter 
which was formed in 2016. We remain committed 
to increasing the number of senior management 
roles being held by women and we have a 
number of initiatives to attract, support and retain 
female as well as other minority groups. We 
continue to focus on reaching a gender ratio of 
33% senior females in the Group and have various 
strategies in place to support this target.

5.4.2.  Talent Attraction 

One of our key focuses is strengthening our 
junior talent pipeline. FY24/25 saw us attract a 
record number of applications to join our Summer 
Internship programme in the summer of 2025.  
We are looking forward to welcoming 45 interns 
to offices across the EMEA region later this year.

5.4.3.  Development, Support and Retention – Creating a 
supportive and inclusive workplace

We are making great strides in embedding a 
culture of equity and inclusiveness and recognise 
the role this has to play in achieving a truly 
inclusive and diverse culture. Focusing on 
Diversity, Equity & Inclusion is not an end goal, 
but a means to a more inclusive, more just and 
more effective workplace. We recognise our 
people want to work in an environment where 
their ideas and voices are heard. The following 
initiatives illustrate how we seek to deliver a 
meaningful commitment on this agenda.

Employee Networks

Our Inclusion Network is comprised of five EMEA 
wide networks of Cultural Diversity, Family, Ability 
(encompasses disability and neurodiversity), 
Gender and Pride. Collaboration across the 
networks allows us to take an intersectional 
approach to inclusion to drive real culture change. 
Our Inclusion Network supports our employees 
to create connections across the business, 
highlighting role models and establishing a 
culture where all our employees feel able to bring 
their authentic selves to work. These employee 
resource groups play a central role in informing 
our policy and ensuring the needs of our people 
are better understood. The networks continue 
to play a vital link in creating and maintaining 
connections across the organisation in the post-
pandemic hybrid working environment. 
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Flexible Working

We continue to further embed our supportive and 
inclusive workplace culture which is supplemented 
by a range of competitive family-friendly policies 
and the promotion of flexible working. We 
support hybrid working practices with elements 
of homeworking where appropriate, along with 
the option of utilising our core hours policy. This 
policy allows employees flexibility in how they 
manage their working hours. The move to flexible 
working no longer being solely associated with 
primary carers and mothers is a critical one, and 
the ability to capitalise on agile working solutions 
enables us to unlock increases in innovation, 
engagement and productivity.

Menopause

We have continued our focus and commitment 
to supporting our staff who are impacted by the 
menopause. Our company frameworks include 
menopause as a way of life, and the provision 
of bespoke support for our employees and their 
partners around menopause. This focus supports 
all our employees to have fulfilling roles at every 
stage of their careers and aims to ensure we 
retain our key talent.

My Family Care

We are pleased to continue partnering with 
My Family Care to offer a range of benefits to 
our employees including six free sessions of 
emergency back-up care for children, adults 
or the elderly. By providing this support to all 
employees, we enable them to better balance 
work and family life and remove some of the 
pressures associated with modern life.

Talent Development and Mentoring

We encourage career growth and development at 
Mizuho. To support our talent pipelining activities, 
we run a number of leadership development 
courses. One of our flagship programmes is 
called “Elevate” and is aimed at women in middle 
management roles across the EMEA region. It 
is aimed at women who are looking to develop 
their skills, enhance their internal profiles and 
work on specific development goals, with the aim 
of supporting their career ambitions. Nurturing 
our female talent through programmes such as 
this ensures we are building a strong pipeline 
of women into senior management roles. This 
in turn means we have role models for the next 
generation. In FY24/25, we enhanced the firm’s 
mentoring programme with the introduction of 
a digital mentoring platform, ensuring greater 
accessibility to our people.

Internal Mobility

We believe that internal mobility facilitates 
personal growth and career development by 
enabling employees to acquire new skills, take 
on diverse challenges, and progress within 
their chosen career paths, leading to a more 
fulfilling and dynamic professional journey. 
To support our internal mobility, we host two 
Career Development roadshows a year sharing 
information about current internal vacancies. 
Additionally, we also offer a Temporary 
Secondment programme which enables our 
people to spend time with a different department 
of their choosing to broaden their skill sets and 
business exposure.

Wellbeing

The wellbeing of our employees remains our 
number one priority, and our comprehensive 
wellbeing programme has enabled us to support 
our employees through continued turbulent times. 
We continue to run mental health awareness 
sessions in partnership with specialist provider 
Mental Health at Work for all employees and we 
also provide a Mental Health Allies programme 
of professionally trained employees as part 
of our initiatives to embed a supportive and 
inclusive culture. We review our wellbeing policies 
periodically to ensure that we continue to have the 
right tools at our disposal to support employees. 

5.4.4.  Social Contribution initiatives 

Charity Partnership

The Group extends its commitment to equality, 
inclusion and diversity to the communities in 
which it operates, through its social contribution 
initiatives, including, amongst others, working 
with an employee elected One Mizuho charity 
partner. Since 2023, we have been partnering 
with a charity organisation called Little Village, 
a charity that was formed in 2016. They provide 
much needed support to families with babies 
and children under the age of five by providing 
essential items. The dedication and hard work 
of Little Village is fuelled by the belief that every 
child deserves a good childhood, and the desire 
all parents have to give their children the best 
possible start in life. Unfortunately, with the 
current cost of living crisis there is an ever-growing 
demand for their help and support. The Group 
is committed to developing a partnership with 
Little Village which involves multiple touchpoints 
and engagement, including but not restricted to: 
Volunteering, Fundraising, Office-based donation 
drives, Mizuho business expertise support, Event 
space, Networking, and Communications. 

Socio-Economic Diversity data

Following on from our participation in a UK 
Government taskforce to boost socio-economic 
diversity, we continue to show our deep 
commitment to ensuring that we uphold our core 
values. This means we continuously strive to 
create an inclusive work environment and culture 
designed to fully support our people. Through  
our membership with the industry group  
‘Progress Together’, we continue to collect data to 
help us understand the levels of social mobility 
across the Group and use this knowledge to 
inform and develop our Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion strategy. 

Race at Work Charter

We continue to be signatories of the Race 
at Work Charter. The Group remains fully 
committed to the journey of building a more 
representative workforce which embeds a culture 
of inclusiveness. 

5.5.  Modern Slavery and Procurement

The Group has a zero-tolerance approach to 
slavery and human trafficking and is committed 
to acting ethically and with integrity in all its 
business dealings and relationships. The Group 
has an Anti-Slavery and Modern Slavery Policy to 
which all employees must adhere.

The Group invests in learning and development 
for all of its employees, including contractors, to 
ensure adherence to the Modern Slavery Policy. 
The Group conducts due diligence in relation to 
suppliers to ascertain that appropriate responses 
have been received from all of its suppliers to 
related questionnaires sent to them by the Group.

The procurement of all goods and services is 
assessed for ESG Risks within Mizuho. The pillars 
that are assessed include:

•	 Environment
•	 Labour & Human Rights
•	 Ethics
•	 Sustainability

Modern Slavery due diligence is covered and 
prioritised within both labour and human rights 
and supplier social practices within sustainability. 
The Group uses a third party provider to carry out 
risk assessments and risk review of our suppliers 
as well as ongoing monitoring via ‘360 degree live 
news feeds’. Supplier scorecards, thresholds and 
improvement areas are prioritised with suppliers 
via our third party management forum.

We have increased our monitoring of suppliers 
for ESG risk and use a ‘Best in Class’ utility risk 
platform and analyst service to drive excellence 
throughout our supply chain.

5.6.  Financial Crime

5.6.1.  Anti-Corruption and Anti-bribery 

The Group is committed to carrying out business 
with the highest standards of integrity and fair 
dealing, and without the use of corrupt practices 
or acts of bribery to obtain an unfair advantage. 
The Group has an Anti-Bribery Policy, which  
sets out the policy and key controls implemented 
by the Group which include management 
oversight, individual’s responsibilities, the  
conduct of risk assessments, and specific 
procedures in relation to gifts, hospitality, 
facilitation payments, use of business partners/
intermediaries and procurement. 

Training and guidance in relation to this policy 
have been provided to employees. Employees are 
required to report any suspicions of bribery to the 
Compliance Department.

5.6.2.  Anti-money laundering and  
counter-terrorist financing 

The Group’s Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) 
Policy is designed to ensure that the Group 
complies with the requirements and obligations 
set out in UK, EU and applicable local legislation, 
regulations, rules and industry guidance for the 
financial services sector, including the need to 
have adequate systems and controls in place to 
mitigate the risk that the Group may be used to 
facilitate financial crime.

The AML Policy sets out the minimum standards 
which must be complied with across the Group, 
including with regard to governance, training, risk 
assessment, customer due diligence, monitoring 
and screening, reporting and record keeping.
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Who are our 
stakeholders?

Why do we focus on these 
stakeholders? How do we engage with them?

O
ur
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nt
s

Our clients are 
Corporate, Financial 
Institutions and 
Institutional Investors 
across Japan and EMEA 
who come to us for 
our expertise, financial 
products and solutions.

See Section 1.1 – 
Business Lines & 
Clients.

Our clients are at the centre of 
everything we do and are essential 
to the success of our business. We 
are focused on providing the right 
products and services to our clients 
and supporting them in achieving 
their financial objectives.

We engage with our clients in a variety 
of ways, focusing on existing and new 
relationships for the larger Mizuho  
network globally.

We have a dedicated sales team and 
relationship managers for this purpose and 
supplement this coverage with investor 
roadshows and conferences held globally.

O
ur

 P
eo
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e

Our people prioritise 
the client experience 
by ensuring that they 
have a strategic focus 
on understanding and 
exceeding customer 
expectations across all 
touchpoints. Integrity, 
commitment and hard 
work underpin a client-
centric mindset and 
a proactive problem-
solving approach. Our 
people are our brand 
ambassadors.

Our people are our greatest asset 
and are crucial to our success. We 
foster their development through 
an inclusive and collaborative 
work environment that encourages 
personal growth.

We have a well-established method 
for engaging with our employees and 
gathering their insights through our 
bi-annual global employee engagement 
survey. These results guide some of our 
decision-making processes, benchmark our 
leaders, and are shared at the Executive 
Committee and Board level.

Our leaders frequently communicate 
information on strategy, performance, 
and business outlook through town halls 
and webinars, both in person and with 
remote attendance options. This fosters a 
transparent, two-way dialogue between 
management and employees, empowering 
them to share ideas and suggestions. 
We also utilise digital communication 
channels such as emails and intranet 
announcements.

At Mizuho we have five active inclusion 
networks that support building an inclusive 
and diverse work culture.

See Section 5.4 Our People & Culture.
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Third parties who 
supply us with goods 
and services as well as 
financial intermediaries, 
contractors and 
consultants.

Our suppliers are vital in ensuring 
a reliable service is delivered to the 
Group’s customers. The Group’s 
third party strategy is determined 
by the Board in light of our overall 
business strategy and objectives.

We focus on building a relationship 
with our suppliers that is built 
on trust and transparency and 
promotes a responsible and 
sustainable supply chain. 

We have a Third Party Risk Management 
Policy and a Procurement Policy which 
ensures appropriate engagement, 
governance and control through the life 
cycle of the relationship with our suppliers.

These policies also include a focus on 
societal impact to ensure we are engaging 
with suppliers who share our principles  
and values.

What do they tell us? How do we respond?

We receive feedback from our clients in the form of league 
table results and through our engagement with industry 
research and surveys to uphold our strategy for data-driven 
and market-led decision making.

Our clients value our expertise and the role we play in 
connecting them to global markets, and particularly Japan/
Asia. They leverage our expertise to seek more value-added 
solutions and products to meet their evolving demands.

The Board and its Directors receive regular updates on 
client matters via briefings and reports from the Group’s 
senior management, which informs our decision making. 
We respond to our clients by adjusting our strategy to offer 
relevant products and solutions that meet their needs. The 
EMEA CIB model enables us to provide integrated coverage 
to our clients in a more consistent and aligned manner.

See Section 3 – Strategic Priorities.

A recent engagement survey reported employees’ pride 
for Mizuho’s strong brand reputation and market presence 
within the industry. Colleagues noted appreciation for job 
stability and longevity in the market as well as competitive 
employee benefits.

Employees believe that work processes could be improved 
in order to enhance productivity and they would prefer to 
continue with a flexible hybrid working model to support the 
work-life balance and to efficiently manage workloads. 

Survey themes, comments and metrics are reviewed in 
detail at an Executive Committee level, and where possible, 
improvements are implemented.

As the CIB business model evolves, particularly in regards to 
the integration of the governance model across the entities 
in London, employee survey feedback is incorporated into 
the decision-making.

Our Board also takes an active interest in our people in 
terms of their engagement, wellbeing and development. 
Board members regularly attend employee town hall  
events and receive staff updates through regular formal  
HR briefings. Our Board uses this feedback to inform 
decision-making.

Our suppliers continue to engage with us and keep an 
ongoing dialogue to develop partnerships further.

We continue our dialogue with suppliers in accordance  
with the Group’s Third Party Risk Management Policy.  
The dialogue is ongoing in order to continually monitor  
that the business and ethical standards of suppliers align 
with our own.

6.  Section 172 Statement
The Board and its Directors recognise that the long-term success of our business is dependent on the 
way it interacts with its stakeholders. The below table sets out how key stakeholders’ considerations are 
addressed by the Group.
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Who are our 
stakeholders?

Why do we focus on these 
stakeholders? How do we engage with them?
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Our communities are 
defined as the local and 
global societies in which 
we operate.

A long-term / sustainable business 
model requires us to recognise 
the many global challenges facing 
individuals, our communities, our 
environment and to support our 
clients on their transition towards a 
low-carbon future.

Locally, we interact with the City of London 
and have registered for workers votes 
in the City to make contributions to the 
decision making in our local community. 
We are also a member of ‘Progress 
Together’, focused on the journey to 
improve socio-economic diversity at  
senior levels in UK financial and 
professional services.

We work with local not-for-profit 
organisations and charity partners to make 
a difference to local communities, through 
skills-based and hands-on activities, and 
continue to seek to raise their profile in the 
Square Mile through local events.

On a larger scale, we are committed to 
supporting our clients’ transition towards 
a low-carbon economy, and engage with 
clients on this topic across business lines.

See Section 5. Environmental, Social & 
Governance (“ESG”) Update.
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Our sole shareholder is 
the parent, MHSC.

We need to deliver a long-term 
sustainable business model that 
delivers shareholder value.

Our shareholder is engaged through 
representation at our Board and the wider 
governance structure as well as regular 
informal and formal communication with 
counterparts at MHSC.

See Directors’ Report Section 5 –  
Corporate Governance.
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The UK, EMEA and 
Japanese regulatory 
authorities.

We need to deliver a long-term 
sustainable business model that is 
compliant with current regulations 
and contributes successfully to the 
UK and European financial systems. 
We need to ensure that we are 
able to operate in a safe and sound 
manner, and with full regard to 
the protection of investors and the 
integrity of the markets we operate 
in, whilst continuing to provide a 
wide range of financial services.

There is an open and transparent  
dialogue with the regulators ensuring  
we meet all prudential and conduct  
based regulatory standards.

The Head of Legal & Compliance attends 
Board Meetings to ensure that Board 
decisions recognise the regulatory impact 
and environment.

What do they tell us? How do we respond?

Our communities in the Square Mile and across London 
need the support and strength from large organisations 
such as ours.

ESG investing has extended deeper into the market 
and industries are in the process of being reconfigured 
in response to the shift in consumer behaviour and 
government policy.

We recognise the challenges facing our communities  
and our clients, and we continue to establish and  
enhance a responsible framework in response. This  
includes the appointment of a Senior Management  
Function for Sustainability.

Our work with Charity partners and work conducted through 
the Charity Committee (part of our governance framework) 
gives financial and time commitment to our community. 

See Section 5. Environmental, Social & Governance  
(“ESG”) Update.

Our shareholder continues to demonstrate strong 
support for the Group, recognising the robustness of our 
infrastructure and governance framework, and maintaining 
an open and constructive dialogue with management.

Looking ahead, our shareholder remains aligned with the 
Group’s strategic direction and encourages continued 
progress in delivering a sustainable, long-term business. 
This includes further integration with Mizuho Bank, London 
Branch, and the continued advancement of the CIB model 
across the region.

Our Board is focused on delivering a sustainable business 
model, guided by a strategy that incorporates client 
feedback and leverages the strength of Mizuho Financial 
Group. Our Board includes representation from Mizuho 
Bank, London branch to ensure that the integration strategy 
and the development of the CIB model is understood and 
appropriately reflected from the perspective of both entities.

See Section 2.1 – Business Strategy. 
See Section 3 – Strategic Priorities.

Our regulators recognise the strength of our infrastructure 
and governance structure and demonstrate this through 
their ongoing support and constructive dialogue.

Our regulators would like to see continued focus on 
delivering a sustainable business model and maintaining 
operational resilience.

We continue to invest in strengthening our three lines of 
defence to respond to the ongoing focus on governance and 
regulatory compliance across the industry.

Our Board focuses on delivering a sustainable business 
model with a strategy that is underpinned by client feedback 
and maximises the strength of MHFG. Through the  
Board Risk and Sustainability Committee in particular, 
there is continued focus on stress testing, resilience and 
resolution planning.
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7.  Outlook for the coming Financial Year
The Group enters the new financial year with clear strategic momentum. A key priority remains our 
continued focus to be an integrated CIB, delivering value across the EMEA region. Our aim is to 
continuously deepen client engagement through enhanced product capabilities and our unique model of 
first class global coordination, strongly rooted in our heritage in Japan. These efforts support the Group’s 
commitment to delivering consistent, high-quality, and client-centric outcomes.

Significant progress has been made in optimising the operating model within EMEA. The establishment 
of MECS, the creation of a universal banking entity in the EU, and the transfer of banking personnel to 
the Company mark important milestones in building a more unified, entity-agnostic platform with Mizuho 
EMEA as the centrepiece of global coordination across regions to deliver a true East-West service to our 
clients. This structure is designed to foster alignment in governance, strategic goals, and incentives across 
EMEA, improving efficiency and service delivery.

Sustainability and ESG considerations will continue to be embedded across the Group’s operations  
and decision-making. As global expectations and regulatory requirements in this area intensify, the  
Group remains focused on supporting the low-carbon transition through its client offerings, internal 
practices, and stakeholder engagement. ESG is now fully integrated into strategic planning, risk 
management, and business priorities, and forms a core pillar of Mizuho Financial Group’s revised 
Corporate Philosophy and Purpose.

The Group also maintains a strong governance, risk, and control framework, supported by a moderate and 
actively managed risk appetite. Prudent capital and liquidity positions will be preserved, and the Group 
will continue to participate in wider Mizuho Financial Group resolution planning. Operational resilience 
remains a key focus, with a Board-approved framework and supporting strategies in place to ensure 
business continuity amid potential disruptions.

At the same time, the Group recognises that the external environment will remain challenging. Market 
volatility is expected to persist, fuelled by ongoing geopolitical tensions and evolving trade policies, 
including the imposition of new tariffs. These developments may continue to affect global economic 
stability and capital markets; equally this environment needs Banking partners who deliver value while 
exercising sound judgement at all times. We are confident in our credentials to be such a partner to our 
clients and as a Group we remain agile and disciplined—navigating uncertainty, managing costs carefully, 
and ensuring operational resilience.

Aligned under a unified Global CIB delivery model, the Group remains committed to building a  
sustainable, inclusive, and client-focused business, supporting long-term growth and value creation  
across the EMEA region.

By Order of the Board

Mr W. Koehler 
Company Secretary 
26 June 2025
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1.  Principal Activities
The Group provides investment banking and securities market services to clients within the global network 
of Mizuho Financial Group.

The Group holds permissions from the PRA for deposit taking and other activities relating to its investment 
businesses pursuant to the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act, 2000, and operates under 
the rules of the PRA and the FCA. The Frankfurt based MHEU, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, 
operated branches in Madrid and Paris. In April 2025, MHEU was sold to and merged with MBE. The 
Company also operates a branch in Dubai, which is authorised and regulated by the DFSA.

The Group also includes MECS, a London-based shared services entity that provides centralised corporate 
services to the Group and Mizuho Bank, London Branch.

2.  Results and Dividends
The Group recorded a profit of £7.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: profit £13.5 million). The 
Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the current financial year (2024: £nil).

3.  Going Concern
The Group’s Directors believe that there are no material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Group’s financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis.

The Directors’ assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern is based upon an 
assessment of the Group’s business plans, together with related forecasts in respect of the Group’s 
capital adequacy and liquidity positions, and the underlying principal risks and stresses to those forecast 
positions. Consideration has been given to the inherent uncertainties arising from the current geo-political 
environment, global macro-economic outlook and the impact of ongoing regulatory, technological and 
sustainability developments. Further information on the Directors’ assessment can be found in Note 1 to 
the financial statements. 

4.  Directors
The following served as Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025:

Directors’ Report
The Directors who serve on the 
Company’s board at the date 
of this report (the “Directors”) 
present this report on the affairs 
of the Group, together with the 
financial statements for the  
year ended 31 March 2025.

There are no Directors’ interests requiring disclosure under the Companies Act 2006. The Company has 
granted an indemnity to its Directors against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third parties, 
subject to the conditions set out in section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third-party 
indemnity provision remains in force as at the date of approving the Directors’ Report.

Executive Directors Mr S. Bakhshi 
Mr T. Ino (resigned on 16 May 2024)
Mr Y. Imafuku (appointed on 16 May 2024)
Mr R. Tallentire (resigned on 24 May 2024)

Non-Executive Directors Ms M. Erasmus (Chair and Independent Non-Executive Director)
Mr D. Atkinson (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Mr G. Bennett (Independent Non-Executive Director) 
Mr T. Waddell (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Mr. Y. Nanjo (Non-Executive Director) (appointed on 1 April 2024)
Mr F. Suzuki (Non-Executive Director) (resigned on 31 March 2025)
Mr Y. Wakabayashi (Non-Executive Director) (resigned on 31 March 2025)

Since 31 March 2025, the following appointments to the Board have been made:

Non-Executive Directors Mr H. Kurakagi (appointed on 1 April 2025)
Mr A. Shibukawa (appointed on 1 April 2025)

Directors’ Report  
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Board Risk and 
Sustainability  
Committee 
The Board Risk and Sustainability 
Committee is responsible for 
reviewing the Group’s risk 
appetite, risk profile, performance 
against risk appetite, risk 
management framework, and risk 
culture. In addition, the Board Risk 
and Sustainability Committee also 
reviews the Group’s environmental 
and climate risk strategy and 
reporting and provides oversight 
and challenge on the day-to-day 
management of climate risk and 
climate change stress testing. 
The Board Risk and Sustainability 
Committee meets not less than 
six times a year but may meet 
more often as deemed necessary. 
It is chaired by Mr D. Atkinson 
(Independent Non-Executive 
Director), and its members are the 
other Independent Non-Executive 
Directors. It is attended by 
members of management  
invited by the Chair.

Crisis Management 
Committee 
The Crisis Management 
Committee is responsible for 
managing a crisis or other 
situation impacting the Group, 
including the breach of an 
operating stage trigger as set 
out in the Group’s Recovery 
Plan. The committee does not 
meet under normal operating 
conditions but may be convened 
according to circumstances 
described in the terms of 
reference. Given the nature of 
the Committee it is chaired by 
Mr S. Bakhshi (President & CEO), 
and its members comprise a 
large number of Executives (incl. 
Deputy President, COO, CIO, CFO, 
CRO) but also the Chair of the 
Board, the Chair of Board Risk 
and Sustainability Committee and 
the Chair of Audit & Compliance 
Committee and other members of 
management invited by the Chair.

Nomination 
Committee 
The Nomination Committee is 
responsible for the selection 
and recommendation of new 
members to the Board and the 
evaluation of the performance 
of the Board. The committee 
meets as often as necessary to 
fulfil its responsibilities but not 
less than twice a year. The Chair 
of the Nomination Committee 
is Ms M. Erasmus and the other 
members of the committee are 
the three other Independent 
Non-Executive Directors. The 
meetings are also attended by 
the Company Secretary, and by 
invitation only, the Head of Human 
Resources and the Head of Legal 
and Compliance. External advisors 
and other individuals who are not 
members of the Committee may 
also be invited at the discretion of 
the Chair.

Remuneration 
Committee
The Remuneration Committee 
is responsible for approving the 
Group’s remuneration policy for its 
employees generally and specific 
remuneration at or above certain 
senior levels including identified 
Material Risk Takers (“MRTs”). The 
Remuneration Committee meets 
at least four times a year with 
additional meetings as necessary. 
It is chaired by Mr T. Waddell 
and the rest of its membership 
comprises the Chair of the Board 
and the two other Independent 
Non-Executive Directors; meetings 
are also attended by the Head of 
Human Resources. The Chair of 
the Committee is also entitled to 
invite any other staff members 
or external advisers to attend the 
Committee’s meetings.

Key: Chief Executive Officer (CEO) | Chief Financial Officer (CFO) | 
Chief Operations Officer (COO) | Chief Risk Officer (CRO) 

Board of Directors 

•	 The Company’s Board of Directors (“the Board”) meets at least four 
times each year and more frequently where business needs require 
(in practice at least six times a year). 

•	 As of 31 March 2025, the Board consisted of two Executive Directors, 
and seven Non-Executive Directors (including an Independent 
Chairman and three other Independent Non-Executive Directors).

•	 In order to facilitate the effective conduct of business across the 
Group, the Board delegates certain matters to five committees, 
which comprise an Audit and Compliance Committee, a Board Risk 
and Sustainability Committee, a Crisis Management Committee, a 
Nomination Committee and a Remuneration Committee. Whilst the 
Board ultimately remains responsible for all delegated matters, the 
affairs of those committees are organised to encompass the conduct 
of the Group’s business. The responsibilities and constitution of 
those committees, referred to in the singular below, are as follows:

Audit & Compliance 
Committee 
The Audit and Compliance 
Committee is responsible for  
the review and monitoring  
of internal control functions, 
financial reporting, audit 
effectiveness and regulatory 
compliance. The committee meets 
on a quarterly basis and more 
frequently if required. It is chaired 
by Mr G. Bennett (Independent 
Non-Executive Director) and its 
members are selected Board 
Directors of MHI. The chair of the 
Committee is expressly entitled to 
invite additional Board members, 
the external auditors, the Head of 
Internal Audit, Head of Legal and 
Compliance, the Chief Financial 
Officer and the Chief Risk Officer 
and also any other members 
of management to attend the 
Committee’s meetings.

5.  Corporate Governance
The Group’s equity shares are not listed, as the Company is directly 
owned by MHSC, although the Group has issued debt which is listed 
on the Euro MTF market on the Luxembourg Exchange. The UK 
Corporate Governance Code applies to companies with a UK premium 
listing of equity shares and thus there is no mandatory requirement 
for the Group to comply with the Code. However, the Directors 
consider that Corporate Governance is an important matter and they 
have adopted a number of procedures as set out below:

Directors’ Report  Directors’ Report  
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The Company’s organisational structure is 
designed to ensure that responsibilities are defined 
and authority is delegated only where appropriate, 
and that the Board receives regular management 
accounts containing a sufficient level of analysis 
of the financial performance of the Group. In 
respect of internal financial controls, the Directors 
are responsible for ensuring that the Board meets 
regularly to review this information and takes 
appropriate decisions on all material matters.

The Group, through its Board, delegates 
responsibility for the day-to-day running of the 
business of the Group to the CEO. The CEO in 
turn delegates powers for certain matters to 
executive management, including the CFO and 
the CRO. The CEO is assisted by the Executive 
Committee, the membership of which comprises 
the heads of the Front office business areas and 
the heads of significant corporate functions. 
The Executive Committee’s role is to act as a 
consultative body to the CEO, who therefore has 
the decision making responsibilities in relation 
to all matters, save in relation to charity and new 
product matters, where the Executive Committee’s 
members are entitled to vote.

Following the acceleration of the CIB model in 
EMEA, the region’s executive level governance 
model was aligned during the year, in order to 
support unified, regional decision making.  
A new EMEA Executive Committee was 
established, with representation from both 
the Group and Mizuho Bank, London branch. 
A number of sub-committees were newly 
established or integrated. These committees all 
operate concurrently as both the Group level 
committee and the EMEA wide committee, 
respecting entity level governance by focussing 
on entity specific matters, where necessary.

The CEO has empowered the Executive 
Committee to delegate responsibility to  
fourteen sub-committees as follows:

•	 CIB Operating Committee;
•	 Banking and Markets CIB Front Office 

Supervision Committees;
•	 EMEA Remuneration Committee;
•	 EMEA Risk Management Committee;
•	 EMEA New Product Committee;
•	 EMEA Audit and Compliance Committee;
•	 EMEA Operational Resilience Committee;
•	 EMEA Health and Safety Committee (London);
•	 EMEA IT Investment Committee;
•	 EMEA Distribution Risk Committee;
•	 EMEA Transaction Approval Committee;

•	 EMEA Corporate Services Committee; 
•	 MHI Assets and Liability Committee; and 
•	 MHI Valuation Control Committee

Those sub-committees, apart from the EMEA New 
Product Committee and EMEA Risk Management 
Committee (for certain matters), act as 
consultative bodies to their respective Chairs, who 
have the sole decision making powers in relation 
to matters covered by those sub-committees. The 
members of the EMEA New Product Committee 
and EMEA Risk Management Committee (for 
certain matters), on the other hand, have the  
right to vote on the matters covered by those  
sub-committees respectively.

6.  Performance Measurement  
and Management
The Group and its business streams are managed 
in accordance with a variety of measures, which 
are reported on a regular basis to the Executive 
Committee. The primary measures that are 
used to monitor and manage performance 
within the Group include profit before taxation, 
capital utilisation, VaR utilisation and stress test 
exposures (these are disclosed within the financial 
statements and in the Risk Review section).

6.1.  Remuneration

The Group has adopted a Remuneration Policy 
that complies with the Remuneration section of 
the PRA’s Rulebook and the FCA’s Remuneration 
Code for dual-regulated firms. The policy aims to 
promote effective risk management and provide 
competitive remuneration structures which are 
aligned to the Group’s business strategy. When 
determining the size of the overall bonus pool, 
the need to maintain and/or strengthen a sound 
capital base is taken into account. Individual 
awards are discretionary and contingent upon 
a sustainable risk adjusted performance. Bonus 
awards of the population identified as Material 
Risk Takers (“MRTs”) are subject to deferral 
arrangements in line with regulatory requirements 
(i.e. deferral periods of four, five or seven years); 
a general deferral plan is in place for all other staff 
whose bonus award is above a threshold set out 
in the policy. Bonus awards are subject to malus 
adjustment (including forfeiture) and deferred 
awards will vest only to the extent determined 
by the Remuneration Committee in its sole 
discretion, having regard to matters set out in the 
policy. At least 50% of any variable remuneration 
awarded to MRTs (unless deemed de minimis) 
will be allocated in the form of Mizuho Financial 
Group shares and is subject to a retention 

period of six or twelve months. The requirement 
is applied to both deferred and non-deferred 
awards. The Group also may apply clawback to 
the variable remuneration of MRTs for seven 
years after the award has been made (this can be 
extended to ten years for Senior Managers in the 
event of an investigation).

6.2.  Employment Policies

As set out in our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion 
Policy, the Group is committed to an inclusive 
culture and equity of opportunity for all. The 
Group opposes all forms of discrimination 
including on the grounds of age, disability, gender 
(including gender reassignment), marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief and sexual orientation. Pursuant 
to the policy, workers, whether full time, part time 
or temporary, are to be treated fairly, equally and 
with respect. The policy applies to all aspects of 
employment, including recruitment and selection, 
appraisal, learning and development, promotion, 
pay and conditions.

The Group values and respects the differences 
between all our people. By promoting and 
ensuring an inclusive environment, the Group 
can build on the collective and complementary 
skills, knowledge, background and networks of 
its people. Valuing inclusion and diversity is an 
integral part of our strategy for competing in 
the current and future marketplace and driving 
business performance and success. More details 
on our inclusive culture can be found in section 
5.4. Our People and Culture of the Strategic Report.

The Group promotes a high-performance culture 
and learning organisation, building on individual 
and group skills and learning experiences and 
is committed to creating a positive working 
environment. All employees are supported and 
encouraged to develop their full potential and the 
talents and resources of our workforce are  
utilised to maximise the efficiency of the 
organisation. More details can be found in  
section 5.4.3 Development, Support and  
Retention of the Strategic Report under Talent 
Development and Mentoring.

The Group extends its commitment to diversity, 
equity and inclusion to the communities in 
which it operates, through its Corporate Social 
Responsibility initiatives, including, amongst 
others, working with our employee elected  
One Mizuho charity partner which in the  
current financial year is Little Village (see  
section 5.4.4. Social Contribution Initiatives of  
the Strategic Report).

All employees are made aware of the provisions 
of the Group’s policy through regular awareness 
sessions and full details of the policy are available 
on the Group’s intranet site. Employees have a 
positive responsibility to comply with this policy 
and ensure that its terms are put into effect.

The Group values employee engagement and 
prides itself on regularly communicating with 
employees on matters affecting them and on 
the various factors affecting the performance 
of the Group. This is achieved through regular 
town halls, email communications, updates via 
dedicated intranet pages, quarterly employee 
surveys and through the Directors’ Report and 
Financial Statements which are made available to 
all employees.

7.  Financial Instruments
The Group uses financial instruments for trading 
and risk management purposes, as outlined in 
Accounting Policy 3C in the Notes to Financial 
Statements. Further information about the 
Group’s risk management objectives and policies, 
and its exposure to various risks, can be found in 
the Risk Review section.

Directors’ Report  Directors’ Report  
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Company GHG emissions and energy use data for the financial year:

2025  
Energy  
(kWh)

2025  
Emissions 

(tCO2e, 
location)

2025  
Emissions 

(tCO2e, 
market)

2024  
Energy  

(kWh)

2024  
Emissions 

(tCO2e, 
location)

2024  
Emissions 

(tCO2e, 
market)

Electricity1 6,964,850 1,442.07 0 3,472,473 719.10 384.14

Biogas / natural gas and refrigerant 
fugitive emissions2 1,181,144 19.96 19.96 763,403 177.40 177.40

Transport fuel (Scope 3)³ business 
travel in rental cars or employee-
owned vehicles where company is 
responsible for purchasing the fuel

32,508 7.27 7.27 9,924 3.20 3.20

Total 8,178,502 1,469.30 27.23 4,245,800 899.70 564.74

Intensity ratio: tCO2e gross figure / 
Average FTE4 6,564 1.18 0.02 8,358 1.77 1.11

Explanatory notes
1.	 Electricity used for Group operations at the occupied buildings in the UK and data centres.
2.	 Gas used for heating and fugitive refrigerant emissions. During FY24 / 25, only biogas has been used.
3.	 Fuel used for operating employee vehicles driven for business use.
4.	 Full time employees.

Further explanatory notes
•	 �All carbon emissions factors are taken from ‘UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting’ issued by Defra and BEIS.

•	 The reporting Scope covers energy used over reporting period FY24/25, in line with the financial year.

•	 �Energy consumption collated from meter reads, expenses records, energy invoices and estimates. Estimates used where the most recent 
month data is not yet available or because detailed measurement is not yet possible. 

•	 �Year on year differences in energy usage do not always directly correspond to an equivalent change in associated emissions.  
This is due to annual changes in the carbon intensity of emissions factors that are used to calculate carbon emissions.  
For example, the Defra 2024 emissions factor for biogas is 2% higher than the Defra 2023 factor.

•	 �It should be noted that biogas has been procured in place of natural gas during FY24/25. This has resulted in a significant  
reduction of Scope 1 emissions.

8.  Own Operational Footprint
The Group is committed to managing its 
operational environmental footprint and to 
reducing its associated greenhouse gas  
(“GHG”) emissions.

8.1.  Introduction

The Group has established key environmental 
performance objectives which are tracked through 
metrics against targets. These targets focus on 
reducing the Group’s most significant operational 
environmental impacts being Scope 1 and 
Scope 2 GHG emissions derived from its energy 
consumption along with some Scope 3 GHG 
emissions derived from its business travel and 
waste production. The Group has strengthened 
supply chain governance and has adopted an 
enhanced risk-based approach to improving third 
party environmental performance. Post pandemic, 
the Group recognises the shift in attitudes away 
from traditional work settings. The Group has 
rolled out a flexible and sustainable workplace 
strategy that incorporates environmental benefits 
through longer-term reductions in energy, water, 
waste, business travel and staff commuting.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 
(“SECR”) is a UK Government scheme requiring 
companies to disclose their energy usage and 
associated carbon emissions.

The Group has assessed greenhouse gas 
emissions using the ‘GHG Reporting  
Protocol – A Corporate Accounting and  
Reporting Standard’ and in accordance with 
Defra’s ‘Environmental Reporting guidelines: 
including SECR requirements’. 

For this purpose, the UK operations of the Group 
(being the Company and MECS) are reported on, 
as MHEU being a foreign subsidiary incorporated 
outside the UK, is not in-scope for SECR reporting.

The reporting scope includes the following  
energy sources:

•	 Electricity used for the UK operations at the 
occupied buildings and data centres (Scope 2, 
see row 1 in table below)

•	 Biogas and natural gas used to heat the 
occupied buildings in the UK, and fugitive 
emissions from refrigerants (Scope 1, see row 2 
in table below)

•	 Transport fuel used for the UK operations under 
the Group’s operational control (Scope 3, see 
row 3 in table below).

The scope currently excludes energy use at BCP 
sites. Energy use at these sites are not the direct 
responsibility of any entity within the Group, and 
are generally minimal.

8.2.  Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting  
(“SECR”) Metrics

For the FY24/25 reporting period, absolute 
operational energy use in kWh was 93% higher 
than in the previous reporting year. Whilst this 
headline figure reflects a significant rise, it is 
entirely attributable to the change in corporate 
structure within the UK, notably the establishment 
of MECS and a substantial increase in the Group’s 
UK headcount (up approximately 145%) as a 
result of staff transfers from Mizuho Bank, London 
branch into the Group. This assessment therefore 
covers emissions and energy use associated 
with the UK entities of the Group (includes the 
Company and MECS), which differs from last 
year’s reporting scope which was inclusive of the 
Company only. Taking the increased headcount 
into account, emissions per FTE (location-based 
reporting) have reduced by 34% since the last 
reporting period.

The notable year on year changes to overall 
consumption are:

•	 Electricity usage increased by 101%  
on the previous year

•	 Gas usage increased by 55% on the  
previous year.

•	 Scope 3 grey fleet activity in kWh increased  
by 228% against the previous year. However,  
it should be noted that although this represents 
a large proportional increase, absolute tCO2e 
remains a small proportion of overall  
emissions (0.5%).

8.3.  ISO 14001 Certification

ISO 14001 is an internationally agreed 
standard that sets out the requirements for 
an environmental management system to 
help organisations continuously improve their 
environmental performance through efficient 
use of resources and reduction of waste and 
to provide assurance to stakeholders that 
environmental impacts are being measured  
and improved.

The Company successfully achieved the ISO 
14001 certification for its operational functions 
at its London office in March 2021. The Group is 
now seeking to extend ISO 14001 certification to 
additional EMEA locations.

One of the main objectives of an ISO 14001 Environmental Management System is to ensure continual 
improvement. The principle of Plan - Do - Check - Act, supported by audits and reviews, achieves this aim.

An Annual Surveillance Audit by the external ISO 14001 certification body is mandatory to maintain the 
Company’s certification. An Annual Surveillance Audit was successfully completed in March 2025, in which 
the assessor noted the excellent work that was being undertaken to manage the environment impacts of 
building operations, as well as the ambitious targets to extend the geographical scope of certification. 

A periodic environmental compliance evaluation was conducted in October 2024 at 30 Old Bailey, London, 
to benchmark the findings against industry best practices and current statutory requirements. The review 
was conducted by an independent third-party consultant. It consisted of a visual inspection of the building, 
interviews with appropriate personnel, and assessing documents and records to demonstrate compliance 
with applicable environmental compliance obligations. A good level of compliance was observed, with 
only minor areas for improvement. The audit report provided positive comment about the effective 
implementation of environmental management practices within the business.
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8.4.  The Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme (“ESOS”) 

ESOS is a mandatory energy assessment 
scheme, introduced in 2014, for organisations in 
the UK that meet relevant qualification criteria. 
An ESOS energy audit is undertaken every 4 
years and includes an analysis of a site’s energy 
consumption and energy efficiency. It also 
identifies ways to improve energy efficiency and 
recommends energy-saving opportunities. 

The Group has fully complied with ESOS Phase 
1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 related aspects and has 
produced an action plan with a published target, 
annually updated and reported, likely via the 
energy efficiency narrative of SECR. Other more 
ambitious elements are to be introduced in Phase 
4 and beyond, with the Company constantly 
looking to improve the energy efficiency of the 
property portfolio as well as actively seeking out 
renewable energy opportunities.

The Group continues to make improvements 
to reduce energy consumption and associated 
emissions. Over the past year Mizuho has 
implemented or has committed to implementing 
a number of energy saving projects. A number of 
these projects were informed by the ESOS energy 
audit the Company undertook in 2023. Projects 
which have been undertaken or underway in the 
reporting year include:

•	 An upgraded energy metering system, which 
went live in April 2024

•	 The upgrading of Main Equipment Room /
Satellite Equipment Room lighting 

•	 Implementation of a Building Management 
System Planned Preventive Maintenance energy 
routine pilot programme

•	 Installation of cold aisle containment to improve 
cooling efficiency

•	 Upgrading basin taps to Smart taps 
•	 Achievement of Building Research 

Establishment Environmental Assessment 
Method (“BREEAM”) rating of Excellent.

9.  Future Developments
The future developments of the Group are 
discussed in the Strategic Report.

10.  Events since the balance  
sheet date
Please refer to Note 34 (Post Balance Sheet 
Events) for further details. 

11.  Disclosure of Information  
to Auditors
The Directors who held office at the date of 
approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so 
far as they are each aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Group’s auditors 
are unaware; and the Directors have taken all the 
steps that they ought to have taken as Directors 
to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the Group’s 
auditors are aware of that information.

12.  Independent Auditors
The current auditors, Ernst & Young LLP,  
complete the maximum tenure allowed under  
the Companies Act as of year ending 31 March 
2025, and are not eligible to be reappointed. 
Following an audit tender process last year,  
Forvis Mazars LLP were selected as the new 
auditors for the Group, and the Board has 
approved their appointment for the financial 
period commencing from 1 April 2025. A 
resolution appointing them as Auditors of  
the Group and authorising the Directors to 
determine their remuneration will be proposed  
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  
The Directors would like to thank Ernst & Young 
for their contribution over the years, and for 
facilitating an orderly handover to Forvis Mazars.

By Order of the Board

Mr W. Koehler 
Company Secretary 
26 June 2025
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Risk Review

1.  Risk Management Framework

Risk culture and principles

The Group believes that a strong risk 
management culture is essential to achieve  
its business objectives. With ultimate 
responsibility for risk governance in 
the Group, the Board embeds a strong 
risk management culture through the 
establishment of an independent Risk 
Management function which works closely 
with the business and treats risk management 
as a shared responsibility.

The Risk Management function monitors  
and works closely with the Front Office.  
This is central to the Group’s risk culture. 
There are regular forums for day-to-day 
business discussion, catalysed by co-
location, fostering further alignment between 
the business strategy and risk taking. The 
Group’s hedging policy further supports 
risk management, defining the approach to 
mitigate potential losses and remain within 
the prevailing risk appetite.

The Board has established clearly defined risk 
principles which are summarised below:

•	 Maintain a moderate risk profile;
•	 Ensure that effective control of balance 

sheet usage and concentration risk is 
exercised, by monitoring exposures  
against a comprehensive and robust  
limit framework;

•	 Preserve strong capital and liquidity 
ratios and comply with all regulatory 
requirements;

•	 Maintain a diversified funding strategy  
with regard to both the sources and tenor  
of funding; and

•	 Ensure that remuneration arrangements  
are aligned to risk appetite.

Risk governance

The Group has established a comprehensive 
framework using a three Lines of Defence 
(‘LoD’) model for managing financial and other 
operational risks, which evolves with business 
activities in response to developments in markets 
and products.

•	 The first line is any business or support unit 
that originates risk, owns it and is responsible 
for that risk. The first line function is obliged to 
understand the implication of any risks run by 
it and to conduct its own supervision to control/
manage the risk.

•	 The second line is provided by a number of 
functions who are responsible for conducting 
independent challenge, oversight and reporting 
of risk and validating the management of risks 
by the first line of defence.

•	 The third line of defence is provided by the 
Internal Audit Function that is independent  
of both the first and second lines of defence. 
The role of the third line is to independently 
check and verify the effectiveness of the first 
and second lines of defence and to escalate  
to Senior Management and the relevant  
Board sub-committees any deficiencies  
that it identifies.

The principal risk control functions comprise 
Risk Management and Compliance functions, 
supported by the Finance and Legal teams. The 
Risk Management function is led by the CRO who 
reports directly into the CEO with independent 
oversight provided by the Chair of the Board Risk 
and Sustainability Committee. 

The CRO chairs the EMEA Risk Management 
Committee which advises the Executive 
Committee and Board Risk and Sustainability 
Committee on risk methodologies, limits and 
policies, for risks including market, credit, 
liquidity, operational and model risk, and 
monitors compliance with these limits. There are 
six decision making sub-committees covering 
credit, market, operational and reputational risk, 
together with models, methodology, prudential 
matters and stress testing, detailed in the  
diagram below.

Mizuho International plc Board of Directors

EMEA 
Operational 
Risk Committee

Responsible  
for ensuring 
appropriate 
framework 
is provided 
for managing 
operational 
risk matters.

EMEA 
Reputational 
Risk Committee

Responsible 
for providing 
oversight of 
reputational risk 
matters for all 
EMEA entities.

EMEA Market, 
Methodology 
and Model Risk 
Committee

Responsible 
for ensuring 
the appropriate 
framework 
is provided 
for managing 
market risk, risk 
methodologies 
and model risks. 

EMEA Stress 
Testing 
Committee

Responsible 
for ensuring 
the appropriate 
framework 
is provided 
to manage 
company-wide 
stress and 
reverse stress 
testing matters.

MHI Prudential 
& Regulation 
Committee

Responsible 
for ensuring 
the appropriate 
framework 
is provided 
for managing 
prudential 
regulatory 
matters.

MHI Credit Risk 
Management 
Committee

Responsible 
for ensuring 
appropriate 
framework is 
provided for 
managing  
credit risks.

Miuzho International plc Board Risk and Sustainability Committee

EMEA Risk Management Committee

Risk Review
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Risk appetite

The Board’s risk appetite describes the levels 
and types of risk that the Group is prepared to 
accept in pursuit of its business strategy. The risk 
appetite is prudently quantified with reference to 
scenario and stress testing, and is set to ensure 
that the Group can maintain a sound financial 
position throughout economic cycles and through 
severe and plausible stress scenarios. This is also 
the approach being taken for climate risk, where 
the Group is working towards also setting a risk 
appetite based on scenario and stress testing, 
albeit using scenarios which are aligned to 
broader industry practice through the Network for 
Greening the Financial System (“NGFS”). The Risk 
appetite is implemented through a supporting 
limit framework that ensures all material sources 
of risk are controlled in a manner consistent with 
the Board’s overall risk tolerance.

The Group’s risk management framework 
comprises the following elements designed to 
achieve effective management in line with the risk 
appetite statement through a top-down delegation 
of authority.

Risk Identification and assessment

Risk drivers are identified based on the Group’s 
risk profile, taking into consideration regulatory 
changes and emerging risks. Overall risk driver 
materiality is attributed using a High/Medium/
Low classification and is derived from both 
quantitative and qualitative elements:

•	 Quantitative result considers the impact on the 
Group’s capital base and risk appetite capital 
coverage limit; and

•	 A qualitative overlay is applied based on 
relevant management judgements.

Description How risk is managed

M
ar

ke
t 

ris
k

The risk that changes in interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, 
equity prices and other rates, prices, 
volatilities, correlations or other market 
conditions, such as liquidity, will have an 
adverse impact on the Group’s financial 
condition or results. 

Market risk in trading portfolios are managed through position and 
sensitivity limits, profit and loss and VaR limits, and stress testing limits. 

Foreign currency loans and advances to banks and customers and 
investments are funded in matched currencies; funding raised from debt 
security issuance is also used to support trading activities on a matched 
currency basis. Foreign currency derivatives are used when required to 
swap between relevant asset and liability currencies.

Limits and corresponding risk policies are approved by the  
delegated risk management authorities as defined in the Group’s  
risk management framework.

The Group’s market risk profile is reviewed at EMEA Risk Management 
Committee and EMEA Executive Committee.

C
re

di
t 

an
d 

C
ou

nt
er

pa
rt

y 
ris

k

The risk of financial loss to the Group  
if an issuer of a financial instrument  
or a customer fails to meet its 
contractual obligations.

Independent credit analysis and due diligence on individual entities 
relevant to the Group’s credit risk profile is performed. 

Credit risk limits and policies ensure that the Group operates within 
the agreed credit risk appetite framework. The Group’s credit risk limit 
framework cascades down from the Group’s risk appetite owned by  
the Board and it includes limits for country, sector, counterparty  
and/or issuer. 

The Group’s credit risk policies define roles, responsibilities and levels  
of authority for approving credit risk. Authority levels are governed by  
the counterparty’s credit quality as well as the nature and potential risk  
of the transactions.

Counterparty credit exposures are quantified to assess both current and 
potential credit risk. Current credit exposure represents the replacement 
cost of those instruments which have a positive carrying value. Potential 
credit exposures are based on estimates of future replacement costs 
over the remaining life of the instrument. 

The Group’s credit risk profile is reviewed at EMEA Risk Management 
Committee and also periodically reviewed by the MHI Credit Risk 
Management Committee, the EMEA Executive Committee and the MHI 
Board Risk and Sustainability Committee.

Li
qu

id
it

y 
ris

k

The risk that the Group, although 
solvent, does not have available 
sufficient financial resources to enable it 
to meet its obligations as they fall due. 

The Group’s liquidity risk management framework enables and ensures 
continuous review of the Group’s liquidity position. Adequate liquidity 
resources by amount and quality are maintained to ensure there is no 
significant risk of liabilities not being met as they fall due. 

Liquidity and funding is actively managed through operating in the 
wholesale funding markets and repurchase agreement markets.

The Group documents its approach to liquidity risk management, and its 
assessment of the appropriate level of liquidity resources consistent with 
its liquidity risk appetite, through its ILAAP.

Liquidity mismatches and stress testing results are monitored and 
reported on a daily basis, and are formally reviewed at EMEA Risk 
Management Committee. The stress testing results are also periodically 
reviewed by the MHI Asset and Liability Committee, the EMEA Executive 
Committee and the MHI Board Risk and Sustainability Committee.

2.  Principal Risk and uncertainties
The Group’s principal risks as an international investment banking and securities markets business within 
the Mizuho Financial Group of companies are as follows:

Risk identification is conducted by examination 
of all activities of the Group and is captured in 
the risk register that consists of all risks from all 
risk areas to which the Group is exposed. The 
risk register contains measures of materiality, 
mitigants and controls to ensure capital adequacy. 
Risk drivers considered to be material are 
assessed as part of the Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (“ICAAP”) & Internal 
Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (“ILAAP”) 
and revisited annually and/or where there are 
material changes to the Group’s risk profile, 
business model or regulatory environment.

As stated in Note 1 on page 94 of the financial 
statements, the risk management disclosures in 
the following sections pertaining to Market risk, 
Credit risk and Liquidity risk form part of the 
financial statements. Disclosures that have been 
audited are labelled accordingly.

For Sustainability, an EMEA CIB-wide risk 
materiality assessment has been performed in FY 
24/25 to identify all ESG risks relevant to Mizuho 
EMEA entities so that an assessment of potential 
impact can be done to identify key vulnerabilities. 
Refer to the next section for a summary of the 
process and results of the exercise for the Group. 

Risk Review Risk Review
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Description How risk is managed

O
pe

ra
ti

on
al

 ri
sk

The risk of loss resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, people and systems or 
from external events.

Operational risk exposure is managed through the  
Operational Risk Framework, which includes operational  
risk identification and assessment, control and monitoring,  
and capital management.

Operational risk exposures are assessed and measured 
using a variety of approaches including risk and control self-
assessments, the setting and reporting of key operational risk 
indicators, internal loss event reporting, external loss event 
capture and scenario stress testing.

Operational risk is reviewed, assessed and monitored against 
defined tolerance statements via the Group’s corporate 
governance structure. In addition, the Group maintains and 
tests contingency facilities to support operations in the event 
of business disruption and has purchased insurance where 
required by law or regulation and to address selected  
business risks.

The Group’s operational risk profile is reviewed at EMEA  
Risk Management Committee and also periodically reviewed  
by the EMEA Operational Risk Committee, the EMEA  
Executive Committee and the MHI Board Risk and  
Sustainability Committee.

C
yb

er
 ri

sk

The risk of financial loss, disruption or damage to 
the reputation of an organisation from a failure 
of its information systems. 

The Group maintains a comprehensive suite of policies, 
standards and controls to manage information and cyber 
security risk which is aligned with Group-wide practices and 
industry standard frameworks (ISO27001/NIST).

Le
ga

l r
is

k

The risk that the business activities of the 
Group have unintended or unexpected legal 
consequences and includes risk arising from 
inadequate documentation, legal or regulatory 
incapacity, insufficient authority of a counterparty 
and uncertainty as to the validity or enforceability 
of a contract. It also includes the risks arising 
from failure to comply with all applicable laws 
and regulations and the corresponding penalties 
that may be imposed, including significant 
financial fines and the loss of reputation.

The Group identifies and manages legal risk through  
effective use of its Legal and Compliance department,  
which is independent of the Front Office, as well as  
external legal advisors.

Fi
na

nc
ia

l r
is

ks
 fr

om
 c

lim
at

e 
ch

an
ge

These risks arise through two primary channels, 
or ‘risk factors’: Physical and Transition. 

Physical risks from climate change relate to 
specific weather events (such as heatwaves, 
floods, wildfires and storms) and longer-
term shifts in the climate (such as changes in 
precipitation, extreme weather variability, sea 
level rise, and rising mean temperatures). 

Transition risks arise from the process of 
adjustment towards a low-carbon economy. 
These risks manifest, for example, as increasing 
underwriting, reserving, credit, or market risk  
for firms.

Financial risks from climate change have been embedded into 
existing risk management frameworks (see Graph – Integration 
of Climate Risk into Mizuho Risk Management Cycle). It cuts 
across all risk types and can be considered and managed as part 
of the other principal risks. 

A qualitative sustainability materiality assessment including 
consideration of this risk has been completed for all Mizuho 
EMEA and the Group component is summarised further down 
in this section.

Additionally, climate stress testing and scenario analysis 
continues to be developed to enable better understanding and 
management of this risk in Mizuho EMEA portfolios.

B
us

in
es

s 
ris

k

The risk that revenues do not cover costs 
because of the earnings situation or because 
the efficiency or effectiveness of the Company’s 
business operation has deteriorated. This risk 
has been identified as an idiosyncratic risk of a 
significant decline to earnings resulting from an 
adverse scenario considering macroeconomic, 
geopolitical, industry, regulatory or other factors.

This risk is addressed through forward-looking stress 
testing and managed through the development of credible 
management actions to mitigate the impact of an adverse 
scenario and holding of sufficient capital to support the  
residual impact post-management actions of the most  
adverse scenarios.

Description How risk is managed

C
on

du
ct

 ri
sk

The risk that actions undertaken by the 
Group may lead to customer detriment 
or have an adverse effect on market 
integrity, including with regards to 
financial crime.

The Group identifies, manages and mitigates conduct risk through 
its conduct risk management framework. Whilst the Head of Legal & 
Compliance has overall responsibility for oversight of this framework, 
senior managers and staff are responsible for conduct risk management 
within their own business areas.

Conduct risk is managed through a variety of means, which encompass 
clear communication of expected values, objective setting, articulation 
of policy, certification processes, training, conduct risk assessment, 
monitoring, reporting and appraisal processes.

The Group has established a Code of Conduct which clearly articulates 
expectations and provides guidance with regard to conduct matters. 
The Group’s objective setting, appraisal and remuneration processes are 
designed to incentivise good conduct and to discourage poor conduct.

Conduct risk is subject to independent oversight provided by the Chair 
of the EMEA Audit & Compliance Committee which receives regular 
updates with regard to significant conduct risk matters and reviews key 
conduct risk metrics.

R
ep

ut
at

io
n 

ris
k

Risk to reputation arises from negative 
perception on the part of stakeholders 
that can adversely affect the Group’s 
ability to maintain existing, or 
establish new business relationships 
and continued access to sources of 
funding and liquidity. This could be as 
a direct result of poor or inappropriate 
execution of business activities, 
staff behaviour or external factors 
such as false information or market 
rumours. Stakeholders include clients, 
counterparties, shareholders, investors, 
debtholders, market analysts, suppliers, 
and regulators.

Reputation risk is considered when entering new products and markets, 
when executing specific transactions, when exiting business lines 
or customer groups, and when assessing the suitability of business 
partners, for example outsourcing arrangements.

Staff behaviour is guided by the Group’s values and codified through a 
Code of Conduct.

The Group has a well-established policy and framework for identifying, 
assessing and managing reputation risk. The framework defines 
the Group’s governance arrangements, responsibilities of staff, and 
escalation paths in the event of actual or potential damage to the 
Group’s reputation. Compliance with the policy is attested to annually  
by staff.

Fr
au

d 
ris

k

Fraud is an intentional act by one or 
more individuals among management, 
those charged with governance, 
employees, or third parties, involving 
the use of deception to obtain an unjust 
or illegal advantage.

The Group aims to ensure that fraud and corruption are reduced to the 
lowest possible risk and that, should they occur, are dealt with in a firm 
and controlled manner.

The Group has an Anti-Fraud Policy which sets out roles and 
responsibilities of specific departments in combating fraud; the Policy  
is attested to annually by staff.

The Group has controls designed to prevent and, where prevention is 
not possible, to detect fraud. The design and operating effectiveness 
of controls is reviewed regularly and reported to senior management 
together with assessments on the level of risk.

There are defined processes for escalating and investigating cases of 
actual or suspected fraudulent activity.

M
od

el
 ri

sk

The potential for adverse consequences 
resulting from misinformed decision 
making based on inappropriate or 
misused models.

Risk management as a second line of defence conducts independent 
model validation reviews covering tests for conceptual soundness 
of the methodology, quality and appropriateness of inputs, model 
implementation, accuracy of outputs and downstream reports and 
appropriateness of model usage.

The validation review covers Model limitations and corresponding 
actions to mitigate identified risks, are tracked to completion by the 
EMEA Market, Methodology & Model Risk Committee as part of  
ongoing monitoring.

Risk Review Risk Review



•	 �Environmental & Social  
Policy for Financing & 
Investment Activities

•	 �Anti-Greenwashing 
Framework

•	 �Inform strategic planning  
and client engagement

•	 �Identify material risks in 
the portfolio

•	 �Quantify potential  
risk impact

•	 �Set material thresholds 
based on quantified results

•	 �Define Key Risk Indicators

•	 �Follow up material risks 
with a risk response

•	 �Regular climate  
stress testing

•	 �Portfolio-level risk 
parameters monitoring

•	 �Counterparty-level  
risk assessment in  
due diligence

Integration of Climate Risk into Mizuho Risk Management Cycle

Climate risk 
considerations

Business 
Strategy

Identify risk

Assess risk
Risk appetite  
& response

Monitor & 
report risk
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A number of risks have also been identified which 
require closer senior management scrutiny and 
could cause disruption to delivery of the Group’s 
strategy, material deviation of financial results 
or financial condition from the Group’s business 
plan. These are typically emerging risks which 
have more uncertain components, with the 
impact crystallising over a longer time frame. 
Additionally, there may also be exacerbating 
factors which are beyond the Group’s control 
which fall within this category of uncertainties 
such as geopolitical risks and black swan events.

Risks and relevant uncertainties are discussed and 
monitored at EMEA Risk Management Committee 
meetings and other forums, attended by members 
of the EMEA Executive Committee. For particularly 
impactful breaking news and events, management 
adopt an agile approach to managing the events 
as they unfurl, with executive management 
monitoring key metrics and dashboards daily, and 
convening at short notice for regular catch-ups to 
ensure downside risks are proactively managed.

Assessment of Climate-related risks 

The Group assesses climate-related risks  
in two stages; firstly, by considering the 
transmission channels of both transition  
and physical risk into traditional risk types,  
then secondly, by undertaking a materiality 
assessment incorporating different timeframes, 
and the likelihood and potential impact of  
these risks crystallising. 

Consideration of Financial Risks from Climate Change 

Principal Risk Key Consideration

Credit Risk

Risk Management addresses climate risk in two key ways:

•	 �At the counterparty level, by incorporating ESG and specifically Climate risk assessment both at the 
outset of relationships (e.g., for derivatives and financing clients) and throughout ongoing reviews.

•	 �At the portfolio level, by assigning a Transition Risk classification to all issuers within the Company’s 
inventory, with particular attention to sectors deemed high risk. The portfolio is reviewed regularly, 
and actions are considered if exposure to high-risk sectors becomes material.

Market Risk

As part of our efforts to understand the transmission channels from climate risks to financial risks, we 
have examined the impact of three scenarios based on the Network for Greening the Financial System 
(NGFS) Climate scenarios. Included in the scenario analysis is physical and transition risk, based on 
both country and sector of our exposures. Climate stress testing outputs are monitored regularly as part 
of an ESG Dashboard which is presented to the relevant governance committees.

Operational Risk Climate risk is embedded within the operational risk framework, ensuring it is assessed alongside 
reputational, regulatory and compliance risks.

Reputational Risk

A Mizuho EMEA level anti-greenwashing framework has been implemented in FY2024 to ensure 
consistent application of robust standards across Mizuho EMEA, including the Group, when 
underwriting or conducting sustainable finance transactions.

All other reputational risks associated with climate change would be embedded with the Reputational 
Risk Framework.

A review of the qualitative ESG risk materiality 
assessment was conducted by the Group in 
FY24/25, as part of the Mizuho EMEA ESG risk 
materiality assessment, covering the full spectrum 
of ESG risks (including climate change-related), 
different timeframes, as well as all traditional 
risk types. In light of the Group’s business model 
and portfolio, most ESG risks emerged as having 
negligible or limited materiality for the Group. 
Among these, all climate-related risks across 
transition and physical risk are perceived to have 
a greater (yet still limited) impact on a long-term 
timeframe than in the short and medium term.

To supplement the qualitative climate-related 
risk assessment, a quantitative assessment 
was undertaken to measure and illustrate the 
potential transition impact on market risk under 
different climate scenarios and business risk 
based upon the Group’s exposure to entities 
considered the most vulnerable to climate-
related risks. Enhancements, including an 
extension of the current quantitative component 
to the climate risk materiality assessment to 
other risk types, are currently underway.

Risk Review Risk Review
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3.  Risk Control and Mitigation
As an overarching risk control, the Group operates 
a three lines of defence model to manage all risks.

Business and support functions which originate 
or accept risk are held responsible for the 
management and control of that risk in line  
with risk appetite, supporting limit framework  
and other related risk policies. 

Risk control functions provide the second  
line of defence by exercising independent 
oversight of the management of risk by  
those originating functions.

Risk limits

The Group’s risk controls are implemented in line 
with the risk appetite statement by setting various 
risk limits and policies owned by the Board 
which are cascaded down to more granular and 
specific limits which are owned by delegated risk 
management authorities.

Mitigation techniques

Risk exposures are managed by business and 
support functions using a range of techniques 
relevant to the individual risk class. Such 
techniques encompass market-based hedging 
activities, credit risk mitigation techniques, 
diversification of funding sources and tenor, 
business continuity planning and the purchase  
of insurance.

Key Risk Indicators, Risk Monitoring and Reporting

Risk control limits and key risk indicators are 
established to ensure that risk exposures remain 
within specified levels, and that the Group is 
able to operate in accordance with its overall risk 
appetite. A comprehensive limit framework is 
maintained by risk class, with defined levels of 
authorisation to ensure that risk exposure levels 
are authorised and monitored at the appropriate 
level within the Group’s governance hierarchy. 

Reporting of risk exposures in relation to risk 
limits, and more broadly with regards to trends 
in the Group’s risk profile and emerging risks, 
is performed by the Risk Management function 
(and by the Compliance function with regards to 
conduct related matters). Reporting is conducted 
in relation to all principal risk factors, and is 
designed to enable effective governance of the 
Group’s risk profile. In particular, the Board and 
the Board Risk and Sustainability Committee are 
regularly informed of the Group’s risk exposures 
and compliance with risk limits.

In addition to monitoring current risk exposures, 
the Group also monitors potential future adverse 
developments by establishing entity-specific early 
warning indicators whose breach may indicate 
deterioration in the capital and liquidity strength. 
Monitoring and reporting the status of these 
early warning indicators forms part of Group’s 
contingency planning arrangements.

For most risk metrics and limits, exposures are 
monitored daily by automated processes to 
support timely management information that 
includes a daily risk report to the CEO and CRO 
and regular risk reports to the EMEA Executive 
Committee, EMEA Risk Management Committee 
and MHI Board Risk and Sustainability Committee 
at each meeting. This includes details of the 
Group’s climate-related risk exposures which, 
has been produced based on detailed entity-level 
assessments allowing for differentiation between 
entities located in the same country or operating 
in the same sector but with different climate risk 
profiles and transition paths. 

The Group remains committed to supporting 
broader Mizuho Financial Group initiatives on 
climate risk mentioned in the Strategic Report, 
and to contribute positively to any organisational 
targets which may be allocated or developed for 
EMEA in future.

Risk Review Risk Review
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Strategy and planning

The Group conducts formal business planning 
on an annual basis, through which the Board’s 
strategic objectives are developed into detailed 
business plans. Commercial objectives and 
plans are established for all significant business 
lines, and from these financial projections are 
developed, which take account of expected 
macro-economic and market conditions.

The Group risk appetite is also formally 
reviewed on an annual basis as part of the 
business planning cycle, to ensure that business 
strategy and risk management activities are 
aligned. Business plans are also reviewed 
by Risk Management to ensure that planned 
developments are achievable given the Group’s 
risk management capabilities, and to form a view 
with regard to the balance of risk and reward 
attributable to planned activities.

Within its business planning activities, the Group 
also conducts capital planning to ensure that an 
appropriate balance between capital resources 
and capital requirements is maintained through 
the planning cycle. 

Under the Pillar 2 framework, the Group 
conducts an internal evaluation of its risks and 
capital requirements under severe but plausible 
scenarios and holds additional capital as a buffer 
to ensure that its minimum capital requirements 
can be met at all times. Stress scenarios are 
developed and maintained in the EMEA CIB 
repository, and are subject to review and approval 
for use by the EMEA Stress Testing Committee. 

Climate stress testing and scenario analysis

As in prior years, the Group’s efforts to 
understand transmission of climate risks to 
financial risks are examined through three 
scenarios based on the NGFS Climate scenarios. 
For FY24/25, the configuration of these NGFS 
scenarios have been further refined to provide 
more accurate market shocks, utilising both 
country and sector level inputs. Furthermore, the 
short-term scenarios recently released by ISDA 
have been used to validate the shocks applied 
the NGFS scenarios. The calibration of these 
scenarios ensures they are more applicable and 
relevant to the Group. The main assumptions for 
each of the scenarios assessed is summarised 
in the adjacent infographic. A description of the 
scenario analysis performed and the key results 
(rounded to nearest £m) is also provided. The 
results indicate that the impact on the Group’s 
capital base and business model is low to 
negligible, with a Disorderly transition scenario 
likely to result in a loss of (£15m) and a Hot House 
world scenario likely to result in a loss of (£7m).

At this stage, climate stress testing and scenario 
analysis has been useful for establishing a 
baseline of expected impact under each of the 
three climate scenarios and to identify gaps  
within the climate stress testing and scenario 
analysis framework. Enhancements are expected 
to be progressed in concert with other global 
Mizuho initiatives to ensure alignment across  
the broader group.

Adequacy of risk management arrangements

The Group assesses the adequacy of its risk 
management framework and of the amount of 
capital and liquidity that it needs to hold in respect 
of its risk profile on an annual basis, or more 
frequently if required. This assessment is formally 
documented within the Group’s ICAAP and ILAAP, 
and is approved by the MHI Board.

The most recent ICAAP and ILAAP exercises 
concluded that the risk management 
arrangements adopted by both entities were 
adequate in relation to their risk profile and 
strategy. Further, through its risk management 

Stress Testing

Stress testing and scenario analysis are an 
important part of the Group’s business planning 
and risk management process. Primarily used for 
assessing threats to the Group’s business plan 
on a forward looking basis, it is also used in the 
assessment of internal capital for market risk and, 
in the case of reverse stress testing, to identify 
scenarios that would render the Group’s business 
model unviable.

As part of its capital planning framework, the 
Group utilises stress tests to ensure that it is 
able to maintain a sound financial position in 
the event of severe economic stress. Stress 
tests are developed based on potential future 
scenarios, selected in light of the Group’s risk 
profile and plausible future market and economic 
developments. Stress tests are conducted so as to 
apply selected scenarios in a consistent manner 
to the market, credit and liquidity risks to which 
the Group is exposed and to take account of any 
concentrations of exposure.

Orderly transition

< 2° C
Disorderly transition

< 2° C
Hot House World

towards 4° C

Planned enhancements:

•	 �Increase granularity of 
analysis to align with risk 
exposure measurement  
(by entity).

•	 �Adapt short-term scenarios 
more relevant to the  
Group’s business.

•	 �Harmonising approaches 
with other Mizuho entities. 

•	 �Global policy action in 2020s

•	 �Energy use growth  
slows  slowed GHG 
emissions growth

•	 Net zero before 2070

•	 �Repricing risk from changes 
in investor expectations and 
investment criteria

•	 �Environmentally-friendly 
sectors and regions benefiting 
from transitions.

•	 �Sudden implementation of 
much stricter policies

•	 �Sudden decrease in energy 
use and GHG emission at the 
expense of global economy to 
meet the target

•	 �Much higher repricing risk for 
high transition risk sectors

•	 �Financial markets turmoil 
from risky asset sell-off and 
inflationary effect.

•	 �Governments fail to introduce 
policies to curb temperature 
increase

•	 �Increased global heating leads to 
more physical risks materialising

•	 �Significant impacts on high 
physical risk countries. 

•	 �Disruptions of supply chain and 
increased corporate defaults 
would exacerbate market 
sentiments and financials.

Summary of FY24/25 
results and analysis: 
 
Climate stress testing outputs 
are monitored regularly as 
part of the Risk section of the 
ESG Dashboard, and included 
in the material presented 
to EMEA Risk Management 
Committee and the MHI 
Board Risk and Sustainability 
Committee.

•	 �This scenario tends to produce 
a positive stress impact; this 
has been noted throughout 
the year. 

•	 �Scenario assumes minimal 
market shocks due to orderly 
nature of transition, giving  
rise to a relatively mild  
stress scenario.

•	 �Revised configuration of 
scenario currently in progress, 
with implementation of new 
configurations for Disorderly 
transition and Hot House  
World prioritised due to  
level of impact.

•	 �Scenario produced negative 
stress impact at year end 
however, this scenario tends 
to vary between positive and 
negative stress impact.

•	 �The variability in results is 
driven by composition of 
portfolio and exposure to 
high transition risk sectors at 
reference date of analysis.

•	 �Typically this scenario tends  
to produce the largest negative 
stress impacts in comparison to 
the other scenarios, due  
to the central assumption of  
no transition. 

Effect on country and sector exposures

More transition risk More physical risk

Risk Review Risk Review
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framework, risk appetite and limit framework, 
independent reviews and ongoing programme of 
enhancements, the Company and its subsidiary 
confirm that their risk management is effective.

4.  Market Risk
Risk analysis – trading financial instruments

The Group measures and manages the market 
risk in its trading portfolios through position and 
sensitivity limits, as well as profit and loss and 
Value at Risk (“VaR”) limits, and stress testing 
limits. These limits and risk policies are approved 
by the delegated risk management authorities 
as defined in the Group’s risk management 
framework. In addition, the Group has total VaR 
and Market Risk and Credit Risk Capital limits  
set by MHSC. Furthermore, the Group market  
risk appetite stress test and VaR limits are  
subject to approval by the Board Risk and 
Sustainability Committee. 

The Group ensures compliance with the Volcker 
rule by conducting relevant controls and 
monitoring of metrics implemented in the Group’s 
three lines of defence model in accordance with 
the Group’s business desk designation.

Stress Testing

Stress testing is an essential component of 
the tools used for managing risk within the 
organisation and provides information regarding 
risks borne by the Group. This assists senior 
management in understanding the potential 
impact of stress events on its business strategy 
and its available capital resources. 

2025 31 March 2025 Average Maximum Minimum 

VaR Risk Factor £ thousands £ thousands £ thousands £ thousands

Interest Rate 1,751 1,453 2,159 846

Credit Spread 2,829 2,847 5,598 1,374

Equity 144  132 460 17

FX Risk  93 110 534 16

Total VaR1 3,043 2,845 4,875 1,731

2024 31 March 2024 Average Maximum Minimum 

VaR Risk Factor £ thousands £ thousands £ thousands £ thousands

Interest Rate 1,319 1,323 2,217 851

Credit Spread 3,710 2,267 4,115 1,179

Equity 88 107 689 17

FX Risk 55 47 145 4

Total VaR1 3,417 2,425 3,580 1,521

Explanatory note on VaR Risk Factor
1.	 The total VaR shown in the tables above is not a sum of the component risks due to offsets between them.

Stress scenarios from the EMEA CIB repository 
are used, with the most relevant scenario for 
current market outlook and concerns set as the 
risk appetite stress scenario. 

Value at Risk (“VaR”)

VaR is a statistical measure that produces an 
estimate of the potential decrease in the market 
value of a portfolio over a specified time horizon 
at a given confidence level under normal market 
conditions. The Group’s VaR is calculated on a 
daily basis and assumes a time horizon of one 
day and a confidence level of 99 per cent.  
Regular back testing of VaR is conducted to  
ensure effectiveness of the VaR model and  
its assumptions. 

A summary of the daily VaR and risk statistics 
for the trading portfolios, based on a 99 per cent 
confidence level and a one-day time horizon, 
segregated by type of market risk, is presented 
below for the Group (Note: There is no material 
difference between Group and Company numbers 
and therefore the Company numbers have not 
been presented separately):

Sensitivity analysis – non trading  
financial instruments

Currency risk sensitivity

The Group’s foreign currency loans and advances 
to banks and customers and investments are 
funded in matched currencies, and in addition 
funding raised from debt security issuance is also 
used to support trading activities on a matched 
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currency basis. Foreign currency derivatives are 
used when required to swap between relevant 
asset and liability currencies. Consequently no 
significant currency exposure arises on non-
trading book activities.

Interest rate risk sensitivity (Audited)

The Group’s non trading books comprise assets 
and liabilities which are not held or issued for 
trading purposes. These include the raising and 
provision of funding to support the Group’s 
trading activities, acceptance of customer 
deposits and investment activities. Funding and 
deposit taking activity, including related derivative 

hedging, is conducted in such a manner as to 
minimise, where possible, interest rate risk.

The Group’s market risk profile is reviewed  
at the EMEA Risk Management Committee  
and also periodically reviewed by the Market, 
Methodology and Model Risk Committee, the 
EMEA Executive Committee and the Board  
Risk and Sustainability Committee.

The tables below summarise the interest rate 
sensitivity gaps within the Group’s non trading 
book. Items are allocated to time bands by 
reference to the earlier of the next contractual 
interest rate re-pricing or the maturity date.

2025

Less than  
3 months 
£ millions

3-6 months  
£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions
1-5 years 

£ millions

Over 5 
years  

£ millions

Non 
interest 
bearing  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

Cash and balances  
at central banks 115.5 - - - - - 115.5

Loans and advances  
to banks 60.2 - - - - - 60.2

Loans and advances  
to customers - - - - - - -

Reverse repurchase 
agreements with customers 50.0 - - 248.6 - - 298.6

Equity shares – other financial 
investments - - - - - 1.2 1.2

Shares in group undertakings - - - - - 17.6 17.6

Other assets 481.8 - - - - 64.3 546.1

Prepayments and  
accrued income - - - - - 106.7 106.7

Assets 707.5 - - 248.6 - 189.8 1,145.9

Deposits by banks 446.3 232.4 - - - - 678.7

Customer accounts 473.5 - - - - - 473.5

Repurchase Agreements  
with Banks 50.0 - - 232.0 - - 282.0

Debt securities in issue 522.0 244.9 253.8 242.0 41.4 - 1,304.1

Other liabilities 326.3 - - - - 24.2 350.5

Accruals and deferred income - - - - - 148.9 148.9

Provisions for liabilities - - - - - 0.2 0.2

Shareholders’ funds - - - - - 773.5 773.5

Liabilities and Equity 1,818.1 477.3 253.8 474.0 41.4 946.8 4,011.4

Off balance sheet items1 (664.9) 228.2 153.3 242.0 41.4 - -

Interest rate sensitivity gap (1,775.5) (249.1) (100.5) 16.6 - (757.0) (2,865.5)

Cumulative gap (1,775.5) (2,024.6) (2,125.1) (2,108.5) (2,108.5) (2,865.5) (2,865.5)

Group (Audited)

2024

Less than  
3 months 
£ millions

3-6 months  
£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions
1-5 years 

£ millions

Over 5 
years  

£ millions

Non 
interest 
bearing  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

Cash and balances  
at central banks 328.5 - - - - - 328.5

Loans and advances  
to banks 47.1 - - - - - 47.1

Reverse repurchase 
agreements with customers - - 92.9 22.7 - - 115.6

Equity shares – other financial 
investments - - - - - 3.4 3.4

Shares in group undertakings - - - - - 13.2 13.2

Other assets 802.9 - - - - 79.4 882.3

Prepayments and  
accrued income - - - - - 56.6 56.6

Assets 1,178.5 - 92.9 22.7 - 152.6 1,446.7

Deposits by banks 281.6 237.5 - - - - 519.1

Customer accounts 703.5 4.0 - - - - 707.5

Repurchase Agreements  
with Banks - - 87.4 18.4 - - 105.8

Debt securities in issue 786.9 217.9 47.0 314.1 41.9 - 1,407.8

Other liabilities 615.0 - - - - 16.3 631.3

Accruals and deferred income - - - - - 106.6 106.6

Provisions for liabilities - - - - - 3.1 3.1

Shareholders’ funds - - - - - 720.7 720.7

Liabilities and Equity 2,387.0 459.4 134.4 332.5 41.9 846.7 4,201.9

Off balance sheet items1 (543.9) 140.9 47.0 314.1 41.9 - -

Interest rate sensitivity gap (1,752.4) (318.5) 5.5 4.3 - (694.1) (2,755.2)

Cumulative gap (1,752.4) (2,070.9) (2,065.4) (2,061.1) (2,061.1) (2,755.2) (2,755.2)

Group (Audited)
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Company (Audited)

2025

Less than  
3 months 
£ millions

3-6 months  
£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions
1-5 years 

£ millions

Over 5 
years  

£ millions

Non 
interest 
bearing  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

Cash and balances  
at central banks 115.5 - - - - - 115.5

Loans and advances to banks 35.3 - - - - - 35.3

Loans and advances  
to customers 21.2 - - - - - 21.2

Reverse Repurchase 
agreements with customers 50.0 - - 248.6 - - 298.6

Equity shares – other financial 
investments - - - - - 1.1 1.1

Shares in group undertakings - - - - - 50.4 50.4

Other assets 480.9 - - - - 52.4 533.3

Prepayments and  
accrued income - - - - - 95.0 95.0

Assets 702.9 - - 248.6 - 198.9 1,150.4

Deposits by banks 446.3 232.4 - - - - 678.7

Customer accounts 487.5 - - - - - 487.5

Repurchase agreements  
with Banks 50.0 - - 232.0 - - 282.0

Debt securities in issue 522.0 244.9 253.8 242.0 41.4 - 1,304.1

Other liabilities 326.3 - - - - 16.3 342.6

Accruals and deferred income - - - - - 124.3 124.3

Provisions for liabilities - - - - - 0.1 0.1

Shareholders’ funds - - - - - 758.8 758.8

Liabilities and Equity 1,832.1 477.3 253.8 474.0 41.4 899.5 3,978.1

Off balance sheet items1 (664.9) 228.2 153.3 242.0 41.4 - -

Interest rate sensitivity gap (1,794.1) (249.1) (100.5) 16.6 - (700.6) (2,827.7)

Cumulative gap (1,794.1) (2,043.2) (2,143.7) (2,127.1) (2,127.1) (2,827.7) (2,827.7)

Company (Audited)

2024

Less than  
3 months 
£ millions

3-6 months  
£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions
1-5 years 

£ millions

Over 5 
years  

£ millions

Non 
interest 
bearing  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

Cash and balances  
at central banks 328.5 - - - - - 328.5

Loans and advances to banks 38.7 - - - - - 38.7

Loans and advances  
to customers 31.9 - - - - - 31.9

Reverse Repurchase 
agreements with customers - - 92.9 22.7 - - 115.6

Equity shares – other financial 
investments - - - - - 3.4 3.4

Shares in group undertakings - - - - - 47.0 47.0

Other assets 802.8 - - - - 79.3 882.1

Prepayments and  
accrued income - - - - - 60.0 60.0

Assets 1,201.9 - 92.9 22.7 - 189.7 1,507.2

Deposits by banks 280.7 237.5 - - - - 518.2

Customer accounts 704.5 4.0 - - - - 708.5

Repurchase agreements  
with Banks - - 87.4 18.4 - - 105.8

Debt securities in issue 786.9 217.9 47.0 314.1 41.9 - 1,407.8

Other liabilities 635.8 - - - - 16.9 652.7

Accruals and deferred income - - - - - 102.0 102.0

Provisions for liabilities - - - - - 2.9 2.9

Shareholders’ funds - - - - - 716.7 716.7

Liabilities and Equity 2,407.9 459.4 134.4 332.5 41.9 838.5 4,214.6

Off balance sheet items1 (543.9) 140.9 47.0 314.1 41.9 - -

Interest rate sensitivity gap (1,749.9) (318.5) 5.5 4.3 - (648.8) (2,707.4)

Cumulative gap (1,749.9) (2,068.4) (2,062.9) (2,058.6) (2,058.6) (2,707.4) (2,707.4)

Explanatory note on interest rate sensitivity
1.	 �Off balance sheet items:  

Where interest rate swaps are hedging debt securities in issue with greater than three months’ maturity, the notional of these swaps has been 
disclosed as an off balance sheet item banded with reference to its next floating rate reset date, to reflect the true sensitivity of the Group to 
interest rate risk on these structures.
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Group (Audited)

2025

Maximum 
exposure  
£ millions

Collateral1 
£ million

Netting2 
£ millions

Net exposure  
to credit risk  

£ millions

On-balance sheet:

Cash and balances at central banks 115.5 - - 115.5

Loans and advances to banks 60.2 - - 60.2

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with banks 4,055.8 (4,054.1) (0.1) 1.6

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with customers 4,587.1 (4,586.2) - 0.9

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,644.9 - - 5,644.9

Derivative assets 8,520.1 (244.7) (8,272.3) 3.1

Trade receivables 516.5 (9.1) (203.8) 303.6

Total on-balance sheet 23,500.1 (8,894.1) (8,476.2) 6,129.8

Off-balance sheet:

Credit lines and other commitments3 33.6 (33.5) - 0.1

Total off-balance sheet 33.6 (33.5) - 0.1

Total 23,533.7 (8,927.6) (8,476.2) 6,129.8

Group (Audited)

2024

Maximum 
exposure  
£ millions

Collateral1 
£ million

Netting2 
£ millions

Net exposure  
to credit risk  

£ millions

On-balance sheet:

Cash and balances at central banks 328.5 - - 328.5

Loans and advances to banks 47.1 - - 47.1

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with banks 5,131.0 (5,115.8) - 15.2

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with customers 3,059.6 (3,057.4) - 2.2

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,463.7 - - 5,463.7

Derivative assets 9,707.7 (419.0) (9,239.7) 49.0

Trade receivables 872.0 (164.8) (282.9) 424.3

Total on-balance sheet 24,609.6 (8,757.0) (9,522.6) 6,330.0

Off-balance sheet:

Credit lines and other commitments3 115.7 (115.6) - 0.1

Total off-balance sheet 115.7 (115.6) - 0.1

Total 24,725.3 (8,872.6) (9,522.6) 6,330.1

5.  Credit Risk
Maximum exposure and effects of collateral and other credit enhancements (Audited)

The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets, including derivatives, recognised on the 
Statement of Financial Position is typically the carrying amount and is represented on the table below 
which analyses maximum exposure to credit risk by asset class, representing credit risk arising from 
counterparty default.

The maximum exposure is shown gross of the use of master netting and collateral agreements unless such 
credit enhancements meet the offsetting requirements as set out in Note 3A of the Notes to the Financial 
Statements section.
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Company (Audited)

2025

Maximum 
exposure  
£ millions

Collateral1 
£ million

Netting2 
£ millions

Net exposure  
to credit risk  

£ millions

On-balance sheet:

Cash and balances at central banks 115.5 - - 115.5

Loans and advances to banks 35.3 - - 35.3

Loans and advances to customers 21.2 - - 21.2

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with banks 4,055.8 (4,054.1) (0.1) 1.6

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with customers 4,587.1 (4,586.2) - 0.9

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,607.4 - - 5,607.4

Derivative assets 8,520.1 (244.7) (8,272.3) 3.1

Trade receivables 515.6 (9.1) (203.8) 302.7

Total on-balance sheet 23,458.0 (8,894.1) (8,476.2) 6,087.7

Off-balance sheet:

Credit lines and other commitments3 33.6 (33.5) - 0.1

Total off-balance sheet 33.6 (33.5) - 0.1

Total 23,491.6 (8,927.6) (8,476.2) 6,087.8

Company (Audited)

2024

Maximum 
exposure  
£ millions

Collateral1 
£ million

Netting2 
£ millions

Net exposure  
to credit risk  

£ millions

On-balance sheet:

Cash and balances at central banks 328.5 - - 328.5

Loans and advances to banks 38.7 - - 38.7

Loans and advances to customers 31.9 - - 31.9

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with banks 5,088.6 (5,078.2) - 10.4

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with customers 3,098.3 (3,091.2) - 7.1

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,252.0 - - 5,252.0

Derivative assets 9,706.6 (419.0) (9,239.7) 47.9

Trade receivables 873.7 (164.8) (282.9) 426.0

Total on-balance sheet 24,418.3 (8,752.7) (9,522.6) 6,143.0

Off-balance sheet:

Credit lines and other commitments3 115.7 (115.6) - 0.1

Total off-balance sheet 115.7 (115.6) - 0.1

Total 24,534.0 (8,868.3) (9,522.6) 6,143.1

Explanatory notes on collateral and other enhancements obtained
1.	 �Collateral received:  

Collateral received in the form of securities or cash in respect of reverse repurchase transactions, derivative transactions under relevant credit 
support agreements, and from a related party under a collateralised funding arrangement is shown above within Collateral.

2.	 �Netting and set-off:  
The impact of netting and set-off under legally enforceable master netting agreements is disclosed within Netting above, and is calculated 
after taking account of the effect of collateral described above as well as netting posted on the balance sheet in accordance with FRS102. The 
amount shown under Maximum exposure is after FRS 102 netting.

3.	 �Credit lines and other commitments 
Off-balance sheet balance includes a reverse repo commitment where the Group’s maximum exposure is represented by the contractual 
principal amount of the commitment. Were this commitment to be drawn down, the counterparty would be expected to post collateral at least 
equal to the contractual principal amount and this is reflected as such in the collateral balance.
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Group (Audited)

2025
Government  

£ millions

Other  
public sector  

£ millions
Other  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

France 129.7 65.8 100.5 296.0

Germany 232.0 265.1 88.0 585.1

US 145.5 - 239.6 385.1

Japan 314.4 212.9 24.6 551.9

Italy 697.4 14.1 30.2 741.7

UK 112.2 11.8 220.8 344.8

Spain 88.7 0.6 32.1 121.4

Netherlands 6.7 85.3 59.3 151.3

Canada 94.0 54.1 123.0 271.1

Ireland - 5.2 216.2 221.4

Other 275.9 1,233.7 465.5 1,975.1

Total 2,096.5 1,948.6 1,599.8 5,644.9

2024
Government  

£ millions

Other  
public sector  

£ millions
Other  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

France 104.1 263.6 110.7 478.4

Germany 130.8 374.3 88.0 593.1

US 68.8 - 141.0 209.8

Japan 392.4 150.8 21.4 564.6

Italy 953.4 - 76.3 1,029.7

UK 47.7 0.3 177.3 225.3

Spain 30.5 0.9 10.5 41.9

Netherlands 6.7 35.1 66.5 108.3

Canada - 131.5 98.8 230.3

Other 228.9 1,072.5 680.9 1,982.3

Total 1,963.3 2,029.0 1,471.4 5,463.7

Company (Audited)

2025
Government  

£ millions

Other  
public sector  

£ millions
Other  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

France 118.0 65.8 100.5 284.3

Germany 232.0 265.1 88.0 585.1

US 145.5 - 239.6 385.1

Japan 314.0 212.9 24.6 551.5

Italy 697.4 14.1 30.2 741.7

UK 112.2 11.8 220.8 344.8

Spain 83.7 0.6 32.1 116.4

Netherlands - 85.3 59.3 144.6

Canada 94.0 54.1 123.0 271.1

Ireland - 5.2 216.2 221.4

Other 264.2 1,233.7 463.5 1,961.4

Total 2,061.0 1,948.6 1,597.8 5,607.4

2024
Government  

£ millions

Other  
public sector  

£ millions
Other  

£ millions
Total  

£ millions

France 88.7 263.6 109.4 461.7

Germany 119.1 374.3 88.0 581.4

US 68.8 - 141.0 209.8

Japan 392.4 150.8 21.4 564.6

Italy 794.8 - 76.3 871.1

UK 47.7 0.3 177.3 225.3

Spain 25.4 0.9 10.5 36.8

Netherlands - 35.1 66.5 101.6

Canada - 131.5 98.8 230.3

Other 217.0 1,072.5 679.9 1,969.4

Total 1,753.9 2,029.0 1,469.1 5,252.0

Concentrations of exposure to credit risk (Audited)

Concentrations of exposure to credit risk exist when a number of counterparties are engaged in  
similar activities or operate in the same geographical areas or industry sectors and have similar  
economic characteristics so that their ability to meet contractual obligations is similarly impacted by 
changes in economic, political or other conditions. Significant concentrations of exposure to credit  
risk are discussed below.

Reverse repurchase agreements

The Group’s repo trading activities give rise to counterparty risk exposures, which as noted above, are 
mitigated through the execution of netting agreements and the agreement of margin requirements such 
that net counterparty exposures are maintained at a low level. The largest counterparty exposure as at 31 
March 2025 totalled £0.3 million (2024: £15.9 million), and no remaining exposures exceeded £0.3 million 
(2024: £0.4 million).

Debt and other fixed income securities

The Group’s holdings of debt and other fixed income securities are diversified by issuer, geographic  
region and industry sector. A summary of the most significant geographic exposures by class of debt is 
given as follows:

Derivatives

The Group’s derivative trading activities give rise to counterparty risk exposures which as noted above 
are principally mitigated through the execution of netting agreements and the agreement of margin 
requirements. Total Counterparty exposure totalled £3.1 million as at 31 March 2025 (2024: £49.0 million) 
for the Group, and £3.1 million (2024: £47.9 million) for the Company. The largest individual counterparty 
exposure as at 31 March 2025 totalled £40.6 million (2024: £42.4 million). All exposures greater than 
£1 million were against investment grade-rated financial institutions, clearing houses or other Mizuho 
Financial Group subsidiaries. There have been no defaults historically against these counterparties. 
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Group (Audited)

2025 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 4.1 394.4 79.6 478.1

AA- to AA+ 1,520.8 292.2 241.7 2,054.7

A- to A+ 43.2 512.4 280.1 835.7

BBB+ to BBB- 123.0 96.3 200.1 419.4

BB+ to B- 141.3 61.1 65.5 267.9

Total 1,832.4 1,356.4 867.0 4,055.8

Company (Audited)

2025 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 4.1 394.4 79.6 478.1

AA- to AA+ 1,520.8 292.2 241.7 2,054.7

A- to A+ 43.2 512.4 280.1 835.7

BBB+ to BBB- 123.0 96.3 200.1 419.4

BB+ to B- 141.3 61.1 65.5 267.9

Total 1,832.4 1,356.4 867.0 4,055.8

Group (Audited)

2024 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 604.4 288.8 99.3 992.5

AA- to AA+ 1,934.1 66.1 105.1 2,105.3

A- to A+ 576.6 649.5 250.6 1,476.7

BBB+ to BBB- 186.1 88.9 137.9 412.9

BB+ to B- 27.3 59.8 56.5 143.6

Total 3,328.5 1,153.1 649.4 5,131.0

Company (Audited)

2024 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 562.0 288.8 99.3 950.1

AA- to AA+ 1,934.1 66.1 105.1 2,105.3

A- to A+ 576.6 649.5 250.6 1,476.7

BBB+ to BBB- 186.1 88.9 137.9 412.9

BB+ to B- 27.3 59.8 56.5 143.6

Total 3,286.1 1,153.1 649.4 5,088.6

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks

Credit quality (Audited)

The following table represents an analysis of the carrying value of reverse repurchase agreements based 
on the internal credit quality rating designation (or their equivalent) of the underlying collateral received. 
Where credit ratings for the underlying collateral are not available, the client credit rating may be used as 
a proxy. For debt and other securities, loans and advances balances and cash balances at central banks, 
external credit ratings are used. The internal credit ratings are derived from S&P, Moody’s and Fitch. For 
Japanese securities, the ratings can also be derived from Japanese rating agencies. For securities where 
external ratings are not available, the rating is internally calculated.
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Group (Audited)

2025 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 341.3 33.3 6.1 380.7

AA- to AA+ 3,802.6 - 3.3 3,805.9

A- to A+ - 1.5 15.2 16.7

BBB+ to BBB- - - 129.8 129.8

BB+ to B- - - 254.0 254.0

CCC+ to C - - - -

Total 4,143.9 34.8 408.4 4,587.1

2024 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 1,575.5 39.6 22.4 1,637.5

AA- to AA+ 1,055.4 - 4.2 1,059.6

A- to A+ 10.0 39.9 11.8 61.7

BBB+ to BBB- 106.2 5.5 128.5 240.2

BB+ to B- 41.8 2.3 12.9 57.0

CCC+ to C 3.6 - - 3.6

Total 2,792.5 87.3 179.8 3,059.6

Company (Audited)

2025 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 341.3 33.3 6.1 380.7

AA- to AA+ 3,802.6 - 3.3 3,805.9

A- to A+ - 1.5 15.2 16.7

BBB+ to BBB- - - 129.8 129.8

BB+ to B- - - 254.0 254.0

CCC+ to C - - - -

Total 4,143.9 34.8 408.4 4,587.1

2024 Government Bank Corporate Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

AAA 1,579.4 39.5 22.4 1,641.3

AA- to AA+ 1,056.1 - 4.2 1,060.3

A- to A+ 10.0 39.9 11.8 61.7

BBB+ to BBB- 140.4 5.5 128.5 274.4

BB+ to B- 41.8 2.3 12.9 57.0

CCC+ to C 3.6 - - 3.6

Total 2,831.3 87.2 179.8 3,098.3

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers
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Group (Audited)

2025 Debt and other 
fixed income 

securities 
£ millions

Loans and  
advances 
£ millions

Cash and balances 
at central banks 

£ millions

AAA 1,972.7 - -

AA- to AA+ 1,038.3 37.8 115.5

A- to A+ 1,203.8 21.1 -

BBB+ to BBB- 1,289.3 - -

BB+ to B- 135.5 - -

CCC+ to C 0.8 - -

Unrated 4.5 1.3 -

5,644.9 60.2 115.5

2024 Debt and other 
fixed income 

securities 
£ millions

Loans and  
advances 
£ millions

Cash and balances 
at central banks 

£ millions

AAA 1,662.4 - -

AA- to AA+ 1,155.6 21.3 328.5

A- to A+ 1,165.1 24.7 -

BBB+ to BBB- 1,340.8 - -

BB+ to B- 133.9 - -

CCC+ to C 1.1 - -

Unrated 4.8 1.1 -

5,463.7 47.1 328.5

Debt and other fixed income securities, Loans and advances and Cash and balances at central banks

Company (Audited)

2025 Debt and other 
fixed income 

securities 
£ millions

Loans and  
advances 
£ millions

Cash and balances 
at central banks 

£ millions

AAA 1,966.0 - -

AA- to AA+ 1,012.9 30.8 115.5

A- to A+ 1,198.4 24.6 -

BBB+ to BBB- 1,289.3 - -

BB+ to B- 135.5 - -

CCC+ to C 0.8 - -

Unrated 4.5 1.1 -

5,607.4 56.5 115.5

2024 Debt and other 
fixed income 

securities 
£ millions

Loans and  
advances 
£ millions

Cash and balances 
at central banks 

£ millions

AAA 1,643.9 - -

AA- to AA+ 1,128.4 16.5 328.5

A- to A+ 1,160.0 53.0 -

BBB+ to BBB- 1,180.0 - -

BB+ to B- 133.9 - -

CCC+ to C 1.1 - -

Unrated 4.7 1.1 -

5,252.0 70.6 328.5

Debt and other fixed income securities, Loans and advances and Cash and balances at central banks

Risk Review Risk Review
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6.  Liquidity Risk

Residual contractual maturity of financial liabilities (Audited)

The tables below summarises the maturity profile of the financial liabilities:

2025
Carrying 
Amount  

£ millions

Contractual 
Amount  

£ millions

Repayable 
on demand 

£ millions

Less than 
three months  

£ millions

3-6 
months  

£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions

1-5 
years 

£ millions

Over  
5 years  

£ millions

Financial 
liabilities:
Deposits by 
banks  678.7  678.7  9.8  47.2  316.1  87.9  217.7  -   

Customer 
accounts  473.5  473.5  -    473.5  -    -   -   -  

Repurchase 
agreements 
with banks

 4,580.9  4,586.9  775.9  2,665.5  -   183.5  962.0  -  

Repurchase 
agreements 
with customers

 4,078.0  4,079.3  96.7  3,982.6  -   -   -   -  

Debt securities  
in issue  1,292.3  1,304.0  -   159.1  370.5  287.2  445.8  41.4 

Short positions1  2,889.1  2,976.3  1,304.8  1,671.5  -   -   -   -  
Derivative 
liabilities2  8,548.4  8,548.8  -   84.5  117.7  291.4  3,378.2  4,677.0 

Trade payables  356.8  356.8  -   356.8  -   -   -   -  
Accruals 
and deferred 
income3

 107.6  223.7  -   112.3  7.6  12.6  88.4  2.8 

 23,005.3  23,228.0  2,187.2  9,553.0  811.9  862.6  5,092.1  4,721.2 

Group (Audited)

2024
Carrying 
Amount  

£ millions

Contractual 
Amount  

£ millions

Repayable 
on demand 

£ millions

Less than 
three months  

£ millions

3-6 
months  

£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions

1-5 
years 

£ millions

Over  
5 years  

£ millions

Financial 
liabilities:
Deposits by 
banks  519.1  519.1  0.9  52.6  237.5  -  228.1  - 

Customer 
accounts  707.5  707.5  -  703.5  4.0  -  -  - 

Repurchase 
agreements 
with banks

 3,769.7  3,779.9  1,509.5  1,477.3  64.1  107.2  621.8  - 

Repurchase 
agreements 
with customers

 3,425.7  3,424.2  61.2  3,263.0  100.0  -  -  - 

Debt securities  
in issue  1,395.0  1,407.7  -  512.1  217.3  68.4  567.5  42.4 

Short positions1  3,925.7  2,516.5  1,097.1  1,419.4  -  -  -  - 
Derivative 
liabilities2  9,603.3  9,603.7  -  171.6  210.0  205.4  3,695.8  5,320.9 

Trade payables  642.8  642.8  -  642.8  -  -  -  - 
Accruals 
and deferred 
income3

 136.8  227.7  -  139.7  10.4  13.8  60.4  3.4 

 24,125.6  22,829.1  2,668.7  8,382.0  843.3  394.8  5,173.6  5,366.7 

Group (Audited)

2025
Carrying 
Amount  

£ millions

Contractual 
Amount  

£ millions

Repayable 
on demand 

£ millions

Less than 
three months  

£ millions

3-6 
months  

£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions

1-5 
years 

£ millions

Over  
5 years  

£ millions

Financial 
liabilities:
Deposits by 
banks  678.7  678.7  9.8  47.2  316.1  87.9  217.7  -  

Customer 
accounts  487.5  487.4  13.9  473.5  -   -   -   -  

Repurchase 
agreements 
with banks

 4,580.9  4,586.9  775.9  2,665.5  -   183.5  962.0  -  

Repurchase 
agreements 
with customers

 4,078.0  4,079.3  96.7  3,982.6  -   -   -   -  

Debt securities  
in issue  1,292.3  1,304.0  -   159.1  370.5  287.2  445.8  41.4 

Short positions1  2,889.1  2,976.3  1,304.8  1,671.5  -   -   -   -  
Derivative 
liabilities2  8,548.3  8,548.7  -   84.4  117.7  291.4  3,378.2  4,677.0 

Trade payables  354.3  354.3  -   354.3  -   -   -   -  
Accruals 
and deferred 
income3

 123.8  239.9  -   128.5  7.6  12.6  88.4  2.8 

 23,032.9  23,255.5  2,201.1  9,566.6  811.9  862.6  5,092.1  4,721.2 

Company (Audited)

Explanatory notes on residual contractual maturity  
of financial liabilities
1.	 �Short trading positions  

Short trading positions principally comprise short trading positions 
in debt securities. The contractual maturity of short trading 
positions has been presented based upon the maturity of the 
related reverse repurchase contracts through which the Group has 
borrowed securities to facilitate the trading short trading positions.

2024
Carrying 
Amount  

£ millions

Contractual 
Amount  

£ millions

Repayable 
on demand 

£ millions

Less than 
three months  

£ millions

3-6 
months  

£ millions

6-12 
months  

£ millions

1-5 
years 

£ millions

Over  
5 years  

£ millions

Financial 
liabilities:
Deposits by 
banks  518.2  518.2  -  52.6  237.5  -  228.1  - 

Customer 
accounts  708.5  708.5  1.0  703.5  4.0  -  -  - 

Repurchase 
agreements 
with banks

 3,769.7  3,779.9  1,509.5  1,477.3  64.1  107.2  621.8  - 

Repurchase 
agreements 
with customers

 3,466.8  3,465.3  102.2  3,263.1  100.0  -  -  - 

Debt securities  
in issue  1,395.0  1,407.7  -  512.1  217.3  68.4  567.5  42.4 

Short positions1  3,716.2  2,298.1  1,062.3  1,235.8  -  -  -  - 
Derivative 
liabilities2  9,602.4  9,602.8  -  171.6  210.0  205.4  3,695.8  5,320.0 

Trade payables  664.3  664.3  -  664.3  -  -  -  - 
Accruals 
and deferred 
income3

 138.4  229.3  -  141.0  10.5  13.9  60.5  3.4 

 23,979.5  22,674.1  2,675.0  8,221.3  843.4  394.9  5,173.7  5,365.8 

Company (Audited)

2.	 �Derivative liabilities 
The contractual maturity of derivative liabilities is based on  
contractual maturity date and has been represented based on the  
carrying value of the derivatives (net present value) rather than  
the contractual future cash flows.

3.	 �Accruals and deferred income 
Included within accruals and deferred income are fees and other coupon 
related payables. In addition, there is no (2024: £0.3m) negative future 
interest on repurchase agreements included under contractual amount 
for both Group and Company.

Risk Review Risk Review
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7.  Regulatory Capital Management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management process is to ensure that the regulated Group 
entities comply with all externally imposed capital requirements and maintain a strong capital position in 
order to support the Group’s business.

The Group maintains an effectively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. 
The Group’s capital adequacy is monitored under the requirements of CRD V as implemented by the 
Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA”) Rulebook, which contains published PRA policy: rules made 
and enforced by the PRA under powers conferred by the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000: and 
guidance in the form of Supervisory Statements and Statements of Policy.

The Group also performs regular capital projections that include scenario analysis, which are reviewed by 
the senior management of the Group and are consistent with requirements under Basel Pillar II.

The methodology used by the Group for calculating capital is based upon PRA Rulebook standardised 
approach requirements for market, credit, settlement, credit valuation adjustment and counterparty  
risk and the Basic Indicator Approach for Operational Risk. The Group manages its capital structure  
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics  
of its activities.

The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed below:

Regulatory capital consists solely of Tier 1 capital as of 31 March 2025. Tier 1 comprises share capital, share 
premium, retained earnings, current year profit and adjustments as required under the PRA Rulebook. 

The Group has complied with all regulatory capital requirements throughout the year.

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Tier 1 Capital 670.5 637.4

Total capital resources 670.5 637.4

8.  Special Purpose Companies
Control environment

The Group may enter into transactions with 
customers in the ordinary course of business 
which involve the establishment of special 
purpose companies.

Where the transactions involve the use of  
special purpose companies arranged by the 
Group, these special purpose companies are 
authorised upon establishment to ensure 
appropriate purpose and governance. The 
activities of the special purpose companies 
sponsored or administered by the Group are 
closely monitored by senior management. The 
Group’s involvement with the most significant 
types of special purpose companies and related 
transactions is described below.

Structured credit intermediation transactions

The Group has used special purpose companies 
to intermediate structured credit transactions. 
The Group or its related Company enter into 
derivative transactions with these special purpose 
companies. Such special purpose companies were 
arranged by the Group.

The Group has used special purpose companies 
to provide structured credit transactions to third 
parties who wish to obtain exposure to reference 
specific securities/asset classes. The third parties 
obtain the risks and rewards of the reference 
assets through the notes issued by these special 
purpose companies.

Consolidation assessments have been carried 
out with respect to all such special purpose 
companies. The Group does not treat any of these 
companies as subsidiaries.

 

 

Risk Review Risk Review
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The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable United Kingdom law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law 
the Directors have elected to prepare the Group and parent Company financial statements in accordance 
with the Financial Reporting Standard FRS 102, the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United 
Kingdom and Republic of Ireland. Under Company law, the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and the Company for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•	 Select suitable accounting policies in accordance with Section 10 of FRS 102 and then apply  
them consistently;

•	 Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	 Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 

comparable and understandable information;
•	 Provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in FRS 102 is  

insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and 
conditions on the Group and Company financial position and financial performance;

•	 State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 have been followed,  
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•	 Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume  
that the Company and the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s and Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group 
and the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a strategic report 
and directors’ report that comply with that law and those regulations. The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s website.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the  
Members of Mizuho International plc

Opinion

In our opinion:

•	 Mizuho International plc’s group financial statements and company financial 
statements (the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view of the state 
of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2025 and of the 
group’s profit for the year then ended;

•	 The group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 

•	 The company financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
and

•	 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Report of the Independent Auditor   Report of the Independent Auditor   
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We have audited the financial statements of Mizuho International plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries 
(the ‘Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2025 which comprise:

Group Company

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
as at 31 March 2025.

Company Statement of Financial Position as at  
31 March 2025.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
for the year then ended.

Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year  
then ended.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for  
the year then ended.

Related notes 1 to 35 to the financial statements including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the  
year then ended.

Information added in the Risk and management framework 
within the Risk Review section identified as ‘audited’ from 
pages 40 to 73.

Related notes 1 to 35 to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

Information added in the Risk and management framework 
within the Risk Review section identified as ‘audited’ from 
pages 40 to 73.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group and Company 
financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland”.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group and Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis  
for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern  
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the 
directors’ assessment of the Group and Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis  
of accounting included: 

•	 We confirmed our understanding of management’s going concern assessment process and enquired 
with management to assess the key factors that were considered in their assessment;

•	 We obtained management’s going concern assessment for the twelve-month period from the date the 
financial statements were authorised for issue. This assessment includes management’s evaluation 
of business and strategic plans, cash forecasts, capital adequacy, liquidity, and funding positions. We 
evaluated the risks included in management’s going concern assessment;

•	 We developed an understanding of how the Group managed liquidity and capital during the year ended 
31 March 2025;

•	 We read the ICAAP and ILAAP and considered the different stress scenarios and management’s actions 
outlined to manage any stresses and comply with regulatory requirements;

•	 We evaluated management’s assessment by considering future business performance under different 
scenarios, including the impact of the Group’s strategic plans. We assessed the reasonableness of the 
assumptions included in management’s profit forecasts and evaluated the historical accuracy of these 
forecasts by comparing prior years’ budgeted financial information with historical actual results;

•	 We assessed the Group’s going concern disclosures included in the annual report in order to assess that 
the disclosures were appropriate and in conformity with the reporting standards. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of twelve months from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, 
this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Overview of our audit approach

Audit scope
•	 �We performed an audit of the complete financial information of three components under full scope. 

•	 �The components where we performed full audit procedures accounted for 100% of Profit before tax, 
100% of Revenue, 100% of Total Assets and 100% of Equity.

Key audit matters

•	 �Inappropriate recognition and valuation of software development expenditure through management 
override of controls. 

•	 Revenue recognition risk, including management override of controls. 

•	 The risk of inappropriate valuation of fair value positions.

Materiality •	 �Overall Group materiality was £7.3m which represents 1% of the Company’s equity (see ‘Our 
application of materiality’s section below).

An overview of the scope of the Company and Group audits 

Tailoring the scope

In the current year our audit scoping has been updated to reflect the new requirements of ISA (UK) 600 
(Revised). We have followed a risk-based approach when developing our audit approach to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence on which to base our audit opinion. We performed risk assessment procedures 
to identify and assess risks of material misstatement of the Group financial statements and identified 
significant accounts and disclosures. When identifying components at which audit work needed to be 
performed to respond to the identified risks of material misstatement of the Group financial statements,  
we considered size, risk profile, our understanding of the Group and its business environment, the 
potential impact of climate change, the applicable financial framework, the effectiveness of the group’s 
system of internal control at the entity level, the existence of centralised processes, applications and any 
relevant internal audit results. 

We determined that centralised audit procedures can be performed on all components. We then identified 
three components that were individually relevant to the Group, which comprised the Company and two 
subsidiaries. Our assessment considered relevant events and conditions underlying the identified risks 
of material misstatement of the group financial statements, which are associated with the reporting 
components and the financial size of each component relative to the group. For those individually relevant 
components, we identified the significant accounts where audit work needed to be performed at these 
components by applying professional judgement, having considered the group significant accounts 
on which centralised procedures will be performed, the reasons for identifying the financial reporting 
component as an individually relevant component and the size of the component’s account balance relative 
to the group significant financial statement account balance.

Having identified the components for which work will be performed, we determined the scope to assign to 
each component.

Of the three components selected, we designed and performed audit procedures on the entire financial 
information of such components (“full scope components”). 

Our scoping to address the risk of material misstatement for each key audit matter is set out in the Key 
audit matters section of our report. 

All audit work performed for the purposes of the audit was undertaken by the Group audit team.

Report of the Independent Auditor   Report of the Independent Auditor   
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Climate change 

Stakeholders are increasingly interested in how climate change will impact the Group. The Group has 
determined that the most significant future impacts from climate change on their operations will be from 
physical and transition risks. These are explained on pages 15-17 within the Strategic Report and on pages 
43-52 within the Risk Review section. All of these disclosures form part of the “Other information,” rather 
than the audited financial statements. Our procedures on these unaudited disclosures therefore consisted 
solely of considering whether they are materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appear to be materially misstated, in line  
with our responsibilities on “Other information”. In planning and performing our audit we assessed the 
potential impacts of climate change on the Group’s business and any consequential material impact on  
its financial statements. 

The Group has explained in note 1 Basis of preparation how they have reflected the impact of climate 
change in their financial statements. Our audit effort in considering the impact of climate change on the 
financial statements was focused on evaluating management’s assessment of the impact of climate risk, 
physical and transition, the effects of material climate risks disclosed on pages 43-52 within the Risk 
Review section and whether the Group’s exposure to assets affected by climate risk is considered not to 
have a material impact on the financial statements as described in note 1 Basis of preparation. As part of 
this evaluation, we performed our own risk assessment to determine the risks of material misstatement 
in the financial statements from climate change which needed to be considered in our audit. We also 
challenged the Directors’ considerations of climate change risks in their assessment of going concern and 
associated disclosures. 

Based on our work we have not identified the impact of climate change on the financial statements to be a 
key audit matter or to impact a key audit matter. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in  
our audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks 
of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those 
which had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

Risk Our response to the risk
Key observations communicated to the 
Audit and Compliance Committee 

Inappropriate recognition 
and valuation of software 
development expenditure 
through management 
override of controls.

During the financial year, the Group 
and the Company capitalised £43.7m 
(2024: £27.2m) and held a balance of 
£96.3m as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 
£76.7m) of software development 
expenditure as reported in note 17.

There are number of system 
enhancements required due to 
business needs, changing regulation, 
or commitments that the Mizuho 
Group and the Company have agreed 
to. These system enhancements 
require management to exercise their 
judgment to determine whether the 
costs are eligible for capitalisation  
or whether the expense should  
be recognised. 

On an annual basis, the Group 
assesses whether there are indicators 
of impairment against non-financial 
assets. Where there are indicators of 
impairment of individual assets, the 
Group compares the carrying amount 
of the asset to the recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is calculated 
using the value in use approach which 
is based on the discounted expected 
cash flows.

The level of risk remains consistent 
with the prior year. 

Our walkthrough and tests of controls 
procedures included: 

•	 �Performing walkthroughs and 
assessing the design and operating 
effectiveness of key controls over the 
software capitalisation process and 
annual impairment review. 

Our substantive testing procedures 
included: 

•	 �Assessed accounting policies 
in relation to capitalisation of 
intangible assets and impairment of 
non-financial assets.

•	 �Assessed additions capitalised 
during the year in accordance with 
the capitalisation criteria set in FRS 
102 and inspected evidence provided 
by management to substantiate the 
value of capitalised assets for an 
extended sample. 

•	 �Obtained an understanding of 
the nature of intangible assets 
capitalised and assessed impairment 
indicators for assets held on the 
balance sheet as at reporting date on 
a sample basis.

•	 �Performed inquiries with 
management throughout our 
audit to identify changes in IT 
infrastructure, decommissioned 
IT systems as well as delays in 
implementation of new systems.

•	 �Evaluated the appropriateness 
of impairment assessment for 
intangible assets performed on 
individual basis, including the 
assessment of the arm’s length 
mark-up utilised in the discount cash 
flow model.

•	 �Assessed appropriateness of 
identification of CGUs and allocation 
of intangible assets to specific CGUs 
or group of CGUs.

•	 �Evaluated appropriateness of the 
period over which management 
projected cash flows in the value in 
use calculation.

•	 �Reconciled cash flows in the value in 
use calculation to the business plan 
approved by the Board and assessed 
the reasonableness of the forecast.

•	 �Involved EY valuation and  
modelling specialists to assess  
the reasonableness of the discount 
rate utilised in the discount cash 
flow model.

•	 �Performed sensitivity analysis of 
recoverable amount to changes in 
budgeted cash flows, forecast period 
and discount rate.

•	 �Assessed the reasonableness 
of disclosures in the financial 
statements in accordance with  
FRS 102.

We assessed that capitalisation criteria 
for software development expenses 
are met and the activities such as the 
design, construction and testing of a 
chosen alternative for new or improved 
processes, systems or services were 
appropriately capitalised. 

Based on our assessment of the 
impairment model prepared by 
management we concluded that the 
recoverable amount exceeded the 
carrying value for the CGUs tested, and 
no impairment was recognised.

We concluded that the capitalised 
software development expenditure and 
related disclosures are fairly stated as 
at 31 March 2025.

Report of the Independent Auditor   Report of the Independent Auditor   
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Risk Our response to the risk
Key observations communicated to the 
Audit and Compliance Committee 

The risk of inappropriate 
valuation of the fair  
value positions.

At 31 March 2025, the Group reported 
financial assets measured at fair value 
of £22,529.5m (2024: £23,263.9m), 
and financial liabilities measured 
at fair value of £19.818.7m (2024: 
£20,622.8m), as reported in the fair 
value hierarchy in note 30.B of the 
financial statements.

The process for fair valuing positions 
is a significant area of audit effort. 
We assessed that there was a risk of 
inappropriate valuation of positions 
held at fair value by the Group, which 
primarily arose due to the risk of the 
improper or inaccurate valuation or 
measurement of positions, with a 
heightened focus on higher estimation 
uncertainty (HEU). We have defined 
HEU products as those where valuation 
inputs are unobservable or not readily 
observable and model-valued positions 
where the models are complex or have 
a high degree of subjectivity.

Based on our risk assessment, while 
there is a higher inherent risk around 
the valuation of fair value positions, 
this does not represent a significant 
risk of a material misstatement in the 
financial statements given limited 
valuation uncertainty.

The level of risk remains consistent 
with the prior year.

Our testing strategy in relation to 
the fair value positions focused on a 
combination of walkthroughs, tests 
of controls, and substantive testing 
procedures. We concluded to take a 
controls reliance approach. 

�Our walkthrough and tests of controls 
procedures included: 

•	 �Performing walkthroughs around the 
Independent Price Verification (IPV) 
process and the process around 
model validation. 

•	 �Testing the design and operating 
effectiveness of key controls around 
IPV and model validation.

Our substantive testing procedures 
included: 

•	 �Utilising EY valuation specialists 
to value the entire population of 
securities as at 31 March 2025, and 
a sample of repurchase/reverse 
repurchase agreements and 
derivatives as at the interim date 
of 31 December 2024, and as at 31 
March 2025, using independent 
pricing inputs.

•	 �Conducting management enquiries 
and inspection of valuation 
committee minutes to assess that 
valuations outside of IPV thresholds 
were being monitored and variances 
were being appropriately addressed.

•	 �Testing a sample of distressed assets 
to assess the value recognised was 
materially correct.

•	 �We also inspected year end collateral 
reports to identify any significant 
collateral disputes and performed 
roll-forward procedures which 
included analysing trading revenues 
and movements in product carrying 
value balances to identify any 
outliers for investigation.

Based on procedures performed we 
concluded that financial instruments 
held at fair value are fairly stated as at 
31 March 2025.

Risk Our response to the risk
Key observations communicated to the 
Audit and Compliance Committee 

Revenue recognition risk, 
including management 
override of controls. 

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the 
Group reported fees and commissions 
of £198.7m (2024: £178.8m), as 
reported in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
The risk associated to the fees and 
commissions in the Debt Capital 
Markets (DCM) and Equity Capital 
Markets (ECM) businesses is a subset 
of the total fees and commissions 
reported in note 6.

Management have certain metrics 
(e.g. revenue, costs, profit, cost to 
income ratio) to meet, and as such, 
could look to manipulate earnings. 
Due to the challenging macroeconomic 
environment, volatility in earnings 
and lower profitability during the year 
ended 31 March 2025, management 
may feel increased pressure to achieve 
sustained positive trajectory of 
earnings under the current business 
model by manipulating the timing 
of the revenue recognised. This 
includes the risk of premature revenue 
recognition and deferring revenue 
recognition to future periods.

We particularly focus this risk on fees 
and commissions in the Debt Capital 
Markets (DCM) and Equity Capital 
Markets (ECM) businesses, and manual 
top-side adjustments, included in total 
fees and commissions income.

The level of risk remains consistent 
with the prior year.

Our walkthrough and tests of controls 
procedures included:

•	 �Performing walkthroughs and 
testing the design and operating 
effectiveness of key controls 
over revenue recognition as well 
as controls related to top-side 
adjustments. We concluded to take  
a controls reliance approach.

Our substantive testing procedures 
included: 

•	 �Evaluated the Group’s accounting 
policy used to recognise revenue in 
accordance with FRS 102.

•	 �Performed tests of details by 
selecting key items and, when 
necessary, a representative sample 
from the defined populations within 
fees and commissions income to 
ensure that revenue is recognised in 
line with FRS 102.

•	 �Performed procedures to test 
revenue cut-off at the period-end 
date until signing of the financial 
statements to determine whether 
transactions are recorded in the 
proper period and to the proper 
accounts.

•	 �Tested the appropriateness of 
journal entries, including top-side 
adjustments impacting fees and 
commissions.

•	 �Investigated unusual/debit balances 
within revenue.

•	 �Investigated suspense account 
balances.

Based on procedures performed we 
concluded that fee and commission 
income is fairly stated for the year 
ended 31 March 2025.
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Our application of materiality 

We apply the concept of materiality in planning 
and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect 
of identified misstatements on the audit and in 
forming our audit opinion. 

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement 
that, individually or in the aggregate, could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of the users of the financial statements. 
Materiality provides a basis for determining the 
nature and extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the purposes of 
our audit of the financial statements of the Group 
and Company to be £7.3 million (2024: £7 million), 
which is 1% (2024: 1%) of the Company’s equity. 

We determined our materiality based on equity 
as the firm has not had sustained profitability 
historically. Our expectation is that the main 
users of the financial statements, such as the 
Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) and the 
immediate and ultimate controlling party, view 
the maintenance of adequate capital levels as a 
key consideration. An equity basis of materiality 
was used similar to the previous year. In addition, 
we have used the same percentage to determine 
materiality as the prior year. 

We set materiality during the planning phase of 
our audit using the Company’s equity forecasted 
position as of 30 June 2024. During the course 
of our audit, we periodically reassessed the 
initial materiality and concluded that it remains 
appropriate based on the actual equity of the 
Company as of 31 March 2025.

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual 
account or balance level. It is set at an amount 
to reduce to an appropriately low level the 
probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and 
undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together 
with our assessment of the Group’s overall 
control environment, our judgement was that 
performance materiality was 75% (2024: 75%) of 
our planning materiality, namely £5.5m (2024: 
£5.3m). We have set performance materiality at 
this percentage based on our assessment of the 
control environment and the audit differences 
identified during the previous audit period. 

As noted above, all audit work performed for the 
purpose of the audit of the financial statements 
was undertaken by the group audit team. The 
Company and its subsidiary have been designated 
as full scope, with procedures completed using 
the Company’s materiality. We applied Company’s 
materiality for the purpose of the audit of Group 
and Company financial statements.

Reporting threshold

An amount below which identified misstatements 
are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit and Compliance 
Committee that we would report to them all 
uncorrected audit differences in excess of £365k 
(2024: £352k), which is set at 5% of planning 
materiality, as well as differences below that 
threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting 
on qualitative grounds. 

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements 
against both the quantitative measures of 
materiality discussed above and in light of  
other relevant qualitative considerations in 
forming our opinion.

Other information 

The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the 
other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report,  
we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the course of the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement 
in the financial statements themselves. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the  
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in 
the course of the audit:

•	 the information given in the strategic report and 
the directors’ report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements; and 

•	 the strategic report and the directors’ report 
have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of 
the Group and the Company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the strategic 
report or the directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to  
you if, in our opinion:

•	 adequate accounting records have not been  
kept by the company, or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or

•	 the company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

•	 we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ 
responsibilities statement set out on page 74, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group and 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but  
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the  
financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered 
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances 
of non-compliance with laws and regulations. 
We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect 
irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement due to 
fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery 
or intentional misrepresentations, or through 
collusion. The extent to which our procedures are 
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
is detailed below.

However, the primary responsibility for the 
prevention and detection of fraud rests with both 
those charged with governance of the company 
and management. 

•	 We obtained an understanding of the legal 
and regulatory frameworks that are applicable 
to the group and determined that the most 
significant are regulations, license conditions 
and supervisory requirements  
of the Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’)  
and the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’), the 
Companies Act 2006, UK Tax Legislation, the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and  
the Financial Services Act 2012. Further, by 
being part of the larger Mizuho Financial 
Group, the Group and the Company are directly 
impacted by the rules of the US Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the Japanese 
Financial Services Authority. The Group is 
also subject to the rules of various exchanges 
it transacts on, and the International Capital 
Market Association.

Report of the Independent Auditor   Report of the Independent Auditor   



86 | Mizuho International plc Annual Report 2025 Mizuho International plc Annual Report 2025 | 87

Financial Statements for the Year  
Ended 31 March 2025

•	 We understood how the Group and Company 
are complying with those frameworks through 
enquiring of management, internal audit, 
Sarbanes Oxley (SOX) Project Management 
Office and those responsible for legal and 
compliance matters. We also performed an 
inspection of the Group’s and the Company’s 
regulatory correspondence, and minutes of the 
Board and various sub committees.

•	 We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s 
and Company’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur 
by considering the controls that the Group and 
the Company have established to address risks 
identified by the Group, or that otherwise seek 
to prevent, deter, or detect fraud.

•	 Based on this understanding we designed our 
audit procedures to identify non-compliance 
with such laws and regulations. Our procedures 
involved directly testing controls implemented 
at the entity level, such as the regular review, 
maintenance and communication of conduct 
policies, and the monitoring of compliance 
by staff of such policies. Further, we tested 
controls at the individual transaction level which 
addressed appropriate approval and oversight 
of the Group’s and the Company’s activities. 
We performed journal entry testing, which 
targeted transactions or postings that have 
certain characteristics which could be indicative 
of fraudulent activity and substantively tested 
the appropriateness of the posting. We have 
raised key audit matters in relation to the risk 
of management override of controls which we 
considered to be areas of heightened financial 
statement fraud risk and audit focus. Through 
these procedures, we are not aware of any 
significant matters involving actual or suspected 
non-compliance with laws and regulations.

•	 The Group and the Company operate in the 
banking industry which is a highly regulated 
environment. The primary scope of its regulated 
activities is the sale and trading of securities 
and derivatives, and investment banking 
activities. As such, the Senior Statutory Auditor 
considered the experience and expertise of the 
engagement team to ensure that the team had 
the appropriate competence and capabilities 
to identify or recognise non-compliance with 
laws and regulations, which included the use of 
specialists where appropriate.

A further description of our responsibilities for  
the audit of the financial statements is located  
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Other matters we are required to address 

•	 We were appointed by the company on  
29 October 2024 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 March 2025. 

•	 The period of total uninterrupted  
engagement including previous renewals  
and reappointments is 20 years, covering the 
years ending 31 March 2006 to 31 March 2025.

•	 The non-audit services prohibited by the 
FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to 
the Group or the Company and we remain 
independent of the Group and the Company in 
conducting the audit. 

•	 The audit opinion is consistent with the 
additional report to the Audit Committee.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company 
and the Company’s members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

Simon Ludlam (Senior statutory auditor)  
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,  
Statutory Auditor

London
27 June 2025
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Note 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Interest receivable 5 28.4 33.3

Interest payable 5 (105.7) (103.3)

Net interest payable (77.3) (70.0)

Fees and commissions receivable 6 198.7 178.8

Fees and commissions payable 6 (76.0) (71.9)

Net fees and commissions 122.7 106.9

Dealing profit 7 175.1 204.9

Other operating income 8  152.9 2.3

Net income from operations 373.4 244.1

Administrative expenses 9 (338.6) (200.7)

Depreciation and amortisation 17, 18 (28.9) (29.3)

Provisions for liabilities 24 (0.1) 0.9

Operating expenses (367.6) (229.1)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 5.8 15.0

Tax credit / (charge) on profit on ordinary activities 10 1.4 (1.5)

Profit for the year 7.2 13.5

Other comprehensive income

Profit for the financial year 7.2 13.5

Re-measurement losses from defined benefit scheme 25 (0.3) (0.3)

FX translation (loss) relating to net investment  
in subsidiary

(0.2) (0.2)

Total profit recognised before deferred tax 6.7 13.0

Total comprehensive income for the year 6.7 13.0

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 31 March 2025

Note 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 115.5 328.5

Loans and advances to banks 12 60.2 47.1

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 4,055.8 5,131.0

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers 4,587.1 3,059.6

Debt and other fixed income securities 13 5,644.9 5,463.7

Equity shares 14 2.6 4.3

Derivative assets 15 8,520.1 9,707.7

Shares in group undertakings 16 17.6 13.2

Intangible assets 17 96.3 76.7

Tangible fixed assets 18 25.1 27.1

Other assets 19 559.8 897.9

Prepayments and accrued income 229.9 177.1

Total Assets 23,914.9 24,933.9

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 20 678.7 519.1

Customer accounts 20 473.5 707.5

Repurchase agreements with banks 4,580.9 3,769.7

Repurchase agreements with customers 4,078.0 3,425.7

Debt securities in issue 21 1,292.3 1,395.0

Short trading positions 22 2,889.1 3,925.7

Derivative liabilities 15 8,548.4 9,603.3

Other liabilities 23 365.8 651.2

Accruals and deferred income 234.5 212.9

Provisions for liabilities 24 0.2 3.1

Total Liabilities 23,141.4 24,213.2

Equity

Called up share capital 27 754.9 709.9

Share premium account 15.6 15.6

Pension reserve (7.1) (6.8)

Other reserves (0.8) (0.6)

Profit and loss account 10.9 2.6

Total Equity 773.5 720.7

Total Liabilities and Equity 23,914.9 24,933.9

All of the activities of the Group are classified as continuing.

The Company has taken the exemption from preparing a Statement of Comprehensive Income under Section 408 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

The accompanying notes on pages 94 to 154 and the audited sections in the Risk review section on pages 40 to 73 form an 
integral part of these financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on and signed on its behalf by

Suneel Bakhshi  
President and Chief Executive Officer 
26 June 2025

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
as at 31 March 2025

Registered number: 1203696

Financial Statements   Financial Statements   



90 | Mizuho International plc Annual Report 2025 Mizuho International plc Annual Report 2025 | 91

Note 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Assets

Cash and balances at central banks 115.5 328.5

Loans and advances to banks 12 35.3 38.7

Loans and advances to customers 12 21.2 31.9

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 4,055.8 5,088.6

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers 4,587.1 3,098.3

Debt and other fixed income securities 13 5,607.4 5,252.0

Equity shares 14 2.5 4.2

Derivative assets 15 8,520.1 9,706.6

Shares in group undertakings 16 50.4 47.0

Intangible assets 17 96.3 76.7

Tangible fixed assets 18 24.7 26.6

Other assets 19 547.0 897.7

Prepayments and accrued income 218.2 179.9

Total Assets 23,881.5 24,776.7

Liabilities

Deposits by banks 20 678.7 518.2

Customer accounts 20 487.5 708.5

Repurchase agreements with banks 4,580.9 3,769.7

Repurchase agreements with customers 4,078.0 3,466.8

Debt securities in issue 21 1,292.3 1,395.0

Short trading positions 22 2,889.1 3,716.2

Derivative liabilities 15 8,548.3 9,602.4

Other liabilities 23 357.9 672.5

Accruals and deferred income 209.9 207.8

Provisions for liabilities 24 0.1 2.9

Total Liabilities 23,122.7 24,060.0

Equity

Called up share capital 27 754.9 709.9

Share premium account 15.6 15.6

Pension reserve (7.1) (6.8)

Other reserves - -

Profit and loss account (4.6) (2.0)

Total Equity 758.8 716.7

Total Liabilities and Equity 23,881.5 24,776.7

The Company’s loss after taxation for the year ended 31 March 2025 was £3.7 million (2024: £12.4 million profit).

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on and signed on its behalf by

Suneel Bakhshi  
President and Chief Executive Officer 
26 June 2025

Share 
capital  

£ millions

Share 
premium 
account  

£ millions

Pension  
reserve  

£ millions

Other  
reserves1 

£ millions

Profit and 
loss account 

£ millions

Total 
equity  

£ millions

At 1 April 2023 709.9 15.6 (6.5) (0.4) (10.9) 707.7

Profit for the year - - - - 13.5 13.5

Other comprehensive  
loss - - (0.3) (0.2) - (0.5)

At 31 March 2024 709.9 15.6 (6.8) (0.6) 2.6 720.7

At 1 April 2024 709.9 15.6 (6.8) (0.6) 2.6 720.7

Profit for the year - - - - 7.2 7.2

Capital injection 45.0 - - - - 45.0

Equity contribution2 - - - 1.1 - 1.1

Transfer to profit and  
loss account2 - - - (1.1) 1.1 -

Other comprehensive  
loss - - (0.3) (0.2) - (0.5)

At 31 March 2025 754.9 15.6 (7.1) (0.8) 10.9 773.5

Explanatory note to the Statement of Changes in Equity
1.	 �Other reserves consists of currency translation reserve balance representing the cumulative gains and losses on the retranslation of the 

Group’s net investment in foreign operations, net of hedging impact, and balances relating to the net dilapidation provision amount which 
was released following termination of the Company’s sub-lease, treated as an equity contribution and booked to Retained Earnings via  
Equity reserves.

2.	 �Relates to recognition of realised profits associated with the termination of the sublease which has been treated as equity contribution and 
meets the definition of realised profits under TECH 02/17BL Guidance on Realised and Distributable Profits.

Company Statement of Financial Position  
as at 31 March 2025

Registered number: 1203696

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2025
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Note 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Operating activities

Profit before tax 5.8 15.0

Adjusted for:

	– Non-cash items included in profit before tax 29 (30.0) (23.0)

	– Provision for liabilities 0.1 (0.9)

	– Movement in Other Comprehensive Income (0.5) (0.4)

(Loss) before tax net of non-cash items (24.6) (9.3)

	– Change in operating assets 29 846.1 2,479.7

	– Change in operating liabilities 29  (938.8) (2,313.4)

(Loss) / profit before tax net of working capital movements (117.3) 157.0

Interest paid (93.3) (92.7)

Interest received 124.2 139.8

Tax (paid) / received (6.1) 12.6

Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities (92.5) 216.7

Investing activities

Net investment in shares in group undertakings (1.4) (0.1)

Dividends from investment in shares in group undertakings 0.4 0.2

Purchase of intangible assets (43.8) (27.2)

Purchase of tangible assets (5.2) (5.8)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (50.0) (32.9)

Financing activities

Net repayment from debt securities in issue (101.5) (221.2)

Proceeds from the issuance of equity 45.0 -

Net cash flows used in financing activities (56.5) (221.2)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (199.0) (37.4)

Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (0.9) (4.2)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 375.6 417.2

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 29 175.7 375.6

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 March 2025

The Company has taken the FRS102.1.12(b) exemption from preparing a Statement of Cash Flows.

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2025

Share 
capital  

£ millions

Share 
premium 
account  

£ millions

Pension  
reserve  

£ millions

Other 
reserves1 
£ millions

Profit and 
loss account 

£ millions

Total 
equity  

£ millions

At 1 April 2023 709.9 15.6 (6.5) - (14.4) 704.6

Profit for the year - - - - 12.4 12.4

Other comprehensive  
loss - - (0.3) - - (0.3)

At 31 March 2024 709.9 15.6 (6.8) - (2.0) 716.7

At 1 April 2024 709.9 15.6 (6.8) - (2.0) 716.7

Loss for the year - - - - (3.7) (3.7)

Capital injection 45.0 - - - - 45.0

Equity contribution2 - - - 1.1 - 1.1

Transfer to profit and  
loss account2 - - - (1.1) 1.1 -

Other comprehensive  
loss - - (0.3) - - (0.3)

At 31 March 2025 754.9 15.6 (7.1) - (4.6) 758.8

Explanatory note to the Statement of Changes in Equity
1.	 �Other reserves consists of balances relating to the net dilapidation provision amount which was released following termination of the 

Company’s sub-lease, treated as an equity contribution and booked to Retained Earnings via Equity reserves.
2.	 �Relates to recognition of realised profits associated with the termination of the sublease which has been treated as equity contribution and 

meets the definition of realised profits under TECH 02/17BL Guidance on Realised and Distributable Profits.
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1.  Basis of preparation
Mizuho International plc is a public limited 
company incorporated in the United Kingdom and 
registered in England and Wales. The Registered 
Office is 30 Old Bailey, London, EC4M 7AU.

The Group’s and the Company’s financial 
statements have been prepared in compliance 
with Financial Reporting Standard FRS 102, the 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (“FRS 
102”) and in accordance with the provisions 
relating to Banking Companies and Schedule 2 of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Risk related disclosures which are required under 
the applicable Financial Reporting Standard, along 
with Regulatory Capital information, have been 
included within the Risk Review section on pages 
40 to 73. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors 
have considered the impact of the physical and 
transition risks of climate change and identified 
this within the principal risks and uncertainties as 
set out in the Strategic Report and Risk Review 
sections but concluded that it does not have a 
material impact on these financial statements as 
at 31 March 2025.

Accounting policies

The accounting policies that are significant in 
the context of the Group’s financial statements 
are described in Note 3. The accounting policies 
adopted by the Group in the preparation of the 
financial statements are consistent with those  
in the previous year. “Group” refers to the  
Group and the Company in the accounting 
policies that follow.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention, as modified 
for derivative financial instruments, financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss, which are measured at fair value.

Going concern

In preparing the Group and Company financial 
statements, the Directors must satisfy themselves 
that it is reasonable for them to adopt the going 
concern basis. The Group’s Directors, having 
given due consideration to various factors, 
including the Group’s principal risks, forecasts 
and business plans, which incorporate an 

assessment of both internal and regulatory capital 
adequacy and its sensitivity to various stress 
scenarios, believe that there are no material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Management continues to monitor the 
impact of various geopolitical and global macro-
economic uncertainties on the Group, the industry 
and the economies in which the Group operates. 
Despite these market uncertainties, the Group’s 
commitment and aspiration has not changed. 
The Group’s strategy builds further on the CIB 
strategy through broader integration and capture 
of synergies between Banking and Markets. 
Accordingly, the Directors believe the preparation 
of the financial statements on a going concern 
basis remains appropriate, as the Group expects 
to be able to meet its obligations as and when 
they fall due for a period of 12 months from the 
date of approval of the Financial Statements.

Presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Sterling 
which is the Group’s presentation currency and 
the financial information is presented in £ millions 
and has been rounded to the nearest £100,000 
unless otherwise indicated.

Segmental analysis

Segmental analysis of income and net assets 
has not been prepared as the Group has only 
one class of business, being investment banking, 
operates in a global market which is not defined 
by geographical bounds, and transacts in a 
homogenous set of products and services 
across a consistent client base. The Group does 
not operate in countries or groups of countries 
which could provide useful information by being 
segmented based on stability of regime, exchange 
control regulations, or exchange rate fluctuations.

2.  Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise 
the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025. The Group 
consolidates a subsidiary when it controls it. 
Control is the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of a subsidiary so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities.

Control is presumed to exist when the parent 
owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 
more than half of the voting power of an entity. 
The presumption may be overcome in exceptional 
circumstances if it can be clearly demonstrated 
that such ownership does not constitute control. 

Control also exists when the parent owns half or 
less of the voting power of an entity but it has: 

•	 power over more than half of the voting rights 
by virtue of an agreement with other investors;

•	 power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of the entity under a statute or  
an agreement;

•	 power to appoint or remove the majority of the 
members of the Board of Directors or equivalent 
governing body and control of the entity is by 
that board or body; or

•	 power to cast the majority of votes at meetings 
of the Board of Directors or equivalent 
governing body and control of the entity is by 
that board or body.

Profit or loss and each component of Other 
Comprehensive Income are attributed to the 
equity holders of the parent of the Group  
and to the non-controlling interests, even if  
this results in the non-controlling interests  
having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring  
their accounting policies in line with the  
Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group 
assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 
cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full  
on consolidation.

3.  Significant accounting policies

A – Financial instruments

The Group applies IAS 39: Financial Instruments 
for the recognition and measurement of  
financial instruments.

Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets 
(excluding derivatives)

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or 
sale of a financial asset under a contract whose 
terms require delivery of the asset within the 
time frame established generally by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace concerned.

For regular way purchases and sales, settlement 
date accounting is applied for the purposes of 
recognising and de-recognising financial assets.

Notes to the 
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Recognition

Financial instruments are recognised when 
the Group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the relevant financial asset or 
financial liability. Financial instruments are 
initially recorded at fair value plus, in the case of 
financial instruments not measured at fair value 
through profit and loss, transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
the financial instrument.

De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset is de-recognised when:

•	 The contractual rights to receive the cash flows 
from the asset expire; or

•	 The Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the financial asset; or 

•	 The Group has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
financial asset but has transferred control of the 
financial asset.

Where the Group neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred asset, and retains 
control of the transferred asset, the Group 
will account for its continuing involvement in 
the asset. Under this approach, the Group will 
continue to recognise the transferred asset to the 
extent of the continuing involvement in that asset 
and recognise an associated liability such that the 
net carrying value of the transferred asset and 
associated liability is equal to the fair value of the 
retained rights and obligations.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when 
they have been extinguished as a result of the 
cancellation, discharge or expiry of the obligations 
specified in the contract.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and 
the net amount presented on the Statement of 
Financial Position when, and only when, the 
Group has a legal right to set off the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net  
basis only when permitted by accounting 
standards, or where gains and losses arise from a 
group of similar transactions, such as the Group’s 
trading activities.

B – Trading financial instruments

Non derivative financial instruments are classified 
as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term or are part 
of a portfolio of identified financial instruments 
that are managed together and for which there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short term 
profit taking. Non derivative trading financial 
instruments include reverse repurchase and 
repurchase agreements, trading debt, trading 
loans and trading equity securities. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, trading financial instruments 
are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value, 
and gains or losses realised on de-recognition, are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and reported under dealing profit.

C – Derivative financial instruments

Trading derivative instruments

Subsequent to initial recognition, trading 
derivative instruments are measured at fair value 
and disclosed as financial assets when the fair 
value is positive and financial liabilities when 
the fair value is negative. Changes in fair value, 
and realised gains or losses, are recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
reported under dealing profit.

Derivative financial instruments held for risk 
management purposes

Derivative financial instruments held for risk 
management purposes include swaps and other 
derivative financial instruments which are used 
to hedge the Group’s debt securities in issue (see 
accounting policy D – Hedge accounting). These 
instruments are measured and presented in the 
same manner as trading derivative instruments.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded within financial 
instruments that are not held for trading or 
designated at fair value through profit and  
loss are separated from their host contracts  
and accounted for as derivatives if the economic 
characteristics of the embedded derivative are  
not closely related to those of the host contract 
and if a separate instrument with the terms of  
the embedded derivative meets the definition  
of a derivative.

Embedded derivatives are separated from their 
host contracts and are measured and presented 
in the same manner as trading derivative 
instruments at fair value through profit and loss.

D – Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments 
and debt instruments to manage exposure to 
interest rate risk, credit risk, currency risk and 
price risk. The Group applies hedge accounting 
when a transaction meets the criteria necessary to 
obtain hedge accounting treatment.

A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge 
accounting if the following conditions are met:

•	 At inception, formal documentation is prepared 
to include:
	– Designation of the hedging relationship;
	– Identification of the hedging instrument and 
hedged item;

	– Nature of the risk being hedged; and
	– Description of how hedge effectiveness will 
be assessed.

•	 The hedge is expected to be highly effective (80 
to 125%), and its effectiveness can be reliably 
measured; and

•	 The hedge is assessed for effectiveness on an 
ongoing basis.

The Group prospectively discontinues hedge 
accounting for a hedged relationship if:

•	 The hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised;

•	 The hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting; or

•	 The Group revokes the designation.

Fair value hedge

Hedge accounting is applied where a designated 
fair value hedging relationship exists between a 
derivative hedging instrument (see accounting 
policy C – derivative financial instruments held 
for risk management purposes) and a hedged 
financial liability. A fair value hedge of a financial 
liability represents a hedge against changes to 
the fair value of a liability that is attributable to a 
particular risk that could impact the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

The gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging 
instrument at fair value is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income under 
Dealing Profit. The gain or loss on the hedged 
financial liability attributable to the hedged 
risk is also recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income under Dealing Profit.

If hedge accounting is discontinued, for  
hedged financial liabilities recorded at amortised 
cost the fair value adjustment is amortised  
over the remaining term of the original hedge.  
If the hedged financial liability is de-recognised, 
the unamortised fair value adjustment is 
recognised immediately in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Net investment hedge

The Group’s net investments in foreign 
operations, including monetary items as part 
of the net investment, are hedged for foreign 
currency risks using foreign currency borrowings. 
The effectiveness of the hedge is assessed 
on a monthly basis both prospectively and 
retrospectively. The effective portion of any  
gains or losses is recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income and any ineffective 
portion is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. The cumulative gains 
or losses recognised in Other Comprehensive 
Income are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on full or partial disposal 
of the foreign operation, or other reductions in the 
Group’s investment in foreign operation. Changes 
in the GBP value of net investments due to foreign 
currency movements are captured in the currency 
translation reserve and presented under Other 
Reserves within Equity.

E – Financial instruments designated as at fair value 
through profit and loss

The Group may designate financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 
loss when either:

•	 The assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated 
and reported internally on a fair value basis 
in accordance with a documented risk 
management or investment strategy;

•	 The designation eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch which would 
otherwise arise; or

•	 The asset or liability contains an embedded 
derivative that significantly modifies the cash 
flows that would otherwise be required under 
the contract.

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 



98 | Mizuho International plc Annual Report 2025 Mizuho International plc Annual Report 2025 | 99

Securities lending and borrowing

Securities lending and borrowing transactions 
are usually collateralised by securities or cash. 
The transfer of the securities to counterparties 
is only reflected on the statement of financial 
position if the risks and rewards of ownership are 
also transferred. Cash advanced or received as 
collateral is recorded as an asset or liability.

Securities borrowed are not recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position, unless they 
are then sold to third parties, in which case, the 
obligation to return the securities is recorded as 
a short sale within financial liabilities held for 
trading and measured at fair value with any gains 
or losses included in dealing profit.

I – Deposits and debt securities in issue 

Deposits and debt securities in issue are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method except where the Group has 
designated financial liabilities as at fair value 
through profit and loss.

The Group has designated certain issued debt 
securities as at fair value in the previous years. 
These financial liabilities are measured as 
described in accounting policy E.

J – Fair value measurement

Fair value is the amount at which an asset  
could be exchanged, a liability settled, or an  
equity instrument granted, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s  
length transaction. Financial instruments 
measured at fair value comprise:

•	 Trading financial instruments;
•	 Trading derivatives and derivatives held for risk 

management purposes; 
•	 Embedded derivatives; and
•	 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

designated as at fair value through profit  
and loss.

Fair values are derived from quoted market prices 
or valuation techniques as described below:

Active market

Financial instruments that trade within an active 
market are valued using quoted market prices 
or rates available within that market. An active 
market exists where regular prices are provided 
by exchanges, dealers, brokers, industry groups 
or pricing services, and these prices represent 
actual market transactions.

Financial instruments may be priced from the 
most advantageous active market to which the 
Group has access, and this may result in the 
recognition of revenue on trade date (‘day one 
profit’), to the extent that a fair value instrument 
has been traded at a favourable price in 
comparison to prices available within an  
active market.

Long positions are marked to the bid side, and 
short trading positions to the offered side of an 
active market. Where the Group holds positions 
which create offsetting risk positions, then those 
offsetting positions are valued at mid-market 
rates, with any resulting net risk positions being 
marked to the bid or offered side as appropriate.

No active market

Financial instruments that do not trade within 
an active market are valued using a valuation 
technique, which may consist of:

•	 Analysis of current or recent third party 
transactions in the same instrument; or

•	 Reference to the value of other instruments, that 
are substantially the same as the instrument to 
be valued; or

•	 Use of a valuation model.

Valuation techniques, including valuation models, 
meet the following conditions:

•	 Consistency with accepted methodologies for 
pricing financial instruments;

•	 Inclusion of all relevant factors that market 
participants would consider in setting a price;

•	 Use of market observable data where possible; 
and

•	 Periodic calibration to actual market 
transactions where possible.

Deferral of day one profits

If, on trade date, a valuation technique results 
in a different estimate of fair value to the actual 
transaction price, then the valuation technique  
will be calibrated to the transaction price, so  
that no gain or loss is recognised except as 
described below.

Gains or losses will only be recognised 
subsequently, to the extent that they arise from 
changes in a factor (including time) that market 
participants would consider in setting a price.

Fair value estimates from valuation techniques 
may be used on trade date without calibration  
to the transaction price, resulting in the 
recognition of day one gains and losses,  
under the following conditions:

•	 Fair value is supported by current market 
transactions in the same instrument; or

•	 Fair value is based upon a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from 
observable markets.

Day one gains or losses that do not meet these 
criteria are deferred and amortised over the life of 
the financial instrument to which they relate.

K – Cash and balances at central banks

Cash and balances at central banks in the 
statement of financial position comprise cash 
held with central banks and short term deposits 
with an original maturity date of three months or 
less. These balances are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less 
impairment, with any resulting interest income 
taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

L – Foreign currencies

Foreign currency carrying values at initial 
recognition are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the date of  
the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are expressed in the functional 
currency of the Group at the mid-market rates of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Foreign 
currency translation differences are included in 
Net income from operations.

Non-monetary items that are measured at 
historical cost in a foreign currency are  
translated into functional currency at the  
original transaction rate.

On consolidation, the results of overseas 
business are translated into the presentation 
currency of the Group at the average exchange 
rates for the period where these approximate 
to the rate at the date of transaction. Assets and 
liabilities of overseas business are translated 
into the presentation currency of the Group at 
the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet 
date. Exchange differences arising are taken to 
other comprehensive income and then classified 
as other reserves.

Fair value gains or losses, together with net 
interest income/expense, arising from financial 
instruments designated as at fair value through 
profit and loss are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income account and reported 
under dealing profit. The amount of each class of 
financial asset or liability that has been designated 
at fair value through profit and loss is set out in 
Note 30.

F – Equity shares

The Group classifies equity shares at fair value 
through profit and loss. These are measured as 
described in accounting policy E.

G – Loans and advances

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and 
advances are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method (see Accounting 
Policy N) less impairment (see Accounting Policy 
M), with any resulting interest income taken to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

H – Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase 
at a specified future date (repurchase agreements) 
are not de-recognised from the Statement of 
Financial Position. The corresponding cash 
received, including accrued interest is recognised 
on the Statement of Financial Position as 
Repurchase Agreements reflecting its economic 
substance as a loan to the Group.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 
at a specified future date (reverse repurchase 
agreements) are not recognised on the Statement 
of Financial Position. The corresponding cash 
paid including accrued interest is recognised on 
the Statement of Financial Position as Reverse 
Repurchase Agreements reflecting its economic 
substance as a loan receivable by the Group.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements 
are classified as held for trading at fair value 
through the Statement of Comprehensive  
Income, except where designated as banking  
book based on an underlying intent involving 
solely payment of principal and interest and  
which does not involve a short term profit  
making objective. Where a banking book election 
is made, Repurchase and reverse repurchase 
agreements are measured at Amortised Cost 
using the effective interest method  
(see Accounting Policy N).
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Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions are recognised as the 
service is performed. For services provided 
over a period of time, the income and expenses 
are recognised as the services are provided 
or received. For transaction based services, 
the income and expenses are recognised on 
completion of the underlying transaction.

Dealing profit / loss

Dealing profit / loss comprises gains less losses 
related to trading financial assets, trading financial 
liabilities, derivative instruments held for risk 
management purposes and the fair value hedge 
adjustments relating to the hedged items, and 
financial instruments designated as at fair value 
through profit and loss.

This includes all associated realised and 
unrealised fair value changes, interest, dividends 
and foreign exchange differences.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s 
right to receive payment is established.

Agent vs Principal consideration

The Group may act in either a Principal or Agent 
capacity in respect of services that are provided 
to its clients and customers. Where the service is 
provided by the Group as Principal, the associated 
costs and revenues are presented on a gross 
basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Where the service is provided by the Group as an 
Agent, only the fee or commission earned by the 
Group is recognised in revenue.

O – Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Tangible fixed assets held for use in the business 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment allowances (impairment is 
described further in accounting policy M). Such 
cost includes costs directly attributable to making 
the asset capable of operating as intended.

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed 
assets at rates calculated to write off the cost,  
less estimated residual value, of each asset  
on a systematic basis over its expected useful life 
as follows: 

•	 Short leasehold properties are written off  
on a straight line basis over the remaining life 
of the lease or twenty-five years, whichever is 
shorter; and

•	 Fixtures, equipment and vehicles are 
depreciated on a straight line basis over periods 
between two and five years.

P – Intangible assets and amortisation

Intangible assets (purchased or internally 
generated) which are available for use are 
classified as Software, stated at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment 
allowances (impairment is described further in 
accounting policy M).

Intangible assets classified as Software 
Development Expenditure include costs that 
are directly attributable to the development and 
bringing into use significant computer software 
systems, which are not yet deemed to be available 
for use. Amortisation is only applied once the 
asset is deemed available for use, and reclassified 
to Software. 

Development costs for internal projects are 
capitalised when:

•	 it is feasible the project will be made available 
for use, 

•	 there is the intention to complete the project, 
•	 the intangible asset generated from the project 

has the ability to be used, 
•	 it will generate probable future economic 

benefits, 
•	 adequate resources are available to complete 

the project, and 
•	 expenditure can be reliably attributed to the 

intangible asset during development.

This is assessed on a project by project basis. 
The development costs for any projects not 
meeting these capitalisation requirements will be 
expensed as incurred.

Software intangible assets are amortised on a 
straight line basis over their useful lives. The 
useful economic lives of software assets are 
determined to be either four or five years.

Q – Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and 
laws that are enacted or substantially enacted by 
the balance sheet date.

M – Identification and measurement of impairment

Financial assets

At the end of each financial reporting period, an 
assessment is made as to whether there is any 
objective evidence of impairment in the value of 
financial assets. Impairment losses are recognised 
when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss 
event has occurred after the initial recognition of 
the financial asset, and that the loss event has an 
impact on the future cash flows on the financial 
asset that can be estimated reliably.

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at 
amortised cost are measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial 
assets and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

Losses are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and reflected in 
an allowance account against the impaired 
financial asset category. Interest on impaired 
assets continues to be recognised through the 
unwinding of the discount.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of 
impairment loss to decrease, and the decrease 
can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Any reversal is limited to the extent that the 
value of the asset may not exceed the original 
amortised cost of the asset had no impairment 
been recognised.

Non-financial assets

On an annual basis, the Group will assess whether 
there are indicators of impairment against non-
financial assets. Where there are indicators of 
impairment of individual assets, the Group will 
compare the carrying amount of the asset to the 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
determined as the higher of fair value less costs 
to sell or a value in use. The fair value less costs 
to sell calculation is based on available data from 
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length 
transaction on similar assets or observable market 
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the 
asset. The value in use calculation is based on a 
discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are 
derived from the budget for the next five years 
and do not include significant future investments 
that will enhance the asset’s performance of the 

cash generating unit being tested. The recoverable 
amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used 
for the discounted cash flow model as well as the 
expected future cash flows and the growth rate 
used for extrapolation purposes.

If the recoverable amount is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is impaired and it is reduced to its 
recoverable amount through an impairment 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount 
where the impairment loss of a revalued asset 
is a revaluation decrease.

An impairment loss recognised for all assets 
is reversed in a subsequent period if and only 
if the reasons for the impairment loss have 
ceased to apply. Any reversal is limited to 
the extent that the value of the asset may not 
exceed the original amortised cost of the asset 
had no impairment been recognised.

N – Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it  
is probable that the economic benefits will  
flow to the Group and that revenue can be  
reliably measured. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense, in respect of 
financial instruments that are not recognised at 
fair value through profit and loss, are recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
using the effective interest method and are 
reported under interest receivable and payable. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash payments and 
receipts through the expected life of a financial 
asset or financial liability, or a shorter year 
where appropriate, to the carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. The effective 
interest rate is established on initial recognition 
of the financial asset or financial liability. 
The calculation of the effective interest rate 
includes all the fees and points paid or received, 
transaction costs, and discounts or premiums that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or 
disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. 
Negative effective interest on financial liabilities is 
presented under interest receivable.
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Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences that have originated but not reversed 
at the balance sheet date where transactions or 
events that result in an obligation to pay more 
tax or a right to pay less tax in the future have 
occurred at the balance sheet date. This is subject 
to deferred tax assets only being recognised  
if it is considered more likely than not that there 
will be suitable profits from which the future 
reversal of the underlying timing differences 
can be deducted. Timing differences are the 
differences between the Group taxable profits  
and its results as stated in the financial 
statements, which are capable of reversal in  
one or more subsequent years.

Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted 
basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the years in which the timing differences are 
expected to reverse based on the tax rates and 
laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

R – Operating leases

The Group has entered into commercial property 
leases as the lessee. As the lessee, it obtains 
the use of the property. The classification of 
such leases as an operating lease requires the 
Group to determine, based on an evaluation of 
the terms and conditions of the arrangement, 
whether it does not retain or acquire significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of these assets 
and accordingly the lease is not required to 
be recognised as an asset and liability in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

In the instance a portion of the building space 
is sublet, the rental income is classified as other 
operating income.

Operating lease income and expenses are 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on a straight line basis over the term of 
the lease.

S – Share based payments

The Group engages in share based payment 
transactions in respect of services received from 
certain employees of the Group. These payments 
may be cash or physically settled at the election 
of the employee on vesting. The fair value of the 
services received is measured by reference to 
the fair value of the shares granted. The cost of 
the employee services received in respect of the 
shares granted is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income over the period that the 
services are received. With regard to continuing 

employees, the service year corresponds to the 
vesting year of the share awards, whilst the 
service years of former employees who retain 
rights as good leavers, are deemed to end once 
employment with the Group has ceased. The 
share based payment scheme is considered to 
be a cash settled scheme, because the Group has 
granted rights to equity instruments of its ultimate 
parent to its employees.

The cost of cash settled transactions is measured 
at fair value using the underlying share price. Fair 
value is established initially at the grant date and 
at each balance sheet date thereafter until the 
awards are settled. During the vesting period, a 
liability is recognised representing the product of 
the fair value of the award and the portion of the 
vesting period expired as at the balance  
sheet date. From the end of the vesting period 
until settlement, the liability represents the  
full fair value of the award as at the balance 
sheet date. Changes in the carrying amount 
for the liability are recognised in Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

T – Pension costs

The Group operates defined contribution schemes 
and a defined benefit scheme.

Defined contribution schemes

Contributions to defined contribution schemes 
are recognised within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the year in which they 
become payable.

Defined benefit scheme

This scheme is closed to new entrants and has no 
active remaining members.

The defined benefit pension scheme requires 
contributions to be made to a separately 
administered fund. The cost of providing benefits 
under the defined benefit scheme is determined 
using the projected unit credit method, which 
attributes entitlement to benefits to the prior years 
(to determine the present value of defined benefit 
obligation) and is based upon actuarial advice. 

Past service costs are recognised in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income on a straight line 
basis over the vesting year or immediately if the 
benefits have vested. The interest element of 
the defined benefit cost represents the change 
in present value of scheme obligations resulting 
from the passage of time, and is determined by 

applying the discount rate to the opening present 
value of the benefit obligation, taking into account 
material changes in the obligation during the year.

The interest on scheme assets is based on an 
assessment made at the beginning of the year 
of long term market returns on scheme assets, 
adjusted for the effect on the fair value of scheme 
assets of contributions received and benefits 
paid during the year. The difference between the 
interest on scheme assets and the interest cost is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as other finance income or expense. 

Actuarial gains and losses, including any that have 
resulted from buy-in transactions, are recognised 
in full in Other Comprehensive Income in the year 
in which they occur.

The total of the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation (using a discount rate based 
on high quality corporate bonds), less any past 
service cost not yet recognised and less the fair 
value of scheme assets gives rise to a defined 
benefit pension liability or surplus. The fair  
value of scheme assets is based on market  
price information.

Defined benefit pension liabilities are recognised 
on the Statement of Financial Position, whilst 
defined benefit pension surpluses are only 
recognised to the extent of their recoverability. 
Defined benefit pension surpluses are determined 
to be recoverable only where refunds have  
been agreed by scheme trustees at the balance 
sheet date.

U – Provisions and contingent liabilities

The Group recognises a provision for a present 
obligation resulting from a past event when it  
is more likely than not that it will be required  
to transfer economic benefits to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation  
can be estimated reliably.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations 
whose existence will only be confirmed by 
uncertain future events, and present obligations 
where the transfer of economic resources is 
uncertain or cannot be reliably measured. 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised  
on the balance sheet but are disclosed unless  
the likelihood of an outflow of economic 
resources is remote.

V – Investment in subsidiary

In the parent company, investment in  
subsidiary is accounted at cost less any 
impairment allowances.

4.  Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 
results of the Group are sensitive to accounting 
policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie 
the preparation of the financial statements. 
“Group” refers to the Group and the Company in 
the estimates and judgements that follow.

When preparing the financial statements, it is 
the Directors’ responsibility under applicable 
UK law to select suitable accounting policies 
and make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the year in which the estimate is revised and in 
any future years affected.

The accounting policies that are deemed  
critical to the Group’s financial performance  
and position, in terms of the materiality of  
the items to which the policy is applied, or  
which involve a high degree of judgement  
and estimation are summarised below:

Defined benefits obligation

The valuation of the defined benefits liability 
at the balance sheet date and the related staff 
costs depend on the expected future benefits 
to be provided, which in turn is determined 
using a number of economic and demographic 
assumptions. A range of assumptions could 
be applied, and different assumptions could 
significantly alter the defined benefit liability 
and pension expense recognised. The most 
significant assumptions include inflation-linked 
assumptions (CPI and RPI), the discount rate 
and life expectancy. For more information, 
please refer to Note 25 Pension Liabilities.

Valuation of financial instruments

The Group accounting policy for valuation of 
financial instruments is set out in accounting 
policy 3J. The valuation techniques used in 
measuring fair value of financial instruments 
are discussed further in Note 30C.
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Where valuation techniques are used, the inputs 
to these models are taken from observable 
markets where possible. Where observable 
market data is not available, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair value.

Further disclosure on valuation techniques using 
non-observable market data is provided in Note 
30C. Sensitivity analysis is provided in the Risk 
Review section.

Provisions

The Group recognises provisions when there is an 
obligation at reporting date (legal or constructive) 
resulting from a past event and it is probable that 
a transfer of economic benefits will be required 
and a reliable estimate can be made as to the 
amount of the obligation.

Provisions are distinguished from other liabilities, 
as there is uncertainty about the timing or amount 
of future expenditure required to settle the 
obligation, and the Group recognises provisions 
based upon its best estimate of such expenditure.

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and 
its value in use. The Group assesses impairment 
on its non-financial assets in accordance with 
Accounting Policy 3M, which is based on the 
identification of Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”) 

that are associated with the assets, the estimation 
of future cash flows and the application of 
a Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) model to 
determine value in use. The recoverable amount 
is sensitive to the discount rate used for the 
DCF model as well as the expected future cash-
inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation 
purposes. Where necessary, adjustments to future 
cash-flows are made to reflect arm’s length prices. 
These estimates are most relevant to Intangible 
assets which are disclosed in Note 17.

Revenue recognition 

The treatment of various recharges by the 
Group to other Mizuho affiliates involves 
judgement in determining whether the Group 
acts in a principal or agent capacity. This requires 
assessing, amongst other things, whether the 
Group has exposure to significant risk and 
rewards associated with the rendering of the 
underlying services. This could involve, inter alia, 
consideration of factors such as which entity(ies) 
would benefit from the associated service 
and have exposure to underlying risks, who is 
primarily responsible for providing the strategic 
direction under which the services are performed, 
and whether the amount earned is pre-determined 
or if the Group has latitude in establishing a 
selling price. The outcome of the assessment 
determines whether the associated revenue is 
presented on a gross or net basis in the Group’s 
financial statements. For further details, please 
refer to Accounting Policy 3N.

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Fees and commissions receivable

- Trading activities 188.0 168.2

- Fiduciary services 10.7 10.6

198.7 178.8

Fees and commissions payable

- Trading activities (75.9) (71.8)

- Fiduciary services (0.1) (0.1)

(76.0) (71.9)

7.  Dealing Profit

Dealing profit includes foreign currency losses arising on the translation of foreign currency monetary 
assets and liabilities amounting to £0.9 million (2024: £0.6 million profit).

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Net interest income from financial instruments held for trading 132.9 126.5

Net interest expense from financial instruments designated at fair value (0.1) (0.1)

Net gains from financial instruments held for trading 39.7 73.5

Net gains from financial instruments designated at fair value 2.6 5.0

175.1 204.9

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Interest receivable

- Cash and balances at central banks and Loans and advances to banks 10.1 18.7

- Other1 18.3 14.6

28.4 33.3

Interest payable

- Deposits by Banks and Customers accounts (58.8) (53.7)

- Debt securities in issue (34.8) (39.5)

- Other1 (12.1) (10.1)

(105.7) (103.3)

�Explanatory notes on other
1.	 �Other includes interest income / expense from cash collateral and repurchase / reverse repurchase agreements at amortised cost.

5.  Net Interest Payable
8.  Other Operating Income

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

 

Income from service recharges 152.9 -

Rental income - 2.3

152.9 2.3

6.  Fees and Commissions

Income from service recharges includes the recharge of corporate services costs and Front office staff 
costs to Mizuho Bank, London branch under Service Level Agreements in place between the Group 
and various Mizuho affiliates. The increase in Income from service recharges is primarily driven by the 
expanded corporate services activities delivered through MECS.
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2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 167.7 94.1

Social security costs 20.9 11.0

Pension costs – defined contribution schemes 9.6 5.3

Share based payments 7.3 6.8

205.5 117.2

Auditors’ remuneration

Audit fees 1.4 1.3

Other assurance services 0.2 0.2

1.6 1.5

Rental expense (1.0) 5.4

Professional services 63.4 29.7

Other administrative expenses 69.1 46.9

131.5 82.0

338.6 200.7

Average number of employees 2025 2024

Number Number

Executive and senior managerial 208 117

Other managerial, supervisory and clerical 1,086 436

1,294 553

Directors’ emoluments
Group 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Directors’ emoluments in respect of qualifying services 4.1 4.1

2025 2024

Number Number

Number of directors who received shares in respect of qualifying services 2 1

Number of directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under the 
Company’s defined contribution scheme 1 1

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Aggregate emoluments of highest paid Director 2.5 2.4

Pension contributions made to highest paid Director nil nil

Part of the compensation of the highest paid director is deferred to future years, of which £0.4 million 
(2024: £0.4 million) relates to deferred share awards.

9.  Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses (comprising staff costs, rental expense, professional services and other 
administrative expenses) exclude balances relating to certain arrangements where the Group has 
determined that it is acting in an agency capacity and recharged those costs to other Mizuho affiliates. 
The associated headcount is however included in the average employee numbers as the employees are 
employed by the Group. The increase in Administrative expenses, notably Staff costs, is primarily driven 
by the expanded corporate services activities delivered through MECS, and the transfer of Front office staff 
into the Company at the start of the year.

The rental expense amount of (£1.0m) above includes a one-off credit adjustment relating to the release of 
the unamortised rent-free period balance of £6.6m, following termination of the Company’s sub-lease with 
Mizuho Bank, London branch, during the year.
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With effect from 1 April 2023, the rate of corporation tax increased from 19% to 25% and the rate of Banking 
Surcharge decreased from 8% to 3%. These changes were enacted in 2021 and 2022 respectively. 

As in prior years, no deferred tax balance continues to be recognised on the Balance Sheet for the excess 
deferred tax assets because the Directors have concluded that the level of anticipated future profits will 
not support the quantum of deferred tax currently unrecognised at the Balance Sheet date. At 31 March 
2025, the Company had an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £466.9 million (2024: £467.2 million), which 
includes trading losses with a gross value of £1,840.7 million (2024: £1,839.2 million). Under current UK tax 
legislation there is no prescribed time period for loss utilisation. The Company has deferred tax liabilities of 
£2.1 million which are offset by the equivalent amount of deferred tax assets. 

During the year the Company allocated 100% of its £50 million portion share of the banking surcharge 
allowance for current year to a related party, Mizuho Bank, Ltd., London Branch for which it will receive £1.5 
million payment at the rate (3%) which Mizuho Bank Ltd., London branch pays UK banking corporation tax 
surcharge. Additionally the Company allocated a further £9.6 million of its share of the banking surcharge 
allowance for prior year to a related party, Mizuho Bank, Ltd., London Branch for which it will receive a 
further £0.3 million payment on a similar basis.

OECD Pillar Two model rules BEPS Pillar Two Minimum tax legislation has been enacted in jurisdictions  
in which the Mizuho Group operates. The legislation is effective for the Group’s financial year ending  
31 March 2025. 

Based on the most recent data available, the Group does not anticipate a material impact to the tax  
charge from Pillar Two. The Group will continue to assess its exposure during its preparation of  
Pillar Two returns that are due for submission to tax authorities in 2026.

As mandated by FRS 102, the Group has applied the temporary exemption and accordingly has  
neither recognised nor disclosed information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to  
Pillar Two income taxes.

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 5.8 15.0

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate 25% 1.4 3.8

Effects of:

-  Movements in unrecognised deferred taxes 0.8 (1.1)

-  Net of income not taxable and expenses not deductible for tax purposes (0.2) 0.3

-  Bank surcharge allowance allocation in excess of 25% (1.5) (1.1)

-  Prior year adjustments (1.9) (0.4)

Current tax (credit) / charge (1.4) 1.5

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax recognised

Deferred tax liabilities Deferred tax assets

Investments
Intangible 

fixed assets Losses
Property, plant  
and equipment Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Deferred tax (liability) / asset at 
1 April 2023 (0.9) (2.1) 2.1 0.9 -

Credit / (charge) to profit 0.1 0.3 (0.3) (0.1) -

Deferred tax (liability) / asset at 
31 March 2024 (0.8) (1.8) 1.8 0.8 -

Credit / (charge) to profit 0.7 (0.3) 0.3 (0.7) -

Deferred tax (liability) / asset as 
at 31 March 2025 (0.1) (2.1) 2.1 0.1 -

Total taxation reconciliation

A reconciliation between the tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by UK standard rate of 
corporation tax is as follows:

Charge for taxation 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Current taxation

UK corporation tax for the current year 0.3 1.7

Foreign tax 0.2 0.2

Prior year adjustments (1.9) (0.4)

Current (tax credit) / (tax charge (1.4) 1.5

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax charge - -

Tax (credit) / charge on profit on ordinary activities (1.4) 1.5

10.  Tax on Profit on Ordinary Activities
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11.  Transferred financial assets and assets held or pledged as collateral

Transferred financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety

The following tables provide a summary of those financial assets that have been transferred in such a way 
as to not be fully derecognised, together with the associated liabilities:

2025

Government 
debt securities  

£ millions

Other debt 
securities  
£ millions

Total  
£ millions

Carrying amount assets 271.7 1,984.5 2,256.2

Carrying amount associated liabilities 231.1 1,935.6 2,166.7

2024 Government 
debt securities

Other debt 
securities Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions

Carrying amount assets 192.6 1,827.3 2,019.9

Carrying amount associated liabilities 136.8 1,647.8 1,784.6

Group

2025

Government 
debt securities  

£ millions

Other debt 
securities  
£ millions

Total  
£ millions

Carrying amount assets 272.4 1,983.8 2,256.2

Carrying amount associated liabilities 231.7 1,934.9 2,166.6

2024

Government 
debt securities  

£ millions

Other debt 
securities  
£ millions

Total  
£ millions

Carrying amount assets 330.7 1,662.3 1,993.0

Carrying amount associated liabilities 132.0 1,629.3 1,761.3

Company

These financial assets have been transferred through repurchase agreements, and there are no liabilities 
that have recourse only to the transferred assets.

The Group and the Company have a programme to borrow and lend securities, to sell securities under 
agreements to repurchase (repos) and to purchase securities under agreements to resell (reverse repos).

The securities lent or sold under agreements to repurchase are transferred to a third party and the Group 
receives cash in exchange, or other financial assets. These transactions are conducted under terms based 
on the applicable ISDA Collateral Guidelines. If the securities increase or decrease in value the Group 
may, in certain circumstances, require, or be required, to pay additional cash collateral. The Group has 
determined that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards of these securities, which include credit 
risk and market risk, and therefore it has not derecognised them. In addition it recognises a financial 
liability in respect of cash received as collateral.

The associated liabilities are recorded within the Statement of Financial Position line item Repurchase 
agreements, together with liabilities which have financed reverse repo transactions:

Group 

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Liabilities financing transferred assets 2,166.6 1,784.5

Liabilities financing reverse repo transactions 6,492.3 5,410.9

Repurchase agreements 8,658.9 7,195.4

Company
2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Liabilities financing transferred assets 2,166.6 1,761.3

Liabilities financing reverse repo transactions 6,492.3 5,475.2

Repurchase agreements 8,658.9 7,236.5

Assets pledged as collateral

The Group and the Company pledges assets in various day-to-day transactions that are conducted under 
the usual terms and conditions applying to such agreements. 

The Group pledged securities as collateral in repurchase agreements or as margin with a fair value of 
£20,194.7 million (2024: £16,937.0 million). Of these, securities with a fair value of £2,256.1 million  
(2024: £2,019.9 million) are recognised on the Group’s Statement of Financial Position. 

The Company pledged securities as collateral in repurchase agreements or as margin with a fair value  
of £20,194.7 million (2024: £17,125.9 million). Of these, securities with a fair value of £2,256.2 million  
(2024: £1,993.0 million) are recognised on the Company’s Statement of Financial Position.

Assets held as collateral

The Group and Company holds certain assets as collateral which it is permitted to sell or re-pledge  
in the absence of default by the owner of the collateral, under the usual terms and conditions applying  
to such agreements.

The Group received securities as collateral in reverse repurchase agreements with a fair value  
of £20,077.7 million (2024: £18,416.4 million). Of these, securities with a fair value of £19,315.7 million (2024: 
£17,737.8 million) have been sold or re-pledged. The Group is obliged to return the same collateral  
to the owner on completion of the arrangement.

The Company received securities as collateral in reverse repurchase agreements with a fair value of 
£20,077.7 million (2024: £18,559.1 million). Of these, securities with a fair value of £19,315.7 million (2024: 
£17,885.8 million) have been sold or re-pledged. The Company is obliged to return the same collateral to 
the owner on completion of the arrangement.
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Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety – Convertible Bonds

During the year, the Group transferred convertible bonds that are subject to call options that were neither 
deeply in the money nor deeply out of the money at the date of transfer. The market for these convertible 
bonds was and is still regarded as liquid. Additionally the agreement with the majority of the option 
counterparties allows for cash settlement. The Group therefore determined that, although it had not 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards to the transferee, it had not retained control of the 
assets and, as such, it derecognised the convertible bonds.

Group and Company

The carrying amount of the purchased call options are as follows:

12.  Loans and Advances

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Carrying amount of purchased call options 34.5 70.5

Interest Income arising from loans and advances to banks amounted to £0.7 million (2024: £0.7 million).

Further details of the classification and fair value measurement of loans and advances to banks are 
disclosed in Note 30.

Group
2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Loans and advances to banks

Repayable on demand 60.2 47.1

60.2 47.1

Company 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Loans and advances to banks

Repayable on demand 35.3 38.7

35.3 38.7

Loans and advances to customers 21.2 31.9

Other loans and advances 21.2 31.9
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13.  Debt and other fixed income securities

In the year to 31 March 2025, there were no unobservable day one profits in respect of debt securities  
(2024: £nil).

Further details of the classification and fair value measurement of debt securities is disclosed in Note 30.

Group
2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Debt securities

Issued by public bodies 4,045.1 3,992.3

Issued by other issuers 1,599.8 1,471.4

5,644.9 5,463.7

Company 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Debt securities

Issued by public bodies 4,009.6 3,782.9

Issued by other issuers 1,597.8 1,469.1

5,607.4 5,252.0

Other financial investments relates to a carried interest financial investment in Apposite Healthcare Fund 
L.P and Apposite Healthcare Fund II L.P, a member seat at the CME Group, and member shares in secure 
financial messaging service provider SWIFT. 

The values of these interests at 31 March 2025 were: the two Apposite investments £1.0 million (2024: £3.3 
million), CME £0.1 million (2024: £0.1 million), and SWIFT £0.1 million (2024: £0.1 million).

Further details of the classification and fair value measurement of equity shares is disclosed in Note 30 and 
its exposure to various risks can be found in the Risk Review section.

Group

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Listed other than on a recognised UK exchange 1.4 0.9

Other financial investments 1.2 3.4

2.6 4.3

Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Listed other than on a recognised UK exchange 1.4 0.8

Other financial investments 1.1 3.4

2.5 4.2

15.  Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Group

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Derivative assets

Trading derivative assets:

	– Interest rate 7,809.0 9,026.5

	– Convertible bond options 70.5 123.7

	– Foreign currency 120.3 224.7

	– Credit 520.2 332.5

Total trading derivative assets 8,520.0 9,707.4

Derivative assets held for risk management 0.1 0.3

8,520.1 9,707.7

Derivative liabilities

Trading derivative liabilities:

	– Interest rate 7,796.1 8,886.4

	– Convertible bond options 70.2 123.4

	– Foreign currency 136.1 235.4

	– Credit 538.9 351.9

	– Equity - 0.1

Total trading derivative liabilities 8,541.3 9,597.2

Derivative liabilities held for risk management 7.1 6.1

8,548.4 9,603.3

14.  Equity Shares
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Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Derivative assets

Trading derivative assets:

	– Interest rate 7,809.0 9,025.4

	– Convertible bond options 70.5 123.7

	– Foreign currency 120.3 224.7

	– Credit 520.2 332.5

Total trading derivative assets 8,520.0 9,706.3

Derivative assets held for risk management 0.1 0.3

8,520.1 9,706.6

Derivative liabilities

Trading derivative liabilities:

	– Interest rate 7,796.1 8,885.4

	– Convertible bond options 70.1 123.4

	– Foreign currency 136.1 235.5

	– Credit 538.9 351.9

	– Equity - 0.1

Total trading derivative liabilities 8,541.2 9,596.3

Derivative liabilities held for risk management 7.1 6.1

8,548.3 9,602.4

In the year to 31 March 2025, there are unobservable day one profits of £1.1 million (2024: £1.1 million) in 
respect of trading derivative assets and liabilities. 

Further details of the classification and fair value measurement of trading derivative assets and liabilities 
are disclosed in Note 30.

Derivatives held for risk management

Group and Company

2025 
Assets

Within a fair 
value hedge 
relationship Other1 Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions

Primary instruments

Interest rate - - -

Credit - 0.1 0.1

- 0.1

Total 0.1

2025 
Liabilities

Within a fair 
value hedge 
relationship Other1 Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions

Primary instruments

Interest rate 7.1 - 7.1

7.1 - 7.1

Total 7.1

2024 
Assets

Within a fair 
value hedge 
relationship Other1 Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions

Primary instruments

Interest rate 0.2 - 0.2

Credit - 0.1 0.1

0.2 0.1 0.3

Total 0.3

2024 
Liabilities

Within a fair 
value hedge 
relationship Other1 Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions

Primary instruments

Interest rate 6.0 - 6.0

Foreign currency 0.1 - 0.1

6.1 - 6.1

Total 6.1

Explanatory notes on other
1.	 �Other includes derivatives which are held for risk management purposes on certain Fair Value Option debt issuances which are not in a 

designated hedge accounting relationship.

The Group uses primary derivative instruments to manage exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency 
risk and credit risk arising from its debt issuance programmes (see Note 21). These derivative instruments 
include interest rate swaps, foreign currency swaps and credit default swaps.

Further details of the classification and fair value measurement of derivatives held for risk management are 
disclosed in Note 30.
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Derivatives held for risk management designated as fair value hedges 

The Group uses primary interest rate and other swap instruments to hedge its exposure to changes in 
fair value of fixed rate debt and other host contracts that are carried at amortised cost. The changes in fair 
values of the hedging derivative instruments and the hedged items attributable to the hedged risks are 
analysed below:

Group and Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Losses on hedging derivative instruments (1.2) (0.2)

Gains on hedged items attributable to hedged risk:

 - Debt securities in issue (see Note 21) 1.2 0.2

Ineffective portion of fair value hedges - -

Derivative assets designated as fair value hedges - 0.2

Derivative liabilities designated as fair value hedges 7.1 6.1

16. 	Shares in Group Undertakings
Group

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Listed other than on a recognised UK exchange 17.6 13.2

Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Listed other than on a recognised UK exchange 15.9 11.8

Investment in subsidiary 34.5 35.2

50.4 47.0

Listed other than on a recognised UK exchange

The Group has established an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) for the Company and its UK subsidiary, and 
a separate EBT for its German subsidiary. The EBTs are responsible for purchasing and holding shares of 
the Mizuho Financial Group for the hedging of future liabilities arising as a result of the employee share 
based compensation scheme. The EBTs are consolidated in the Group’s and the Company’s (MHI EBT only) 
financial statements as part of the share based scheme for the benefit of employees. Further details of the 
share based payment scheme are disclosed in Note 31. 

On 1 April 2025, the EBT for MHEU exited from the Group following the sale of the Company’s investment 
in MHEU to Mizuho Bank Europe (“MBE”).

Investment in subsidiary

Subsidiary Country of Incorporation MHI’s ownership
Mizuho Securities Europe GmbH Germany 100%

Mizuho EMEA Corporate Services Limited England 100%

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Group was exposed to foreign currency risk through its 
net investment in foreign operations in one of its wholly owned subsidiaries, MIzuho Securities Europe 
GmbH (“MHEU”). The Group hedged this currency risk on its net investment through EUR denominated 
borrowing as the hedging instrument. Gains/losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective 
portion of the hedge were recognised in Other Comprehensive Income, while any gains/losses on the 
ineffective portion were recognised in the income statement. Hedge ineffectiveness occurs in a net 
investment hedge if the net asset value designated at the start of the period falls below the amount of the 
hedging instrument. MHI assessed hedge effectiveness of the net investment hedge on a monthly basis, 
both on a prospective and retrospective basis

As at 31 March 2025, the fair value of financial instruments designated as hedge of net investment in 
foreign operations was £33.5m (2024: £34.2m).

The amount of gain/(loss) recognised in the income statement on the ineffective portion of the hedge 
during the period was £nil (2024: £nil).

On 1 April 2025, the Company sold its investment in MHEU to Mizuho Bank Europe (“MBE”) at the 
underlying fair value, as part of a broader initiative by Mizuho Financial Group to create an integrated 
Universal Bank in the EU region. Following this sale, MHEU legally merged with MBE with effect from 5 
April 2025. The sale by the Company includes all underlying assets (with a carrying amount of £78.5m) and 
liabilities (with a carrying amount of £40.7m) in MHEU as of 1 April 2025. For further details, please refer to 
Note 34 Post Balance Sheet Events.
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17.	 Intangible Assets
Group and Company

Software

Software 
development 

expenditure Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions

Cost
At 1 April 2024 227.5 32.5 260.0
Additions - 43.7 43.7
Disposals (4.7) - (4.7)
Impairments - (0.6) (0.6)
Transfers / reclassification 24.4 (24.4) -
At 31 March 2025 247.2 51.2 298.4

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation
At 1 April 2024 183.3 - 183.3
Disposals (4.6) - (4.6)
Impairments - - -
Charge for the year 23.4 - 23.4
At 31 March 2025 202.1 - 202.1

Net book value
At 31 March 2025 45.1 51.2 96.3

At 31 March 2024 44.2 32.5 76.7

During the financial year, the Group and the Company made available for use and transferred £24.4 million 
(2024: £27.7 million) of internally developed software from Software development expenditure to Software.

18.	 Tangible Fixed Assets

Group

Property 
improvements

Fixtures, 
equipment, 
integrated 

software and 
vehicles Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions

Cost

At 1 April 2024 26.5 35.9 62.4

Additions - 5.2 5.2

Disposals (2.9) (0.1) (3.0)

Impairments - - -

At 31 March 2025 23.6 41.0 64.6

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation

At 1 April 2024 10.4 24.9 35.3

Disposals (1.2) (0.1) (1.3)

Charge for the year 1.4 4.1 5.5

At 31 March 2025 10.6 28.9 39.5

Net book value

At 31 March 2025 13.0 12.1 25.1

At 31 March 2024 16.1 11.0 27.1

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation

At 1 April 2024 9.6 24.3 33.9

Disposals (1.1) (0.1) (1.2)

Impairments

Charge for the year 1.3 4.0 5.3

At 31 March 2025 9.8 28.2 38.0

Net book value

At 31 March 2025 12.8 11.9 24.7

At 31 March 2024 15.8 10.8 26.6

Company

Property 
improvements

Fixtures, 
equipment, 
integrated 

software and 
vehicles Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions

Cost

At 1 April 2024 25.4 35.1 60.5

Additions - 5.1 5.1

Disposals (2.8) (0.1) (2.9)

Impairments - - -

At 31 March 2025 22.6 40.1 62.7

Property improvements includes various premises related improvements. This was previously referred to 
as “Short leasehold property” and has been renamed following termination of the sublease arrangement 
during the year.
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19.	 Other Assets

Group

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Unsettled repo receivables 21.9 257.1

Collateral pledged 427.4 545.7

Clearing house default fund contribution 32.5 31.1

Other trade receivables 34.7 38.1

Trade receivables 516.5 872.0

Less: provision for trade receivables (2.9) (2.9)

Other assets 46.2 28.8

559.8 897.9

Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Unsettled repo receivables 21.9 260.0

Collateral pledged 426.5 542.8

Clearing house default fund contribution 32.5 31.1

Other trade receivables 34.7 39.8

Trade receivables 515.6 873.7

Less: provision for trade receivables (2.9) (2.9)

Other assets 34.3 26.9

547.0 897.7

Unsettled repo receivables are all less than three months past due.

Collateral pledged relates to repo, reverse repo, futures and derivative transactions.

20.	 Deposits by Banks and Customer Accounts

Group

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Deposits by banks

Repayable on demand 9.8 0.9

With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice 668.9 518.2

678.7 519.1

Customer accounts

With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice 473.5 707.5

473.5 707.5

Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Deposits by banks

Repayable on demand 9.8 -

With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice 668.9 518.2

678.7 518.2

Customer accounts

Repayable on demand 14.0 1.0

With agreed maturity dates or periods of notice 473.5 707.5

487.5 708.5

Net interest expense arising from Deposits by banks and Customer accounts amounted to £58.8 million 
(2024: £53.7 million). Of this, £28.9 million (2024: £16.0 million) was net payable to Mizuho Financial Group 
entities and £29.9 million (2024: £37.7 million) was net payable to third party entities.
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21.	 Debt Securities in Issue
Group and Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Debt securities – amortised cost 551.2 454.8

Debt securities – adjusted for fair value hedge accounting 736.9 935.9

Debt securities – designated at fair value through profit and loss 4.2 4.3

1,292.3 1,395.0

Net interest expense arising from Debt securities accounted at amortised cost (including those adjusted for 
fair value hedge accounting) amounted to £34.8 million (2024: £39.5 million).

Further details of the classification and fair value measurement of debt securities in issue are disclosed in 
Note 30.

Debt securities adjusted for fair value hedge accounting 

Group and Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Net gains recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 1.2 0.2

Contractual amount at maturity 748.6 948.8

Debt securities designated at fair value through profit and loss

Group and Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Net (losses)/gains recognised in the statement of comprehensive income - -

Contractual amount at maturity 4.1 4.2

Certain debt securities in issue were designated at fair value since these are managed on a fair value 
basis. The net loss recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income arising on debt securities that is 
attributable to changes in the Company’s credit risk amounted to £nil (2024: £nil).

22.	 Short Trading Positions

 

Group

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Short trading positions in debt securities:

	–  Issued by public bodies 2,259.1 3,412.0

	–  Issued by other issuers 630.0 513.7

2,889.1 3,925.7

Company 2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Short trading positions in debt securities:

 - Issued by public bodies 2,259.1 3,202.5

 - Issued by other issuers 630.0 513.7

2,889.1 3,716.2

In the year to 31 March 2025, there were no unobservable day one profits in respect of short trading 
positions (2024: £nil).

Further details of the classification and fair value measurement of short trading positions are disclosed in 
Note 30.
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23.	 Other Liabilities

Group

2025 2023

£ millions £ millions

Unsettled repo payables 11.0 131.6

Collateral received 315.3 483.4

Other trade payables 17.2 23.7

Trade payables 343.5 638.7

Other liabilities 14.1 9.1

Tax and social security payable 8.2 3.4

365.8 651.2

Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Unsettled repo payables 11.0 151.8

Collateral received 315.3 484.0

Other trade payables 19.3 24.9

Trade payables 345.6 660.7

Other liabilities 9.9 8.9

Tax and social security payable 2.4 2.9

357.9 672.5

Unsettled repo payables are all past due for less than three months.

Collateral received relates to repo, reverse repo and derivative transactions.

24.	 Provisions for Liabilities
Group

Total
£ millions

At 1 April 2024 3.1

Charged through income statement 0.1

Released (3.0)

Utilised for the year -

At 31 March 2025 0.2

Company

Total
£ millions

At 1 April 2024 2.9

Charged through income statement 0.1

Released (2.9)

Utilised for the year -

At 31 March 2025 0.1

The Group may become subject to various litigation matters over the normal course of business. Where 
a claim is considered to be more likely than not to result in a settlement, a provision is made based on 
management’s best estimate of the cost to the Group of settling such claims.

The MHI dilapidation provision for 30 Old Bailey raised in prior years has been released in FY24/25, 
following the termination of the sub-lease during the current financial year.

25.	 Pension Liabilities

Group and Company

Defined benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined benefits scheme, the Mizuho International Plc Retirement Benefits Scheme 
(‘Scheme’), which is a final salary scheme, established in 1978 and currently governed by the trust deed 
and rules dated 18 September 1998. The Scheme is a “registered pension scheme” for tax purposes. All 
members were contracted-out of the State Second Pension during active membership of the Scheme.

In accordance with the trust deed the Group, as Principal Employer, has the power to appoint and remove 
the Trustees of the Scheme. The three Trustees include a Group representative, an independent corporate 
Trustee and a member nominated Trustee.

There are no active members remaining in the Scheme, and it is closed to new entrants and future benefit 
accrual. There were 122 deferred members and 92 pensioner members who have pensions paid directly 
from the Scheme as at 31 March 2025.

A valuation of the scheme has been estimated as at 31 March 2025 by a qualified independent actuary, 
based on the results of the actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2021, adjusted for the different assumptions 
required under FRS102 and taking into consideration subsequent cash flows.
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The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date were as follows: 

2025 
% p.a.

2024 
% p.a.

Discount rate 5.5 4.8

Inflation assumption (RPI) 3.0 3.1

CPI linked increases (max 5% p.a.) 3.0 2.1

Pension increases (RPI, max 5% p.a.) 2.9 3.0

The underlying mortality assumption is based upon the standard table known as S4PA on a year of birth 
usage with Continuous Mortality Investigation_2023 (“CMI”) future improvement factors and long-term 
rate of future improvement of 1.0% p.a. (2024: S3PA with CMI_2022 future improvement factors and a long-
term future improvement rate of 1.0% p.a.). This results in the following life expectancies:

•	 Male age 65 now has a life expectancy of 21.1 years (previously 21.3 years)
•	 Female age 65 now has a life expectancy of 23.6 years (previously 23.8 years)

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are as follows:

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Present value of Scheme liabilities (29.5) (31.1)

Market value of Scheme assets 29.7 31.7

Restriction of Recognisable Surplus (0.2) (0.6)

Deficit in the Scheme - -

Related deferred tax asset - -

Net pension liability - -

The amounts to be recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year are as follows:

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Interest on Scheme assets 1.5 1.5

Interest on Scheme liabilities (1.5) (1.5)

Contribution paid by a related party - -

- -

Changes in the present value of the Scheme liabilities are as follows:

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Present value of Scheme liabilities at 1 April 31.1 31.9

Interest on Scheme liabilities 1.5 1.5

Benefits paid (1.6) (1.9)

Actuarial gains (1.5) (0.4)

Present value of Scheme liabilities at 31 March 29.5 31.1

Changes in the fair value of the Scheme assets for the year are as follows:

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Market value of Scheme assets at 1 April 31.7 32.6

Interest on Scheme assets 1.5 1.5

Return on assets (2.1) (0.7)

Benefits paid (1.7) (2.0)

Contributions paid by the Group 0.3 0.3

Market value of Scheme assets at 31 March 29.7 31.7

Actual return on scheme assets (0.6) 0.8

Actuarial valuations are carried out every three years on behalf of the Trustees of the scheme, by a qualified 
independent actuary. The actuarial assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation are different to those 
adopted under FRS102.

The last such finalised actuarial valuation was at 31 March 2021. This showed that the Scheme’s assets were 
sufficient to cover the liabilities on the funding basis. The Scheme’s Schedule of Contribution dated 19 May 
2022 has no contributions payable in respect of any deficit, and requires the Company to pay an amount 
of £227,000 per annum (2024: £227,000) in respect of expenses administering the scheme. These payments 
are subject to review following the next actuarial valuation, due within 15 months of its effective date of 31 
March 2025. 
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The Virgin Media Ltd vs NTL Pension Trustees II judgement, handed down by the High Court in 16 June 
2023, considered the implications of Section 37 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993. Section 37 of the Pension 
Schemes Act 1993 only allowed the rules of contracted-out schemes in respect to benefits to be altered 
where certain requirements were met. Though the court decision is upheld by the Court of Appeal in a 
further judgement issued on 25 July 2024 it is currently uncertain whether the absence of a Section 37 
Certificate means that previous amendments made to benefits in the period between 6 April 1997 and 5 
April 2016 are invalid. 

The Scheme Trustees, with the assistance of their legal advisers, are currently reviewing amendments 
pertaining to the relevant period. Based on their review, the Scheme Trustees have determined that 
they will continue to administer the scheme as usual and have not implemented any changes. For the 
calculations related to pension disclosures, the Group has not accounted for any potential impact these 
amendments may have on Scheme benefits. The Group will continue to monitor developments, other legal 
cases and Government proposals to legislate for validating retrospectively any amendments.

The major categories of Scheme assets as a percentage of total Scheme assets for the year are as follows:

2025 % 2024 %

Insured Annuities 98 97

Cash 2 3

100 100

Analysis of amounts recognisable in the Other Comprehensive Income for the year is provided below.

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Return on assets (2.1) (0.7)

Actuarial gains 1.5 0.4

Restriction of Recognisable Surplus 0.3 -

Remeasurement losses recognised in other comprehensive income (0.3) (0.3)

Movements in the surplus during the year are as follows:

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Deficit in Scheme at 1 April - -

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income - -

Contributions paid by the Group 0.3 0.3

Remeasurement gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income (0.3) (0.3)

Deficit in Scheme at 31 March - -

Employment benefit plans

The Company currently operates a Group Personal Pension (‘GPP’) arrangement which is a defined 
contribution scheme for UK employees. In addition, the subsidiary MHEU operates a similar defined 
contribution scheme for all employees in Germany. Subject to meeting certain qualifying conditions, all 
staff joining the Group are eligible to become members of their local scheme.

The GPP provides employees with a tax-efficient way of saving for retirement. It is a low-cost, flexible and 
portable arrangement which the Group also contributes towards. 

Contributions are currently subject to the maximum limits as laid down by the relevant tax authority in 
each jurisdiction. Group contributions are made as a percentage of salary and/or bonus waivers through a 
salary sacrifice arrangement. 

The assets of the GPP are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. 
During the year ended 31 March 2025 the Group made contributions of £16.8 million (2024: £6.7 million) 
to the GPP of which £6.8 million related to the employees’ salary sacrifice arrangements (2024: £2 million). 
The total expense to the Group was £10 million (2024: £4.7 million).

26. Related Party Balances
Included within assets and liabilities are the following balances due to / from Mizuho Financial  
Group entities:

Group

2025
Controlling 

entities1
Other related 

parties Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions

Assets

Loans and advances to banks - 0.5 0.5

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 431.5 275.9 707.4

Debt and other fixed income securities 9.8 3.1 12.9

Derivative assets 138.7 114.5 253.2

Shares in group undertakings 17.6 - 17.6

Other assets 26.2 31.3 57.5

Prepayments and accrued income 14.0 55.0 69.0

637.8 480.3 1,118.1

Liabilities

Deposits by banks - 629.7 629.7

Repurchase agreements with banks 760.4 11.7 772.1

Short trading positions 13.8 - 13.8

Derivative liabilities - 21.0 21.0

Other liabilities 172.5 105.7 278.2

Accruals and deferred income 14.6 16.7 31.3

Provision for liabilities - 0.1 0.1

961.3 784.9 1,746.2
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Included within the Statement of Comprehensive Income are the following transactions due to / from 
Mizuho Financial Group entities:

2025
Controlling 

entities1
Other related 

parties Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions

Interest receivable - 0.2 0.2

Interest payable (5.4) (34.8) (40.2)

Fees and commissions receivable 59.4 39.2 98.6

Fees and commissions payable (36.5) (18.2) (54.7)

Dealing profit 42.5 49.7 92.2

Other operating income 0.2 152.7 152.9

Administrative expenses 4.7 (17.7) (13.0)

Tax on profit on ordinary activities - 1.8 1.8

Total income from Affiliates 64.9 172.9 237.8

Company

2025
Controlling 

entities1
Controlled 

entities2
Other related 

parties Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Assets

Loans and advances to banks - - 0.5 0.5

Loans and advances to customers - 21.2 - 21.2

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 431.5 - 275.9 707.4

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers - - - -

Debt and other fixed income securities 9.8 - 3.1 12.9

Derivative assets 138.7 - 114.5 253.2

Shares in group undertakings 15.9 34.5 - 50.4

Other assets 25.6 0.5 30.4 56.5

Prepayments and accrued income 13.9 12.0 38.9 64.8

635.4 68.2 463.3 1,166.9

Liabilities

Deposits by banks - - 629.7 629.7

Customer accounts - 14.1 - 14.1

Repurchase agreements with banks 760.4 - 11.7 772.1

Repurchase agreements with customers - - - -

Short trading positions 13.8 - - 13.8

Derivative liabilities - - 21.0 21.0

Other liabilities 172.4 1.9 105.7 280.0

Accruals and deferred income 14.1 17.7 16.2 48.0

Provision for liabilities - - - -

960.7 33.7 784.3 1,778.7

Group

2024
Controlling 

entities1
Other related 

parties Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions

Assets

Loans and advances to banks - 2.2 2.2

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 580.1 251.1 831.2

Debt and other fixed income securities 4.3 1.1 5.4

Derivative assets 135.3 185.1 320.4

Shares in group undertakings 13.2 - 13.2

Other assets 22.8 29.7 52.5

Prepayments and accrued income 14.3 32.6 46.9

770.0 501.8 1,271.8

Liabilities

Deposits by banks - 518.2 518.2

Repurchase agreements with banks 427.6 15.0 442.6

Short trading positions 16.7 - 16.7

Derivative liabilities 7.2 47.8 55.0

Other liabilities 138.5 140.1 278.6

Accruals and deferred income 14.8 33.1 47.9

Provision for liabilities - 3.1 3.1

604.8 757.3 1,362.1

2024
Controlling 

entities1
Other related 

parties Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions

Interest receivable - 0.1 0.1

Interest payable (2.3) (22.3) (24.6)

Fees and commissions receivable 49.4 29.9 79.3

Fees and commissions payable (38.0) (10.2) (48.2)

Dealing profit 150.3 62.1 212.4

Other operating income - 2.3 2.3

Administrative expenses 10.2 7.4 17.6

Tax on profit on ordinary activities - 1.1 1.1

Total income from Affiliates 169.6 70.4 240.0
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Company

2024
Controlling 

entities1
Controlled 

entities2
Other related 

parties Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Assets

Loans and advances to banks - - 1.6 1.6

Loans and advances to customers - 31.9 - 31.9

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 580.1 - 251.1 831.2

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers - 38.6 - 38.6

Debt and other fixed income securities 4.3 - 1.1 5.4

Derivative assets 135.3 0.3 185.1 320.7

Shares in group undertakings 11.8 35.2 - 47.0

Other assets 22.8 4.9 29.5 57.2

Prepayments and accrued income 14.3 11.3 32.2 57.8

768.6 122.2 500.6 1,391.4

Liabilities

Deposits by banks - - 518.2 518.2

Customer account - 1.0 - 1.0

Repurchase agreements with banks 427.6 - 15.0 442.6

Repurchase agreements with customers - 41.1 - 41.1

Short trading positions 16.7 - - 16.7

Derivative liabilities 7.2 - 47.8 55.0

Other liabilities 138.5 22.1 140.1 300.7

Accruals and deferred income 14.7 4.1 33.0 51.8

Provision for liabilities - - 2.9 2.9

604.7 68.3 757.0 1,430.0

Explanatory notes on controlling entities
1.	 �Controlling entities includes the Company’s parent, Mizuho Securities, and the Company’s ultimate parent, Mizuho Financial Group, Inc.  

All other entities within the Mizuho Financial Group structure are reported under the category ‘Other related parties’.
2.	 Controlled entities includes the Company’s subsidiaries, MHEU and MECS..

27.	 Share Capital
Group and Company

2025 2025 2024 2024

Number £ millions Number £ millions

Issued called up and fully paid

Ordinary shares of GBP 10 each 75,485,797 754.9 70,985,797 709.9

On 28 March 2025, the Company issued 4,500,000 new Ordinary shares with a nominal value of £10 each. 
The shares were issued at par and the Company received a total consideration amount of £45 million.

28.	 Operating Lease Commitments
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group

2025 2024 

£ millions £ millions

Buildings Buildings

Not later than one year 0.6 5.0

Later than one year and not later than five years 0.2 18.8

Later than five years - 26.6

0.8 50.4

The total lease payments recognised as an expense by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 were 
£0.7 million (2024: £5.4 million). Future minimum lease payables were recognised on a straight line basis 
over the life of the lease.

Company

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Buildings Buildings

Not later than one year 0.2 4.6

Later than one year and not later than five years 0.2 18.3

Later than five years - 26.6

0.4 49.5

The total lease payments recognised as an expense by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 
were £0.2 million (2024: £4.9 million). Future minimum lease payables were recognised on a straight line 
basis over the life of the lease.

On 1 April 2024, the operating sub-lease between the Company and Mizuho Bank, London branch was 
terminated by mutual consent. Following this, the associated net dilapidation provision amount was 
released and booked to Retained Earnings as it was treated as an equity contribution and met the definition 
of realised profits. The unamortised balance of the rent-free concession amount was also released to P&L 
following the termination of the sub-lease.

Following the termination of the sub-lease, the Company and its subsidiary MECS, entered into a new 
Group Share Agreement with Mizuho Bank, London branch, which is more reflective of the flexible work 
arrangements and use of office space at 30 Old Bailey. As this arrangement does not meet the criteria for 
an operating lease, no future operating lease commitments have been included in the disclosure.
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Analysis of changes in net debt

At 1 April 2024 Cash Flows

Interest 
and finance 

charges

Changes in 
market value /
exchange rate

At 31 March 
2025

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Cash and balances at 
central banks 328.5 (213.0) - -    115.5

Loans and advances to 
banks 47.1 (0.9) 10.1 3.9 60.2

Loans and advances to 
customers - (6.2) 6.2 - -

Reverse repurchase 
agreements with 
customers 115.6 178.6 4.4 - 298.6

Net derivatives held for 
risk management1 (5.9) 0.1 - (1.2) (7.0)

Deposits by banks and 
customers2 (1,226.5) 133.1 (58.7) - (1,152.1)

Debt securities in issue (1,395.0) 136.3 (34.8) 1.2 (1,292.3)

Repurchase agreements 
with banks (105.9) (173.2) (2.9) - (282.0)

(2,242.1) 54.8 (75.7) 3.9 (2,259.1)

Explanatory notes on analysis of changes in net debt
1.	 �Net derivatives held for risk management include derivatives in a designated hedge accounting relationship to hedge debt issuances as well 

as for certain Fair Value option elected debt issuances. For more details, refer to Note 15 and Note 21
2.	 Deposits by banks & customers have been combined together for presentation purposes for this Note 

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Non-cash items included in profit before tax

Net foreign exchange difference 0.9 4.2

Interest receivable (145.7) (146.8)

Interest payable 93.6 93.3

Impairments of intangible and tangible assets 0.6 0.9

Depreciation and amortisation 28.9 29.3

Gains on revaluation of debt securities in issue (1.2) (0.2)

Gains on shares in group undertakings and Equity shares (0.2) (3.5)

Dividends received (0.4) (0.2)

Write back of unamortised rent-free balance (6.5) -

(30.0) (23.0)

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Change in operating assets

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 1,075.2 710.9

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers (1,527.4) (756.0)

Debt and other fixed income securities (181.2) (376.5)

Equity shares (1.1) 2.2

Derivative assets 1,187.6 3,364.9

Other assets 343.3 (462.0)

Prepayments and accrued income (50.3) (3.8)

846.1 2,479.7

Change in operating liabilities

Deposits by banks 159.5 227.0

Customer accounts (234.0) (190.5)

Repurchase agreements with banks 811.3 2,094.4

Repurchase agreements with customers 652.3 (1,805.6)

Short trading positions (1,036.5) 507.0

Derivative liabilities (1,055.0) (3,230.1)

Other liabilities (283.4) 69.0

Accruals and deferred income 47.0 15.4

(938.8) (2,313.4)

Cash and cash equivalents is defined as including:

Cash and balances at central banks 115.5 328.5

Loans and advances to banks 60.2 47.1

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 175.7 375.6

29.	 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
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30.	 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

A – Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

Group

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables Total

2025 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial assets:

Cash and balances at central banks - - 115.5 115.5

Loans and advances to banks - - 60.2 60.2

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 4,055.8 - - 4,055.8

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers 4,288.5 - 298.6 4,587.1

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,644.9 - - 5,644.9

Equity shares 1.4 1.2 - 2.6

Derivative assets 8,520.0 0.1 - 8,520.1

Shares in group undertakings - 17.6 - 17.6

Trade receivables 13.7 - 509.9 523.6

Prepayments and accrued income 123.2 - 78.3 201.5

22,647.5 18.9 1,062.5 23,728.9

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Financial 
liabilities Total

2025 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial liabilities:

Deposits by banks - - 678.7 678.7

Customer accounts - - 473.5 473.5

Repurchase agreements with banks 4,299.0 - 281.9 4,580.9

Repurchase agreements with customers 4,078.0 - - 4,078.0

Debt securities in issue - 4.2 1,288.1 1,292.3

Short positions 2,889.1 - - 2,889.1

Derivative liabilities 8,541.3 7.1 - 8,548.4

Trade payables 15.3 - 341.5 356.8

Accruals and deferred income1 85.6 - 22.0 107.6

19,908.3 11.3 3,085.7 23,005.3

A – Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Group

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables Total

2024 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial assets:

Cash and balances at central banks - - 328.5 328.5

Loans and advances to banks - - 47.1 47.1

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 5,131.0 - - 5,131.0

Reverse repurchase agreements with 
customers 2,944.0 - 115.6 3,059.6

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,463.7 - - 5,463.7

Equity shares 0.9 3.4 - 4.3

Derivative assets 9,707.4 0.3 - 9,707.7

Shares in group undertakings - 13.2 - 13.2

Trade receivables 15.7 - 860.9 876.6

Prepayments and accrued income 120.5 - 42.9 163.4

23,383.2 16.9 1,395.0 24,795.1

	

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Financial 
liabilities Total

2024 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial liabilities:

Deposits by banks - - 519.1 519.1

Customer accounts - - 707.5 707.5

Repurchase agreements with banks 3,769.7 - - 3,769.7

Repurchase agreements with customers 3,319.8 - 105.9 3,425.7

Debt securities in issue - 4.3 1,390.7 1,395.0

Short positions 3,925.7 - - 3,925.7

Derivative liabilities 9,597.2 6.1 - 9,603.3

Trade payables 19.9 - 622.9 642.8

Accruals and deferred income1 106.3 - 30.5 136.8

20,738.6 10.4 3,376.6 24,125.6

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 
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A – Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Company

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables Total

2025 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial assets:

Cash and balances at central banks - - 115.5 115.5

Loans and advances to banks - - 35.3 35.3

Loans and advances to customers - - 21.2 21.2

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 4,055.8 - - 4,055.8

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with customers 4,288.5 - 298.6 4,587.1

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,607.4 - - 5,607.4

Equity shares 1.4 1.1 - 2.5

Derivative assets 8,520.0 0.1 - 8,520.1

Shares in group undertakings - 15.9 - 15.9

Trade receivables 13.7 - 507.9 521.6

Prepayments and accrued income 123.2 - 71.3 194.5

22,610.0 17.1 1,049.8 23,676.9

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Financial 
liabilities Total

2025 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial liabilities:

Deposits by banks - - 678.7 678.7

Customer accounts - - 487.5 487.5

Repurchase agreements with banks 4,299.0 - 281.9 4,580.9

Repurchase agreements with customers 4,078.0 - - 4,078.0

Debt securities in issue - 4.2 1,288.1 1,292.3

Short positions 2,889.1 - - 2,889.1

Derivative liabilities 8,541.2 7.1 - 8,548.3

Trade payables 15.3 - 339.0 354.3

Accruals and deferred income1 85.6 - 38.2 123.8

19,908.2 11.3 3,113.4 23,032.9

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 
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B – Fair value hierarchy

The Group has allocated its financial instruments into a three-level fair value hierarchy based on the 
priority of the inputs to the valuation methodology.

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. If the inputs used to measure the financial 
instruments fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the categorisation is based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities recorded on the Statement of Financial Position are categorised based on the 
inputs to the valuation techniques as follows: 

Level 1 – Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical 
assets or liabilities in an active market that the Group has the ability to access. Valuation adjustments 
and block discounts are not applied to Level 1 instruments. Since valuations are based on quoted prices 
that are readily and regularly available in an active market, valuation of these products does not entail a 
significant degree of judgment.

Level 2 – Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on quoted prices in markets that are not 
active or model inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the 
asset or liability.

Level 3 – Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation techniques 
that require market data inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair value 
measurement. These inputs reflect management’s own assertions about the assumptions a market 
participant would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The availability of observable market data will vary from product to product and is affected by a wide 
variety of factors, including but not exclusive to the type of product and the liquidity of markets and 
other characteristics particular to the product. Where the valuation is based on models or inputs that are 
less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value requires more judgment. 
Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Group in determining fair value is greatest for 
instruments categorised in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Group considers market data that is current as of the measurement date, irrespective of whether that 
date falls within a period of market dislocation. In such circumstances the observability of market data may 
be reduced for many products. This condition could cause an instrument to be reclassified between levels 
within the fair value hierarchy.

A – Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Company

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Loans and 
receivables Total

2024 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial assets:

Cash and balances at central banks - - 328.5 328.5

Loans and advances to banks - - 38.7 38.7

Loans and advances to customers - - 31.9 31.9

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks 5,088.6 - - 5,088.6

Reverse repurchase agreements  
with customers 2,982.7 - 115.6 3,098.3

Debt and other fixed income securities 5,252.0 - - 5,252.0

Equity shares 0.8 3.4 - 4.2

Derivative assets 9,706.3 0.3 - 9,706.6

Shares in group undertakings - 11.8 - 11.8

Trade receivables 15.6 - 862.5 878.1

Prepayments and accrued income 119.9 - 45.5 165.4

23,165.9 15.5 1,422.7 24,604.1

Held for 
trading

Designated as 
at fair value

Financial 
liabilities Total

2024 £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Financial liabilities:

Deposits by banks - - 518.2 518.2

Customer accounts - - 708.5 708.5

Repurchase agreements with banks 3,769.7 - - 3,769.7

Repurchase agreements with customers 3,360.9 - 105.9 3,466.8

Debt securities in issue - 4.3 1,390.7 1,395.0

Short positions 3,716.2 - - 3,716.2

Derivative liabilities 9,596.3 6.1 - 9,602.4

Trade payables 19.8 - 644.5 664.3

Accruals and deferred income1 105.8 - 32.6 138.4

20,568.7 10.4 3,400.4 23,979.5

Explanatory note on classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
1.	 �Accruals and deferred income contains accrued interest relating to financial liabilities, including deposits by banks, customer accounts, 

repurchase agreements and debt securities in issue.

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Group

2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks - 4,831.7 299.3 5,131.0

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers - 2,920.9 23.1 2,944.0

Debt and other fixed income securities 2,197.3 3,265.3 1.1 5,463.7

Equity securities 0.9 0.1 3.3 4.3

	– Interest rate 0.9 9,025.8 - 9,026.6

	– Convertible bond option - - 123.8 123.8

	– Foreign currency - 224.7 - 224.7

	– Credit - 332.6 - 332.6

Derivative assets 0.9 9,583.0 123.8 9,707.7

Shares in group undertakings 13.2 - - 13.2

Financial assets 2,212.3 20,601.0 450.6 23,263.9

Repurchase agreements with banks - 3,407.1 256.7 3,663.8

Repurchase agreements with customers - 3,414.6 11.1 3,425.7

Short trading positions 2,939.1 986.4 0.2 3,925.7

	– Interest rate 1.3 8,891.1 - 8,892.4

	– Convertible bond option - - 123.4 123.4

	– Foreign currency - 235.4 0.1 235.5

	– Credit - 348.6 3.3 351.9

	– Equity 0.1 - - 0.1

Derivative liabilities 1.4 9,475.1 126.8 9,603.3

Debt securities in issue - - 4.3 4.3

Financial liabilities 2,940.5 17,283.2 399.1 20,622.8

The following tables show the analysis of the fair values for fair value instruments disclosed in Note 30A 
categorised in accordance with the hierarchy described above.

Group

2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks - 3,824.8 231.0 4,055.8

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers - 4,232.5 56.0 4,288.5

Debt and other fixed income securities 2,261.9 3,382.3 0.7 5,644.9

Equity securities 1.4 0.1 1.1 2.6

	– Interest rate 0.9 7,808.1 - 7,809.0

	– Convertible bond option - - 70.5 70.5

	– Foreign currency - 120.4 (0.1) 120.3

	– Credit - 520.3 - 520.3

Derivative assets 0.9 8,448.8 70.4 8,520.1

Shares in group undertakings 17.6 - - 17.6

Financial assets 2,281.8 19,888.5 359.2 22,529.5

Repurchase agreements with banks - 4,136.5 162.5 4,299.0

Repurchase agreements with customers - 4,078.0 - 4,078.0

Short trading positions 1,557.4 1,331.5 0.2 2,889.1

	– Interest rate 3.3 7,799.9 - 7,803.2

	– Convertible bond option - - 70.2 70.2

	– Foreign currency - 136.2 (0.1) 136.1

	– Credit - 535.9 3.0 538.9

	– Equity - - - -

Derivative liabilities 3.3 8,472.0 73.1 8,548.4

Debt securities in issue - - 4.2 4.2

Financial liabilities 1,560.7 18,018.0 240.0 19,818.7

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Company

2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks - 4,789.3 299.3 5,088.6

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers - 2,959.6 23.1 2,982.7

Debt and other fixed income securities 1,987.8 3,263.1 1.1 5,252.0

Equity securities 0.8 0.1 3.3 4.2

	– Interest rate 0.9 9,024.7 - 9,025.6

	– Convertible bond option - - 123.7 123.7

	– Foreign currency - 224.7 - 224.7

	– Credit - 332.6 - 332.6

Derivative assets 0.9 9,582.0 123.7 9,706.6

Shares in group undertakings 11.8 - - 11.8

Financial assets 2,001.3 20,594.1 450.5 23,045.9

Repurchase agreements with banks - 3,407.1 256.7 3,663.8

Repurchase agreements with customers - 3,455.7 11.1 3,466.8

Short trading positions 2,729.6 986.4 0.2 3,716.2

	– Interest rate 1.3 8,890.1 - 8,891.4

	– Convertible bond option - - 123.4 123.4

	– Foreign currency - 235.5 0.1 235.6

	– Credit - 348.6 3.3 351.9

	– Equity 0.1 - - 0.1

Derivative liabilities 1.4 9,474.2 126.8 9,602.4

Debt securities in issue - - 4.3 4.3

Financial liabilities 2,731.0 17,323.4 399.1 20,453.5

C – Methods and valuation techniques used to determine fair values 

Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be exchanged, a liability settled, or an equity instrument 
granted could be exchanged, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The Group carries positions in financial instruments at a point within the bid-ask range that meets the 
Group’s best estimate of fair value. Bid prices reflect the highest price that a party is willing to pay for 
an asset. Ask prices represent the lowest price that a party is willing to accept for an asset. For offsetting 
positions in the same financial instrument, the same price within the bid-ask spread is used to measure 
both the long and short positions. 

The Group determines the fair value of financial instruments either by using prices obtained directly from 
external data, estimated on the basis of the price established in recent transactions involving similar 
instruments or by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques incorporate generally accepted 
models commonly used by the financial community. They maximize the use of observable inputs and 
minimize the use of unobservable inputs. They are calibrated to reflect current market conditions. 

The fair value for many cash instruments and OTC derivative contracts are derived using pricing models. 
Pricing models take into account the contract terms as well as multiple input parameters, including, where 
applicable, equity prices, interest rate yield curves, credit curves, correlation, creditworthiness of the 
counterparty, creditworthiness of the Group, option volatility and currency rates.

Company

2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value Total

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Reverse repurchase agreements with banks - 3,824.8 231.0 4,055.8

Reverse repurchase agreements with customers - 4,232.5 56.0 4,288.5

Debt and other fixed income securities 2,226.4 3,380.3 0.7 5,607.4

Equity securities 1.4 0.1 1.0 2.5

	– Interest rate 0.9 7,808.1 - 7,809.0

	– Convertible bond option - - 70.5 70.5

	– Foreign currency - 120.4 (0.1) 120.3

	– Credit - 520.3 - 520.3

Derivative assets 0.9 8,448.8 70.4 8,520.1

Shares in group undertakings 15.9 - - 15.9

Financial assets 2,244.6 19,886.5 359.1 22,490.2

Repurchase agreements with banks - 4,136.5 162.5 4,299.0

Repurchase agreements with customers - 4,078.0 - 4,078.0

Short trading positions 1,557.4 1,331.5 0.2 2,889.1

	– Interest rate 3.3 7,799.9 - 7,803.2

	– Convertible bond option - - 70.1 70.1

	– Foreign currency - 136.2 (0.1) 136.1

	– Credit - 535.9 3.0 538.9

	– Equity - -

Derivative liabilities 3.3 8,472.0 73.0 8,548.3

Debt securities in issue - - 4.2 4.2

Financial liabilities 1,560.7 18,018.0 239.9 19,818.6
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Debt and other fixed income securities

Highly liquid securities are priced from readily available quoted prices. Less liquid securities are priced 
giving consideration to quoted prices & market derived rates for those securities.

Illiquid securities are valued by benchmarking model-derived prices to quoted market prices and trade  
data for identical or comparable securities. These securities are priced using relevant proxy market data 
as far as possible, and this data chiefly comprises market rates derived from more liquid securities of that 
issuer, rates implied from recent transactions in that or proxy securities and rates derived from credit 
derivative markets.

Equity shares

Common and preferred shares traded in active markets are valued using dealer price quotations or 
exchange prices recorded on the security exchange on which the security is principally traded.

Exchange traded funds are valued at the closing price recorded by the security exchange on which the 
security is principally traded.

Other financial investments included in equity shares principally comprise investments in a private equity 
partnership, which is valued based upon regular valuation reports provided by the fund manager.

Derivatives

The fair value of OTC derivatives is taken to be the sum of the estimated future cash flows arising from the 
instrument, discounted to present value at the date of measurement, using valuation techniques commonly 
used by the financial markets – “net present value” (NPV).

Credit derivatives

Credit derivatives that reference liquid reference assets, indices or issuers are valued using observable 
interest rates, credit spreads and recovery rates. To the extent that credit spreads are unobservable, these 
are determined with reference to recent transactions or proxy spreads from relevant debt securities.

Other derivatives

Vanilla interest rate, inflation and currency derivatives are priced using industry standard models that 
incorporate observable market interest, inflation and currency rates. 

Interest rate, currency and equity derivatives that incorporate option related or other more complex 
features are priced using industry standard and proprietary valuation techniques. These utilise input 
parameters which include FX rates, interest rates, and equity prices, together with relevant volatility and 
correlation rates, and other model parameters. Certain derivative transactions executed with other Mizuho 
group counterparties have been priced using valuations provided by those counterparties, and those 
valuations have been based on the techniques described above.

Overnight Indexed Swaps (“OIS”) discounting has been applied to the Group’s derivative transactions 
conducted under agreements which provide for collateralisation of credit exposures, taking account of 
factors such as margin thresholds and the currency of collateral provided.

Valuation adjustments are applied as appropriate, when some factors such as model, liquidity and credit 
risks are not captured by the models or their underlying inputs, but are nevertheless considered by market 
participants when setting the exit price. The exit costs are priced in terms of bid-mid and mid-ask spreads, 
which are marked to levels observed in trade activity, broker quotes or other external third-party data. 
Where these spreads are unobservable for a financial instrument or market data point, spreads are derived 
from observable levels of similar positions.

Fair value is a market-based measure considered from the perspective of a market participant rather than 
an entity-specific measure. Therefore, even when market parameters are not readily available, assumptions 
are set to reflect those that the Group believes market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability 
at the measurement date. Where the Group manages a group of financial assets and financial liabilities 
on the basis of its net exposure to either market or credit risks, the Group measures the fair value of those 
financial instruments consistently with how market participants would price the net risk exposure at the 
measurement date. 

The methods and valuation techniques used to determine fair values used for financial instruments  
shown at fair value on the Statement of Financial Position are described in more detail below by class of 
financial instrument.

Reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements and repurchase agreements are carried on the Statement of Financial 
Position at fair value, with changes in fair value taken through Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The fair value is determined in accordance with relevant market derived interest rates, which principally 
vary by reference asset type, currency, maturity and the degree of market demand for collateral which 
underlies individual contracts. Where appropriate, transactions with the same counterparty are reported on 
a net basis.

Certain Reverse repurchase agreements on underlying Collateralised Loan Obligation(“CLO”)  
warehouse notes are carried on the Statement of Financial Position at Amortised cost, since MHI is not 
market making or otherwise holding a Trading position for short term gains and essentially is financing  
the counterparty on the CLO warehouse with the intent to hold to maturity and earn daily accrual interest 
on the financing amount.

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 
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XVA

XVA fair value adjustments comprise Credit Valuations Adjustments (“CVA”), Debit Valuations Adjustments 
(“DVA”), Margin Valuations Adjustments (“MVA”) and Funding Valuations Adjustments (“FVA”), which in 
themselves include Funding Benefit Adjustments (“FBA”) and Funding Cost Adjustments (“FCA”).

The closing XVA balances for year ending 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 respectively, and the effect on 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the following derivative fair value adjustments is: 

Group and Company

2025 2024 Movement
£ millions £ millions £ millions Loss / (gain) *

CVA 0.1 0.1 - Loss

FVA (FCA/FBA) (0.4) (0.4) - Loss

Total XVA reserve (0.3) (0.3) - Loss

* Increased XVA balances represent a loss and decreased XVA balances represent a gain.

Credit valuation adjustment

The CVA is the mark to market cost of protection required to hedge credit risk from counterparties in the 
Group’s derivative portfolio, and depends on expected and potential future exposures, default probability 
and recovery rates. The assessment takes into account whether collateral, netting arrangements or break 
clauses are in place. 

The Group applies credit-related valuation adjustments to its derivative portfolios. The impact of changes 
in the counterparty’s credit data is considered when measuring fair value. In determining the expected 
exposure, the Group simulates the distribution of the future exposure to a counterparty, then applies 
market-based default probabilities to the future exposure, leveraging independent third-party credit default 
swap (“CDS”) spread data. Where CDS spread data is unavailable for a specific counterparty, CDS spread 
data that reference a comparable counterparty may be utilised. The Group also considers collateral held 
and legally enforceable master netting agreements that mitigate the Group’s exposures.

In respect of counterparties that are regarded as distressed, the adjustment is determined through a 
more judgemental consideration of the likelihood of recovery with regards to the circumstances of those 
individual counterparties. Key items taken into consideration include the size of the Group’s and third party 
claims upon the counterparty in comparison to the counterparty’s available assets.

Debit valuation adjustment

DVA are taken to reflect the credit quality of the Group in the valuation of liabilities measured at fair value. 
This is determined symmetrically to the CVA on the same products & calculation methodologies, based on 
the negative potential and expected exposures and the Group’s own creditworthiness. The Group’s credit 
spread is observed through the CDS market to estimate the probability of default and loss given default as 
a result of a systemic event affecting the Group. 

Funding valuation adjustment

The Group’s FVA framework incorporates the impact of funding to its valuation estimates for derivatives. 
The framework incorporates the Group’s best estimate of the funding cost or benefit that a relevant market 
participant would consider in the transfer of a derivative. The FVA methodology applies to both assets and 
liabilities. The key inputs within this process are the expected funding requirement arising from the Group’s 
positions with each counterparty, giving consideration to the collateral arrangements. A hypothetical 
funding cost for a transfer to a market participant with similar credit standing as the Group, as exercised in 
the principal market, has been applied.

Margin valuation adjustment

The Group’s MVA framework reports the impact on funding costs associated with the posting of Initial 
margin. Such margin must be funded as in the majority of cases, its re-hypothecation is not permissible. 
Those derivatives which require the posting of such margin will price in those related costs within the fair 
value representation.

The Group applies MVA only to bilateral derivatives, with centrally cleared derivative portfolios not 
incurring Margin valuation adjustments.

The methodology adopted incorporates the ISDA proposed model (SIMM) and the Group’s own 
assessment of the market risk sensitivities prevalent in the derivatives portfolio. The funding level  
applied within the calculation is identical to that consumed within the FVA model.

Debt securities in issue

Debt securities – adjusted for fair value hedge accounting

The carrying amount of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are adjusted by the amount of  
the changes in the fair value associated with those hedged risks.

Debt securities – designated at fair value through profit and loss

Debt securities in issue designated at fair value through profit and loss are priced using an industry 
standard discounted cash flow analysis model that incorporates the valuation of the relevant market rates 
which drive the calculation of coupon and principal payments, together with an assessment of the Group’s 
own credit spread.

Notes to the Financial Statements Notes to the Financial Statements 
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31.  Share Based Payment
The Group has adopted a deferral plan as part of its remuneration policy, that creates a mechanism to 
reward staff in line with the longer term performance of their respective divisions and the Group as a 
whole. The plan also aims to encourage the ongoing retention and motivation of employees over the 
longer term.

The deferral plan applies to MRTs and other staff whose variable remuneration exceeds defined thresholds. 
Half of the variable remuneration awarded to MRTs is required to be in the form of shares in the Mizuho 
Financial Group (or the cash equivalent value of such shares at distribution). Either 40% or 60% of the 
total variable remuneration of MRTs must be awarded in deferred form, which vests over four and / or 
five and / or seven years from the date of the non-deferred awards, and is subject to forfeiture conditions. 
Share based remuneration may also be awarded to non MRTs in the context of hiring, by way of buyout 
of existing bonus arrangements (including any deferral and / or retention years). Such share based 
remuneration will be subject to appropriate performance adjustment requirements.

Subject to good leaver provisions, deferred bonuses / awards may be forfeited in the following 
circumstances: voluntary resignation; or termination of employment for misconduct or gross misconduct; 
or an employee’s failure to comply with the Group’s professional standards and / or the PRA’s Principles of 
Approved Persons; or restatement or recalculation of individual, departmental, and / or corporate financial 
performance; or in the case of MRTs only, assessment or reassessment of individual, departmental, and / 
or corporate financial performance; or a material error; or a material failure of risk management.

The cost of share based awards has been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in a time 
apportioned manner over the relevant vesting years. The liability on the Statement of Financial Position 
comprises this accrued cost, less any vested awards that have been paid out. Details of awards made, 
share based payment liabilities and expenses recognition are provided below:

2025 2024

£ millions £ millions

Carrying value of share-based payment liability 12.9 9.8

Expense arising from share-based payment transactions 7.3 6.8

32.	 Country by Country Tax Payments

Group Income

Profit 
/ (loss) 

before tax Capital
Retained 
earnings

Tangible 
assets

Tax paid / 
(received)

Average 
number of 
employees

Country (Business) £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

UK (Banking) 346.7 12.6 754.9 34.5 24.7 7.5 1,217

Germany (Banking) 14.8 - 31.4 2.7 0.3 (0.7) 34

United Arab Emirates (Primary debt) 1.3 (7.7) - (29.6) - - 29

Spain (Banking) 5.8 0.5 - 1.2 - 0.2 8

France (Banking) 4.8 0.4 - 1.3 0.1 0.1 6

Consolidated adjustments - -  (31.4) - - - -

Total 373.4 5.8 754.9 10.1 25.1 7.1 1,294

The Group is committed to responsible management of its tax affairs. Tax is managed in accordance with 
Local laws and the Group is transparent in its interaction with tax authorities. In the UK, the Group has 
reaffirmed adoption of the HMRC’s Code of Practice on Taxation.

33.	 Contingent Liabilities
During the normal course of business, the Group may become subject to legal proceedings and other 
regulatory matters. The Group recognises a provision for a liability in relation to these matters when  
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle an obligation resulting  
from past events, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the 
circumstances do not require a provision to be recognised but the probability of an outflow of economic 
benefits is not considered remote, this may give rise to a contingent liability which requires disclosure.

On 31 October 2022, three former employees of the Company were held by the FCA to have contravened 
Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market 
abuse. The former employees then referred the matter to the Upper Tribunal (Tax and Chancery Chamber) 
resulting in a hearing being held in February 2025. A decision of the Upper Tribunal is yet to be published.

No claims have been brought against the Company in connection with this matter. The Company  
considers it less than probable that, following the Upper Tribunal’s decision, its insurer will seek, and 
successfully obtain, reimbursement from the Company for any portion of the legal costs incurred by  
the former employees, which were initially paid by the Company and subsequently recovered under  
its insurance arrangements.
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34.	 Post Balance Sheet Events
Disposal of MHEU

On 1 April 2025, the Company sold its investment in its subsidiary, MHEU, to MBE. Following the sale, 
MHEU legally merged with MBE to form an integrated Universal Bank headquartered in the Netherlands  
to support Mizuho’s strategic ambitions in the region. The sale of MHEU is expected to result in a  
£4.2 million gain for the Company. This will be reflected in the FY25/26 accounts for the Company  
and Group respectively.

35.	 Parent Undertakings
Mizuho International plc is directly owned by Mizuho Securities Co., Ltd a company which is  
incorporated in Japan. The Group’s ultimate parent undertaking is Mizuho Financial Group, Inc.,  
which is incorporated in Japan. 

Copies of the group financial statements for Mizuho Financial Group, Inc. can be obtained from:

Public Relations Office 
Mizuho Financial Group, Inc. 
Otemachi Tower  
1-5-5 Otemachi, Chiyoda–ku, Tokyo 
100–8176, JAPAN

https://www.mizuhogroup.com/investors/financial-information/financial-statements
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